
 
 

West Oxfordshire District Council, Council Offices, Woodgreen, Witney, OX28 1NB 
www.westoxon.gov.uk Tel: 01993 861000 

 
 

 

Friday, 5 August 2022 

 

Tel: 01993 861522 

e-mail - democratic.services@westoxon.gov.uk 

 

LOWLANDS AREA PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

You are summoned to a meeting of the Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee which will be held 

in the Council Chamber, Woodgreen, Witney OX28 1NB on Monday, 15 August 2022 at 2.00 pm. 

 

 
Giles Hughes 

Chief Executive 

 

 

To: Members of the Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee 

 

Councillors: Richard Langridge (Chair), Michael Brooker (Vice-Chair), 

Joy Aitman, Colin Dingwall, Harry Eaglestone, Ted Fenton, Andy Goodwin, Nick Leverton, Charlie 

Maynard, Lysette Nicholls, Elizabeth Poskitt, Andrew Prosser and Alaric Smith. 

 

Recording of Proceedings – The law allows the public proceedings of Council, Cabinet, and 

Committee Meetings to be recorded, which includes filming as well as audio-recording.  

Photography is also permitted. By participating in this meeting, you are consenting to be filmed. 

 

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record any part of the proceedings please let the 

Democratic Services officers know prior to the start of the meeting. 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

http://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


 

 

 

 

AGENDA 
 

1.   Minutes of Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 10) 

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 18 July 2022. 

 

2.   Apologies for Absence  

To receive any apologies for absence.  

 

3.   Declarations of Interest  

To receive any declarations from Members of the Committee on any items to be 

considered at the meeting. 

 

4.   Applications for Development (Pages 11 - 96) 

Purpose: 

To consider applications for development, details of which are set out in the attached 

schedule. 

Recommendation: 
That the applications be determined in accordance with the recommendations of the 

Business Manager – Development Management. 

 
Page No.  Application No. Address Planning 

Officer 

 

13-39 

21/02473/FUL Land South Of Ramsden 

Akeman Street, Ramsden 

Joan 

Desmond 

 

 

40-63 

22/00744/OUT Land South Of Main Road, 

Curbridge.  

 

David 

Ditchett 

 

 

64-78 

22/00793/S73 

 

Land To The Rear Of 65 

High Street, Standlake 

 

David 

Ditchett 

 

79-91 

 

22/01069/FUL 29 Mercury Close, Bampton 

 

Esther Hill 

 

 

92-95 

22/01644/HHD 2 Windmill Heights, North 

Leigh 

 

Emile 

Baldauf-Clark 

 
 

5.   Applications Determined under Delegated Powers and Appeal Decisions (Pages 97 - 

112) 

Purpose: 

To inform the Sub-Committee of applications determined under delegated powers. 

Recommendation: 

That the report be noted. 

6.   Appeals List (Pages 113 - 114) 

Purpose: 

To inform the Sub-Committee of applications of determined appeal decisions. 

Recommendation: 

That the report be noted. 

Page 2



 

 

 

 

(END) 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Minutes of the meeting of the 

Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee 

Held in the Council Chamber at 2.00 pm on Monday, 18 July 2022 

PRESENT 

Councillors: Richard Langridge (Chair),  Joy Aitman, Colin Dingwall, Ted Fenton,  Andy 

Goodwin, Nick Leverton, Dan Levy, Lysette Nicholls, Elizabeth Poskitt, Andrew Prosser and  

Alaric Smith. 

Officers:  David Ditchett (Senior Planner), Abby Fettes (Development Manager) and Sarah 

Hegerty (Planner) and Anne Learmonth (Strategic Support Officer). 

72 Election of Chair for the 2022/23 Council Year  

The Committee confirmed the appointment of Councillor Richard Langridge as Chair for the 

Civic Year 2022/2023 

73 Election of Vice-Chair for the 2022/23 Council Year  

The Committee confirmed the appointment of Councillor Michael Brooker as Vice-Chair for 

the Civic Year 2022/23. 

74 Minutes of Previous Meeting  

The minutes of the meeting held on Monday 20th June were approved and signed by the 

Chairman as a correct record, subject to amendments agreed by the committee from 

1. 21/01924/S73 Right Side Unit B The Old Foundry.  Page 7, Paragraph 8 amend 

’11.30 am’ to ‘8.30 am’. 

 

2. Page 5. Councillor ‘Nicolls’ be amended to ‘Nicholls’,   

 

3. Minute 71, Item 28. Amend to read change of use ‘for horses’.  
 

4. The Chair read out the email from Councillor St John and put it to the Committee 

that the amendments be included in the minutes. The Committee resolved not to 

amend the minute.  

75 Apologies for Absence  

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors: Brooker and Eaglestone.  Councillor 

Levy substituted for Councillor Maynard.  

76 Declarations of Interest  

Declarations of Interest were received as follows: 

1. Councillor Leverton knew the applicant for 21/03834/FUL – 10 Burford Road, and 

would leave the room whilst the application was heard.  

77 Applications for Development  

The Chair explained where there were public speakers in attendance, those applications 

would be heard first.  

 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee 

18/July2022 

22/00946/FUL Land (E)428959 (N)207797 Monahan Way Carterton. 

The Head of Development Management, Abby Fettes introduced the application for 

construction of coffee shop / bakery with ancillary drive through (use class Ea/b) and 

associated works. 

Aiden Murray spoke in support of the application, a copy of the submission is attached to the 

original copy of these minutes.  

The Chair invited questions from the Councillors. Councillor Fenton asked if the colours of 

the totem and opening hours had been agreed. Mr Murray confirmed both had been agreed. 

Councillor Prosser queried cyclists and pedestrians to access the site. Mr Murray explained 

traffic has been directed away from cyclists and pedestrians. The outdoor area for eating  was 

adjacent to the footpath for connectivity. 

Councillor Leverton asked about the electric points and whether they would be a profit 

centre for the developer. Mr Murray explained that he was in discussion with Fast Charge 

Services.  

The Development Manager continued with the presentation confirming that the bakery and 

coffee shop fell within Class E in accordance with the outlined permission. She highlighted the 

access for pedestrians and cyclists. The Parish Council’s concerns about the colours on totem 

and materials had been addressed.  The main issue raised by local objectors had been highways 

but as no objection had been raised by Oxfordshire County Council.  

Drainage details and an ecological corridor has been secured in the outline application. 

Thames water requested an informative be attached to the permission. Beyond the retail site 

there would be a play area and car park.  Officers proposed a recommendation for approval.  

Councillor Fenton asked about the opening hours.  The Development Manager confirmed 

under condition 10, included in recommendation, the applicant requested standard opening 

hours Monday to Saturdays 6am – 10pm, Sundays and Bank Holidays 8am – 10pm. Councillor 
Fenton asked if these met with the Parish Council’s request. Councillor Nicholls  asked  how 

they compared with other opening hours on the estate. The Development Manager agreed to 

clarify hours and check hours of other retailers. 

Councillor Leverton asked about the direction of travel for cars entering the site and was told 

that the longest possible route was to be used to prevent traffic issues.  

The Development Manager confirmed there were cycle routes through the site but not 

dedicated cycle lanes on the highway. The drive through is ancillary to the main use of the 

unit.  Councillor Levy asked if walking and cycling had been positively encouraged in the spirit 

of the Local Plan as part of the application. The Development Manager explained that people 

use cars to get to amenities such as shops and schools but there is provision for people from 

the local area to walk or cycle.  

Councillor Prosser asked for a condition regarding for better access for cyclists to the site. 

The Development Manager confirmed that the road layout had been approved. The Chair 

agreed that there were no technical objections regarding the highways. The Chair asked the 

Development Manager if there could be an informative for safe cycle access.  

Councillor Dingwall supported the application as providing mixed use of cars, electric vehicles, 

pedestrians and cyclists. Councillor Dingwall proposed approval as per the recommendation in 

the report. Councillor Fenton seconded the proposal.  

Page 6



Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee 

18/July2022 

The application was put to the vote in line with the Officer’s recommendations for approval 

and was carried . (Councillors Dan Levy, Andrew Prosser, Alaric Smith and Andy Goodwin 

abstained from the vote).  

Resolved as per the Officer’s recommendation with the informative for safe cycle access to 

site. 

 

22/00947/FUL Brooklyn Nurseries 65 Shilton Road Carterton. 

Sarah Hegerty, Planning Officer introduced the application for demolition of existing and 

associated outbuildings and construction of 4 detached dwellings with associated parking, 

private gardens and amenity space. Alterations to existing vehicular accesses.  

Neil Parry spoke in support of the application, a copy of the submission is attached to the 

original copy of these minutes.  

The Chair invited questions from the Councillors. Councillor Goodwin asked the speaker to 

elaborate on the sustainability aspect of the application. Mr Parry confirmed that the 

properties would have air-sourced heat pumps, solar PV and EV chargers, super insulation for 

all properties.  

Councillor Poskitt asked for clarification on flat roofs.  Mr Parry explained that there was an 

element of flat roofs in the design but it was small and not easily seen. Councillor Poskitt 

asked about the height of the houses in comparison to the road. Mr Parry explained how the 

site dropped back from the road.  

The Planning Officer continued with the presentation showing both the previous application 

and the present application so the Committee could see the amendments. The Planning 

Officer showed the surrounding properties in relation to the application. She explained that 

the proposed dwellings are significantly larger and would not compliment the established 

character of the locality. Therefore the recommendation was for refusal as per the report.  

The Chair confirmed that the original reason loss of a historic building no longer applies due 

to a separate application which allowed the applicant to demolish the building. 

Councillor Poskitt asked what improvements would come out if the application was re-

submitted. The Planning Officer confirmed regarding the number of dwellings was, in principle, 

acceptable but the dwellings needed to be smaller in scale and reduced in size in keeping with 

the single storey buildings in the surrounding area.  

Councillor Goodwin asked for clarity on the sustainable element of the application. The 

Planning Officer explained that it does not form part of the condition as it drafted. The Chair 

asked if conditions could be included. David Ditchett, Senior Planning Officer, explained that if 

the Committee were in favour of approving the application based on the sustainability 

credentials of the proposed development then a certain standard could be secured. 

There was further discussion on making minor changes to the appearance and size of the 

dwellings. Mr Parry confirmed that he would have to go back for discussion with the applicant.  

Councillor Prosser acknowledged that the application could be improved and proposed to 

accept the Officer’s recommendations of refusal. Councillor Aitman seconded the proposal.  

The application was put to the vote in line with the Officer’s recommendations for refusal and 

was carried. 

Resolved as per the Officer’s recommendation within the report.  

 

Page 7



Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee 

18/July2022 

21/03834/FUL 10 Burford Road Carterton. 

Councillor Leverton left the Chambers.  

David Ditchett, Senior Planning Officer introduced the application for demolition of existing 

bungalow and erection of six 2 bedroom flats together with associated parking and access 

(amended plans).  

A statement was read out by Democratic Services on behalf of Richard Turner who was in 

opposition of the application. A copy of this submission is attached to the original copy of the 

minutes. The Planning Officer confirmed Richard Turner resided on Church View Road and is 

in correspondence with the resident at number 12 Burford Road. 

The Planning Officer continued with the presentation stating there were no updates since the 

last application.  No biodiversity survey had be submitted despite the area being over grown, 

the site having been vacant for 3 years. The Planning Officer explained the design was 

acceptable in keeping with properties in the area and that there were no objections regarding 

highways. There was the consideration of harm to the occupier of no.12 regarding loss of light, 

overshadowing and perception of overlooking from windows on northern elevation with a 

condition for glazing to be obscured. Also there was moderate harm regarding noise, vibration 

and disturbance from the car park. The Planning Officer’s recommendation was for approval 

as per the report.  

The Chair invited questions from Members.  

Councillor Prosser asked for clarification on landscaping. The Planning Officer confirmed that 

hedges and trees would be removed. Councillor Goodwin asked for clarification on 

boundaries. Abby Fettes, Development Manager explained how the Planning department 

provided maps and clarified where the boundaries were.  Councillor Nicholls asked about the 

size of the units. The Planning Officer did not have the details of square footage however 

confirmed that the units met the requirements for minimum space standards. Councillor 
Poskitt thought that the design was cramped and asked how the driveway would work. The 

Planning Officer confirmed there would be a one way system. The Chair reminded the 

Members that there were no Highways objections. Councillor Poskitt felt that it was cramped, 

contrived and un-neighbourly and proposed refusal. Councillor Goodwin seconded the 

proposal.  Councillor Goodwin stated that the buildings at the back of the site made the units 

smaller and resulted in overdevelopment of the site. Councillor Fenton agreed and highlighted 

the impact on the occupants of 12. Burford Road.  

The Planning Officer asked the Members for clarification on reasons for refusal.  

The application was put to the vote for refusal and was carried. 

Resolved refusal as per Members concerns over size of site, inconvenience of driveway use   

and impact on neighbours.  

 

22/00764/FUL 26 Milestone Road Carterton  

Councillor Leverton returned to Chamber. 

David Ditchett, Senior Planning Officer introduced the application for demolition of existing 

bungalow and erection of two semi-detached dwellings with formation of a new access and 

associated works.  

 

Page 8



Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee 

18/July2022 

A statement was read out by Democratic Services on behalf of James Purdue who was in 

support of the application. A copy of this submission is attached to the original copy of the 

minutes.  

Councillor Leverton confirmed that the bungalow has now been demolished.  

The Planning Officer continued with the presentation and explained the existing bungalow had 

already been demolished without expressed planning permission or demolition notice but that 

there were no objections or conditions regarding safe demolition from Environmental 

Regulatory Services, (ERS). Planning Officers were asking that the application to be delegated 

back to them to deal with drainage and material matters. The application was before the 

Committee due to objections from Carterton Town Council regarding parking and 

overlooking. There were no objections from Highways. The proposed dwellings would result 

in some loss of light to solar panels on a neighbouring property which would be a material 

consideration. The applicant had engaged in the pre-application process with the Planning 

department but had not strictly followed the guidance on materials due to costs.  

The Chair invited questions from the Members.  

Councillor Alaric Smith asked about the neighbouring house and overshadowing.  The Planning 

Officer explained that the Planning team did not have the technology to measure this, but 

estimated that there would be 2 to 2 ½ hours when sunlight was restricted.  Councillor 

Poskitt asked about materials and the use of brick colour. The Planning Officer confirmed that 

the brick and render would be yellow and there would be a materials pre-commencement 

condition.  

Councillor Dingwall proposed approval as per the recommendation in the report. Councillor 

Nicholls seconded the proposal.  

The application was put to the vote for approval and was carried. 

Resolved as per the Officer’s recommendation within the report. 

78 Applications Determined under Delegated Powers and Appeal Decisions  

The report giving details of applications determined under delegated powers was received, 

questions were asked about the following items: 

Councillor Poskitt asked if some of the applications were on the wrong Planning agenda. David 

Ditchett, Senior Planning Officer apologised and confirmed that there were new members of 

the Validation team and work was in hand to make sure there were no misrepresentations on 

both upcoming Lowlands and Uplands Planning Committees.   

Item 13. Councillor Fenton asked about the installation of a sub-surface electric vehicle charge 

point on the public footway and the amount of paint used. David Ditchett confirmed that the 

paint would fade in time. Paint was there to identify where services were.   

David Ditchett confirmed there was one appeal which was dismissed.  

Abby Fettes gave an update on the Enforcement Officer and the recruitment of Kelly Murray 

and confirmed that there was a planned restructure of the team in coming months.  

 

 

Page 9



Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee 

18/July2022 

 

The Meeting closed at 15.46 

 

CHAIR 

Page 10



 

WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  

LOWLANDS AREA PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE 

 

Date: 15th August 2022 

 

 
REPORT OF THE BUSINESS MANAGER-DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Purpose: 

To consider applications for development details of which are set out in the following pages. 

 

Recommendations: 

To determine the applications in accordance with the recommendations of the Strategic Director. 

The recommendations contained in the following pages are all subject to amendments in the light of 

observations received between the preparation of the reports etc and the date of the meeting. 

 

List of Background Papers 
 
 

All documents, including forms, plans, consultations and representations on each application, but 

excluding any document, which in the opinion of the ‘proper officer’ discloses exempt information as 

defined in Section 1001 of the Local Government Act 1972.        

                                                 

Please note that: 

1. Observations received after the reports in this schedule were prepared will be summarised in a 

document which will be published late on the last working day before the meeting and available 

at the meeting or from www.westoxon.gov.uk/meetings  

 

 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4

http://www.westoxon.gov.uk/meetings


Page No. Application Number Address Officer 

13 - 39 

 

21/02473/FUL Land South Of Ramsden 

Akeman Street, Ramsden 

 

Joan Desmond 

 

40 - 63 

 

22/00744/OUT Land South Of Main Road, 

Curbridge 

 

David Ditchett 

 

64 - 78 

 

22/00793/S73 Land To The Rear Of 65 High 

Street, Standlake 

 

David Ditchett 

 

79 - 91 

 

22/01069/FUL 29 Mercury Close, Bampton 

 

Esther Hill 

 

92 - 95 22/01644/HHD 2 Windmill Heights, North 

Leigh 

 

Emile Baldauf-

Clark 

 

  

Page 12



Application Number 21/02473/FUL 

Site Address Land South Of Ramsden 

Akeman Street 

Ramsden 

Oxfordshire 

 

 

Date 3rd August 2022 

Officer Joan Desmond 

Officer Recommendations Refuse 

Parish Ramsden Parish Council 

Grid Reference 435274 E       214587 N 

Committee Date 15th August 2022 

 

Location Map 

 

 
 

 
© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 100024316  

 

 

Application Details: 

Installation of a ground mounted solar PV and energy storage system together with associated 

infrastructure; security fencing, CCTV, access track, cable route and landscaping. 

 

 

Page 13



Applicant Details: 

BSR Energy Limited 

35 and 35A The Maltings 

Lower Charlton Trading Estate 

Shepton Mallet 

BA4 5QE 

 

1 CONSULTATIONS 

 

Parish Council Councillors voted to object to the application on the basis of the 

following: 

Location - the location is inappropriate being close to a small village 

in a Conservation Area, close to the Cotswolds AONB boundary 

and St John's ancient woodland, and is bordered by the ancient 

Roman Road. This appears to be contrary to protection for 

maintaining distinctive rural characteristics described in the WODC 

Plan for 2031. This site lies within the Wychwood Project area 

where special attention and protection should be given to the 

landscape and biodiversity. 

Archaeology - Concerns over impact of the development on nearby 

heritage assets including areas of potential archaeological interest 

being close to Akeman Street roman road. These are not 

adequately considered in the application. 

Surface Water Management - the design of the water run-off plan is 

flawed and does not take account of the site contours and flow 

directions. 

Landscape and Visual Impact - the design includes tree planting to 

hide the facility but this also hides the fine view of the North 

Wessex Downs. This fails to minimise impacts but simply changes 

the impact. Other mitigating solutions in the plan do not take 

account of locality, for example the saplings will not be protected 

from deer adequately. 

Access - The site entrance is onto the B4022, which is a fast and 

dangerous route, with a history of serious accidents (the last one 

was 200m away from the proposed site entrance in September 

2020, resulting in life changing injuries to three individuals) 

In conclusion, Parish Council objects to this development as it will 

have a significant harmful impact on this sensitive landscape, 

archaeology, drainage and would be counter to the protection 

enshrined in the local plan. 

 

 

District Ecologist My initial comments (dated 11th August 2021) requested that 

further information regarding biodiversity net gain details were 

submitted before more detailed comments are provided for other 

aspects of biodiversity. 

I understand that additional information (within the 'Review of 

submitted ecological information' report) has now been submitted 

by Bioscan (dated September 2021). Although this report is valuable 

when further reviewing all aspects of biodiversity, it does not 

Page 14



provide the requested information needed to undertake a review of 

the net gain calculations (as initially requested). 

Please may the applicant refer to and address my previous 

comments provided on the 11th August 2021 relating to 

biodiversity net gain. As the most recent report submitted by 

Bioscan includes an updated habitat and species assessment of the 

site (due to inaccuracies in the existing baseline data), the net gain 

details will need to reflect these amendments too. 

Therefore as previously stated, before I can proceed to review the 

application, additional information is required relating to the 

biodiversity net gain calculations and this is detailed within my 

comments dated 11th August 2021. Once this outstanding 

information has been submitted, I will be able to provide an 

adequate response for the planning application to address all aspects 

of biodiversity. 

 

 

OCC Archaeological Services A programme of archaeological evaluation will be required ahead of 

the determination of any planning application for the site. This 

evaluation will need to consist of a geophysical survey and a 

trenched evaluation. This investigation must be undertaken in line 

with the Chartered Institute for Archaeologists standards and 

guidance for archaeological evaluation including the submission and 

agreement of a suitable written scheme of investigation. 

 

 

Major Planning Applications 

Team 

 Transport - Recommendation: 

Objection for the following reasons: 

 To meet the required visibility splay on Akeman Street, a 

hedge outside the red line plan must be relocated. The 

applicant must demonstrate that the hedge is situated in 

land controlled by the applicant. If the hedge is outside of 

land controlled by the applicant, the proposed visibility 

splays cannot be guaranteed. 

 Sufficient detail of the proposed site access has not been 

provided for a proper assessment to take place. Vehicle 

tracking for max legal articulated vehicles entering and 

exiting the site in a forward gear should be provided. 

 The CTMP must state that deliveries will not take place 

during the peak network hours of 08:00-09:00 and 17:00-

18:00 

 

Landscape - Recommendation: 

 to consult the Cotswolds National Landscape conservation 

board on the proposal 

 to seek further strengthening of existing and new boundary 

vegetation in line with existing landscape guidelines 

 to secure appropriate long-term management of existing 

and new vegetation and habitats as part of any potential 

planning consent 

Page 15



 to add conditions for a Detailed Landscape scheme, a 

Landscape Management Plan, and Lighting to any potential 

planning consent 

 

LLFA - No comments 

 

 

District Ecologist Before I can proceed to review the application, additional 

information is required relating to the biodiversity net gain 

calculations. 

 

 

WODC Landscape And 

Forestry Officer 

 As set out in pre-application correspondence, the scale of the 

proposed solar farm would have a detrimental impact on this 

sensitive, historic, rural landscape. 

Whilst the amendments made to the layout since the original 

proposal are beneficial they do not satisfactorily address the 

fundamental problem of scale in this location. 

The scheme proposes the introduction of a wide range of industrial 

characteristics into a highly valued landscape from landscape 

character and ecological perspectives and due to the depth of its 

cultural, heritage and recreational qualities. 

Policy EH6, and its associated text, recognise the importance of 

minimising any adverse impacts of such schemes and emphasise 

that special attention needs to be given to proposals sited within the 

Wychwood Project policy area and the Wychwood and Lower 

Evenlode Conservation Target Area. 

If the principle of a solar farm is to be supported in this area,  

inconsistent technical information within the application 

documentation would need to be addressed and mitigation and on-

going management details clarified. In order to meet the wide 

ranging, and often conflicting, mitigation objectives, and to ensure 

compliance with planning policy, there would need to be a 

significant reduction in the extent of panels across the site, together 

with meaningful environmental enhancements proportionate to the 

scale of negative effects brought to the local landscape. In 

accordance with EH6, environmental enhancements need to be in 

addition to those required to directly mitigate and compensate any 

adverse impacts of a proposal, especially at sites within 

Conservation Target Areas. 

 

 

ERS Env. Consultation Sites Mr ERS Pollution Consultation Thank you for consulting our team, I 

have looked at the application in relation to contaminated land and 

potential risk to human health.  

 

Please consider adding the following condition to any grant of 

permission.  

 

Page 16



1. In the event that contamination is found at any time when 

carrying out the approved development, it must be 

reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning 

Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be 

undertaken in accordance with the requirements of 

Environment Agency's Model Procedures for the 

Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11, and where 

remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be 

prepared, to bring the site to a condition suitable for the 

intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human 

health, buildings and other property, and which is subject to 

the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 

 

Reason: To prevent pollution of the environment in the interests of 

the amenity. 

Relevant Policies: West Oxfordshire Local Planning Policy EH8 and 

Section 15 of the NPPF. 

 

Regards 

 

Jackie McLaren  

Technical Officer - Contamination 

 

 

Conservation Officer From our point of view there are two particular areas of concern, 

viz: 

 

1. Impact on the setting of Akeman Street: This was an 

important Roman road, as acknowledged in their Historic 

Environment Desk-Based Assessment. It was a major east-

west route, linking Watling Street to the Fosse Way, and is 

a fascinating survival of part of an impressive network. We 

note that the section of Akeman Street to the north side of 

the site currently runs through peaceful rolling agricultural 

land, which would be transformed by this development. It is 

puzzling that their Historic Environment Desk-Based 

Assessment regards the change as 'superficial' which, in 

terms of the visual impact, it certainly would not be - 

because green fields would give way to a sizeable expanse of 

PVs and related technical equipment - all uncharacteristic 

and distracting. 

2. Impact on the setting of the Ramsden Conservation Area: 

Because the site is screened from views within the CA by 

vegetation, their Historic Environment Desk-Based 

Assessment considers that the setting of the CA would not 

be affected. I would argue that the setting includes the land 

around the CA, in particular the approaches, and I would 

argue that views from the setting are important. And in this 

case the approach along Akeman Street would be impacted, 

as discussed above, with perhaps the greatest impact being 

Page 17



where the northern tip of the PV arrays comes close to 

Akeman Street - here only around 250 metres from the 

western edge of the CA. 

 

So, in summary, it seems clear that the historic environment would 

be significantly impacted - and the benefits would need to be 

carefully weighed against this. 

 

 

Adjacent Parish Council Hailey PC has no objection to the this planning application however 

it would like to request the following conditions: 

 The poor archaeological and flooding assessments need to 

be carried out properly and appropriate mitigating actions 

undertaken. 

 The eight large batteries (shipping container size) do not 

need to be on the site of the solar park. The removal of 

these would 

 significantly reduce HGV traffic to and from the park which 

is causing many objections. Removal of these would also 

mean that much of 

 the removal of trees/hedges etc would not be necessary as 

such a large entrance would not be needed. 

 The proximity of the site to the setting of the Cotswold 

AONB is of concern (the AONB is only 40m from the site). 

It also falls within the 

 Wychwood Forest and borders Akeman Street and the 

Wychwood Way 

 The muddled approach to the access from B4022, as it is 

mapped differently in different documents, needs to be 

rectified. 

 

 

Adjacent Parish Council  No Comment Received. 

 

 

Wychwood Project  No Comment Received. 

 

 

Major Planning Applications 

Team 

OCC - Transport - Objection for the following reasons: 

The applicant needs to demonstrate that the own the required land 

to fulfil and maintain the required visibility splays. The application 

has been amended to resolve issues noted in the previous rendition. 

The CTMP has been altered to exclude deliveries from peak 

network hours. Vehicle tracking and access dimensions have been 

provided which are  satisfactory. 

The applicant stated that they own the land containing the hedge to 

be relocated. 

Whilst this may be true, a red line plan showing this would prove it. 

 

 

Page 18



LLFA - Objection - Key issues: 

 The FRA and drainage strategy is not in line with the Local 

Standards and Guidance for Surface Water Drainage on 

Major Development in Oxfordshire 

 Greenfield runoff rates have not been calculated or used 

appropriately to show how all water will be managed on site 

and not increase flows post development. Incorrect soil 

type used. 

 No calculations for all rainfall events and durations provided 

to support the estimated storage requirements. 

 There are known flood risk issues in the area. WODC have 

made flood improvements to minimise water discharging 

down Akeman Street and into Ramsden. 

 

 

OCC Archaeological Services It has been brought to our attention that the applicant has 

submitted the results of an archaeological geophysical survey 

undertaken as part of the archaeological evaluation we had 

requested. 

We were asked to agree a written scheme of investigation for this 

survey by Armour Heritage. The standards and guidance for 

archaeological geophysical surveys holds us responsible for 

monitoring the quality of such work and as a result we required 

that the WSI clearly state that a draft copy of the report would be 

provided to us for our comments before a final version was 

produced or made public. 

The agreed written scheme of investigation therefore contained this 

provision and stated that 'The report will be submitted to the client 

in their preferred format as either paper copies, digital pdf copies 

or both of the above. Upon approval a draft copy will be forward to 

the OCAS for comment and approval. Following approval from all 

parties, copies of the report will be submitted to the LPA' 

Despite this this report was submitted as part of this planning 

application before we were asked to comment on it and as such this 

has not been accepted as set out in the agreed WSI. Had we had 

the opportunity to comment on a draft copy of this as set out in the 

agreed WSI then we would have requested a number of changes 

such as more information as to why certain areas were removed 

from the survey and changes to the way the survey is presented. It 

would have been preferable for the report to contain plans showing 

the survey results and interpretation over the full area as well as 

the more detailed plans of certain areas to aid other consultees 

responses to this proposal. 

Whilst this report has identified some areas of archaeological 

interest within the site such techniques cannot be relied up to 

identify all archaeological deposits on a site as there are many 

factors that can affect the reliability of the results. As such it is a 

standard requirement to test the results of such survey with 

archaeological trenching. 

Page 19



In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 

2021) paragraph 194, we would therefore recommend that, prior 

to the determination of this application the applicant should 

therefore be responsible for the implementation of an 

archaeological field evaluation. 

This must be carried out by a professionally qualified archaeological 

organisation and should aim to define the character and extent of 

the archaeological remains within the application area, and thus 

indicate the weight which should be attached to their preservation. 

This evaluation must be undertaken in line with the Chartered 

Institute for Archaeologists standards and guidance for 

archaeological evaluation including the submission and agreement of 

a suitable written scheme of investigation. 

Once a written scheme of investigation has been agreed it is 

essential that any fieldwork and subsequent report are undertaken 

in line with this agreed written scheme of investigation. 

This information can be used for identifying potential options for 

minimising or avoiding damage to the archaeology and on this basis, 

an informed and reasonable decision can be taken. 

 

 

Major Planning Applications 

Team 

 No Comment Received. 

 

 

District Ecologist I have the following comments where additional information is 

required before a positive determination of the application. 

 

Updated survey information  

 

The Phase 1 Habitat Survey of the site was carried out in December 

2019 and therefore not only is this information now nearly 2 years 

old, the survey was not carried out at the optimal time of year and 

this may have affected the conclusions of the assessment. It is 

unclear why an updated assessment was not carried out during the 

further visit to the site in April, May and June 2020 (when the ponds 

and the status of breeding birds were assessed). I therefore advise 

that an updated assessment of the site is carried out within the 

optimal survey season in order to further understand the condition 

of the habitats on site.  

 

A full data search from the local records centre (TVERC) should 

also be submitted along with the ecological assessment as this has 

not yet been detailed and only a summary of the search has been 

included. The data search should inform the recommendations and 

the mitigation undertaken on site.  

 

Arable plants.  

The updated survey should include a more detailed assessment of 

the plant species, including scarce arable plants, present within the 

arable fields. I understand that Bioscan recorded a number of 

Page 20



species that are indicators of scarce arable plant assemblages but 

these were not reported within Tyler Grange's ecological 

assessment. Therefore the updated assessment should fully assess 

the botanical interest of the site.  

 

Hedgerows and Woodland.  

I also do not consider the details relating to the condition and status 

of the hedgerows or woodland on site to be adequate. The 

ecological assessment seems quite vague when detailing the 

condition of these features. For example, no hedgerow assessment 

has been carried out so it is unclear whether hedgerows on site 

would qualify as "important" under the Hedgerow Regulations 1997 

and/or classify as a habitat of principle importance under Section 41 

of the NERC Act 2006. A full hedgerow assessment is therefore 

required, to detail the condition of each of the hedgerows including 

the ground flora present. 

 

Further details also need to be provided to detail the status and 

condition of the wooded areas on site. Please may the updated 

ecological assessment further detail the species present in the under 

storey and ground layer and the status of these wooded areas. 

 

The extent of hedgerow removal is also unclear as this has not been 

clearly detailed within the ecological assessment. Through reviewing 

the Arboriculture Impact Assessment, I understand that 46metres of 

H1 will be removed and translocated behind the visibility splay of 

the new access junction. This is shown in Figure 2 of the LEMP 

report but is not referred to within the ecological assessment and it 

is unclear where the specific location of the translocated hedgerow 

will be. It is also unclear whether the biodiversity metric 

spreadsheet considers the full extent of this loss (see further 

comments below relating to biodiversity net gain). Please can the full 

extent of hedgerow removal and translocation be detailed and for 

this to be adequately compensated for within the proposal.  

 

It is unclear why the removal of the full 46metres of hedgerow 

cannot be avoided and therefore a full justification for this should be 

provided. The removal of this extent of hedgerow should be 

avoided if possible. If the hedgerow cannot be retained then the 

translocation would be acceptable. Please can this issue be 

addressed further.  

 

Badger.  

An active outlier badger sett has been found on site along the 

southern boundary as well as a disused badger sett within the 

central section of the site, near T12. A 30metre buffer must be 

provided around the setts, however, this does not seem to be the 

case. The proposed access road seems to bisect/run adjacent to the 

active badger sett along the southern boundary and this would 

therefore impact on the sett and the activity of the badgers. The 

Page 21



access track should therefore be moved outside of this 30metre 

buffer. For example, the access track could be located northwards, 

closer to the solar arrays, without impacting on hedgerow 

boundaries. This will need to be considered and the location of the 

access track should be revised.  

 

Dormice.  

Precautionary working for dormice is recommended within the 

report. However, given that 46 metres of one hedgerow along the 

western boundary of the site is to be removed, I advise that a full 

habitat assessment for dormice is undertaken to determine the 

suitability for the species and the impacts of these works. Please 

may the further assessment therefore be carried out.   

 

Birds.  

The ecological assessment notes that Linnet, Yellowhammer and 

Skylark were recorded on site. However, an associated map to 

show the results of the breeding bird survey has not been included 

within the report so the specific locations that the species are using 

is unclear. Please can these details be provided. Furthermore, the 

report does not consider the potential for wintering birds on site 

and no further survey was carried out to obtain this information. 

There are a number of records of bird species within the area, 

including that of Lapwing, and therefore there is potential for 

wintering birds to use the site and this should be further 

considered. 

 

The suitability of the proposed open areas for Skylark on site should 

also be considered further as one of these areas is nearby the 

ancient woodland which could potentially reduce the suitability of 

the open habitat. 

 

Bats.  

The scheme will need to ensure that the hedgerows and woodland 

are not illuminated by external lighting and that the lighting of the 

wildlife corridors is avoided. Please can this be shown on the 

amended plans to be submitted.    

 

Amphibians (including Great Crested Newts). 

Parts of the site are located within the red and amber zones for 

Great Crested Newts (GCN), as per district licence impact risk 

mapping. This means that it falls within a landscape recognised as 

being suitable habitat to support GCN, and that GCN are likely to 

be present. There are also a number of waterbodies within 

500metres of the site. Natural England's standing advice (March 

2021) stipulates that applicants wishing to develop within red/amber 

zones must either demonstrate that their proposal poses no risk to 

GCN or they submit an assessment of the risk to GCN and set out 

any measures which they propose to take to safeguard against 

significant risks and compensate for any impacts. This may result in 

Page 22



the need for a licence. The report notes that the ponds on site 

were dry when surveyed in 2020 but the on and off-site 

waterbodies (including both ponds and waterbodies) have not been 

labelled on the map within the ecological assessment and therefore 

it is unclear whether there is sufficient connectivity to waterbodies 

within the wider landscape. Please may further information 

therefore be provided and can the updated habitat survey (as 

requested above) include updated assessments of the ponds.  

 

Reptiles.  

The updated assessment of the site should confirm whether the 

condition/status of the habitats has changed since the previous 

assessment and whether there are now additional opportunities for 

reptiles (e.g. along the field margins and tall ruderal vegetation). 

Depending on the updated results, appropriate mitigation should be 

recommended.  

 

Habitats Creation and Enhancement. 

Although a number of habitat creation measures are proposed such 

has the creation of hedgerows, scrub, neutral grassland and rough 

grassland below the solar panels, I believe that the are also further 

habitat enhancement and creation opportunities on site. For 

example, the field margins could be enhanced and sown with a 

shade tolerant seed mix, additional hedgerows could be enhanced 

with native species, and additional ponds could be created within 

the open areas on site. The existing ponds could also be enhanced 

to benefit Great Crested Newts and other protected species. Please 

may the applicant consider further biodiversity enhancements and 

incorporate these into the associated reports, plans and biodiversity 

net gain calculations. Please note that all species to be planted 

should be native and locally characteristic.  

 

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG). 

 

In line with the NPPF Chapter 15 and Local Plan policy EH3, all 

major planning applications should demonstrate a measurable net 

gain in biodiversity. A guidance note and accompanying data 

standard requirements have been published on the council's website 

Planning application supporting information - West Oxfordshire 

District Council (westoxon.gov.uk). Currently, the information that 

has been submitted for the planning application is not in line with 

the above guidance and therefore the applicant should ensure that 

reference is made to this guidance note.  

 

The Biodiversity Net Gain report is quite vague in that the 

condition of the proposed habitats are not justified and the specific 

areas of habitat to be lost and created/enhanced is not provided. 

The report should also provide a detailed justification of how the 

Biodiversity Net Gain Good Practice Principles for Development 

(CIEEM, CIRIA, IEMA, 2016) and associated Practical Guide (2019) 

Page 23



are applied. Furthermore, the pre and post-development plans will 

need to be submitted alongside the biodiversity metric calculations 

and the Biodiversity Net Gain report and these should include the 

UK Habitat Classification rather than Phase 1 classification as well as 

the associated areas of habitat and associated GIS files. The 

biodiversity metric calculations should also be updated to reflect the 

full extent of habitat loss (including the extent of hedgerow loss as 

queried above) and consider the additional habitat creation 

opportunities, highlighted above. The LPA require these details to 

fully assess the planning application to ensure that the development 

is in accordance with the NPPF Chapter 15 and Local Plan policy 

EH3.  

 

Other comments 

The site is located adjacent to an ancient woodland (St Johns 

Wood) and is also within the Wychwood and Lower Evenlode 

Conservation Target Area (CTA). However, the ecological 

assessment fails to adequately consider this. Proposed habitat 

creation and enhancement should consider and contribute towards 

the objectives of the CTA and this should be included within the 

associated ecology reports. The location of the ancient woodland 

should also be recognised as the proposed access track may impact 

on the root protection areas of the trees and therefore a sufficient 

buffer to the woodland should be provided and the proposal should 

consider this. 

 

 

Cotswolds Conservation 

Board 

Given this relatively close proximity and the type of development 

being proposed, we recommend that the local planning authority 

(LPA) should consider potential visual impacts on the National 

Landscape (including the visual impact in winter conditions). 

In reaching its planning decision, the local planning authority (LPA) 

has a statutory duty to have regard to the purpose of conserving 

and enhancing the natural beauty of the National Landscape.2 The 

Board recommends that, in fulfilling this 'duty of regard', the LPA 

should: (i) ensure that planning decisions are consistent with 

relevant national and local planning policy and guidance; and (ii) take 

into account relevant Board publications: 

 

We recommend that, if planning permission is granted, the solar 

farm should not extend into the most westerly field shown on the 

site location plan.  This is because this field is in very close 

proximity to the boundary of the Cotswolds National Landscape 

and the landform in this field slopes towards the National 

Landscape. Avoiding development in this field would therefore help 

to reduce any potential adverse visual effects for receptors within 

(or on the boundary of) the National Landscape. 

 

 

Page 24



Major Planning Applications 

Team 

Transport - No objection. 

The applicant has now provided an adjusted red line plan 

demonstrating that they own the land which needs to be altered to 

maintain the proposed visibility splays. The applicant has now 

resolved all of our initial highways issues and we no longer object to 

the granting of planning permission. 

 

LLFA - Objection 

Key issues: 

 Drainage plan not detailed. 

 How does the development follow the SuDS surface water 

discharge hierarchy. 

 Provide calculations for the proposed ditches and basin. 

 Provide surface water catchment plan. 

 Provide surface water discharge rate and outfall location. 

 Provide outfall details of the ditch and permission. 

 Provide maintenance schedule for the proposed SuDS. 

 

Archaeology - Objection. 

 

Parish Council Councillors voted by majority to continue to object to the 

application on the basis of the following: 

Location - the location is inappropriate being close to a small village 

in a Conservation Area, close to the Cotswolds AONB boundary 

and St John's ancient woodland, and is bordered by the ancient 

Roman Road. This appears to be contrary to protection for 

maintaining distinctive rural characteristics described in the WODC 

Plan for 2031. This site lies within the Wychwood Project area 

where special attention and protection should be given to the 

landscape and biodiversity. 

Archaeology - Concerns over impact of the development on nearby 

heritage assets including areas of potential archaeological interest 

being close to Akeman Street roman road. These are not 

adequately considered in the application. 

Surface Water Management - the design of the water run-off plan is 

flawed and does not take account of the site contours and flow 

directions. 

Landscape and Visual Impact - the design includes tree planting to 

hide the facility but this also hides the fine view of the North 

Wessex Downs. This fails to minimise impacts but simply changes 

the impact. Other mitigating solutions in the plan do not take 

account of locality, for example the saplings will not be protected 

from deer adequately. 

Access - The site entrance is onto the B4022, which is a fast and 

dangerous route, with a history of serious accidents (the last one 

was 200m away from the proposed site entrance in September 

2020, resulting in life changing injuries to three individuals) In 

conclusion, Parish Council objects to this development as it will 

have a significant harmful impact on this sensitive landscape, 

Page 25



archaeology, drainage and would be counter to the protection 

enshrined in the local plan. 

 

 

2 REPRESENTATIONS 

 

2.1 A summary of the representations received are detailed below.  Full details can be viewed on the 

Council's website. 

 

165 letters received objecting to the application on the following grounds: 

 Significant landscape harm 

 Too large and subject to insufficient mitigation and biodiversity offset measures 

 This proposal fails to meet the criteria for exceptional circumstances and therefore should be 

refused.  

 Harmful to wildlife 

 Flood risk 

 Loss of agricultural land 

 No benefit to local community 

 Negative impact on the village 

  Not deliverable or sustainable 

 Profound effect on the setting of the Cotswolds AONB 

 Would cause irrevocable environmental and archaeological damage to the area 

 Significant loss of visual amenity 

 Totally out of scale with the local conservation area and the needs of local communities 

 Traffic implications 

 Will degrade setting of listed property (Gigley Farm) 

 Contrary to national and local plan policies 

 Fails to meet the criteria for exceptional circumstances  

 

11 letters of support: 

 Climate change crisis and need to reduce our carbon footprint.  

  Solar parks massively increase biodiversity as the land is no longer chemically coshed for arable 

crops, neither is it trampled by livestock. Proven increases in biodiversity are seen in every 

group from insects, invertebrates, through to rodents, birds, mammals and plants. This would be 

a highly positive bonus if the park were to go ahead. 

 Solar parks are a temporary and, in the vast majority of cases, a completely reversible land use.  

 Modules and all other project components are reusable or readily recyclable through UK or 

European schemes.  

 Minimal disturbance to the ground.  

 The remainder of a field used for solar park development is still accessible for plant growth and 

potentially for wildlife enhancements and complementary agricultural activities such as 

conservation grazing.  

 Solar parks are secure, long-term (25-40-year operational lifespans), require minimal human 

disturbance of the grounds, and have a very small infrastructure footprint - all attributes that 

make them good areas to enhance the ecological value of the landscape.  

 Not visible from houses 

 Use of green, renewable energy 

 

1 letter of representation - If permitted - should be subject to strict conditions. 

Page 26



 

Solar Park Action Group - Summary of comments below.  Whilst it is acknowledged that the application 

is for a renewable energy scheme, the SPAG are extremely concerned that the application fails to 

demonstrate that the proposed development would not have an adverse impact on the surrounding 

area. Indeed, it is considered that it would have a far more severe and long-term impact than has been 

suggested in the submission documents, and is therefore unacceptable in planning terms. As such, the 

SPAG wish to object to the application for the following primary reasons: 

 Impact on views of the area as well as the setting of the nearby AONB; 

 Impact on ecology; 

 Impact on the local highway network; 

 Impact on nearby statutory heritage assets; 

 Impact on archaeological values of the site. 

This letter should be read in conjunction with the following peer reviews that have been carried out on 

behalf of our client: 

 Landscape and visual aspects review, prepared by the Landscape Partnership; 

 Ecological review, prepared by Bioscan (UK) Ltd; 

 Review on highways matters, prepared by MJA Consulting;  

 Review of agricultural land classification assessment, prepared by Reading Agricultural 

Consultants. 

 Issue of the vehicle types and traffic volume associated with establishing and maintaining the 

Landscape and Environmental Management Plan and softworks, and with flood prevention and 

run-off mitigation in the above application - All this activity gives rise to matters relating to 

Highway Safety and noise and disturbance which should require consideration at planning but 

cannot be, for lack of information. As such the application falls short of what would be needed 

for a full consideration. 

 the government's intention for Grade 3B land to not be regarded as appropriate for solar 

provision, especially in current times when there is a key emphasis on the country being able to 

be self-sufficient for key crops. As such this should be considered as an important material 

consideration in the context of this application. 

 

These documents have identified significant technical limitations with the submission documents which, 

in our view, require addressing prior to any decision being made 

 

Conclusion - It is considered from the peer reviews that the proposed development has the potential to 

have a negative impact on the character, views and historic significance of the area. As such the 

application proposals do not accord with the relevant local and national planning policies and we urge 

West Oxfordshire District Council to refuse this application based on the information provided to date. 

It is also clear from the application proposals as submitted that there is a lack of information that is 

considered necessary for the Council to make a full and proper assessment of the proposed works. We 

are strongly of the view that no permission can be granted without all of these details being made 

available from the outset. We reserve the right to comment on any further information provided in due 

course.  

 

Further letter sent advising that it is the government's intention for Grade 3B land to not be regarded as 

appropriate for solar provision, especially in current times when there is a key emphasis on the country 

being able to be self-sufficient for key crops. As such this should be considered as an important material 

consideration in the context of this application. 

 

CPRE West Oxfordshire has considered the proposed solar farm on land immediately south of Akeman 

Street and while we accept there is a climate emergency and agree that renewable energy is not only 

Page 27



desirable but essential to reduce our carbon emissions, we also have a duty to protect the countryside 

from urban sprawl and ensure its landscape, so distinctive of the West Oxfordshire Cotswolds, endures 

for generations to come. We therefore object to the application on the following grounds: 

 

Landscape.  Despite the site being just outside the Cotswolds AONB, it is extremely close by a few 

metres and the industrial scale of the proposed development would be a significant incursion into open 

countryside in this distinctive and unspoilt part of the County. In this instance, we feel the plans to 

develop this area for solar energy would not outweigh the significant harm on the landscape and the 

tranquillity of the wider AONB setting and of the small village of Ramsden with its strong Cotswold 

village vernacular. The visual impact of the planned fences, CCTV and prefabricated buildings for welfare 

and storage would spoil the experience for walkers, riders and cyclists along Akeman Street and the fine 

far-reaching views characteristic of the region. The Cotswold Conservation Board, states that renewable 

energy developments should be located where…they are appropriate to the landscape character and 

they would not be a dominant feature in the landscape. Its size and its location on high open ground 

means that neither of these guidelines have been followed.  

 

Biodiversity.  The plans as they stand have not clearly demonstrated how this development will succeed 

in adding the mandated net gain in biodiversity. There has been insufficient environmental assessment 

despite the significant building of fences which will detrimentally affect hares, badgers and other foraging 

mammals. 

 

Heritage. We note the objection from Oxfordshire County Council's Archaeological Services based on 

the evidence of nearby Roman, Bronze and Iron Age heritage assets. It would seem prudent for ground 

based archaeological assessments to be carried and for the local authority to assess the significance 

[and] contribution [that any findings] make to their environment and the likelihood that currently 

unidentified heritage assets, particularly sites of historic and archaeological interest, will be discovered in 

the future (NPPF Paras 187, 189). 

 

British Horse Society - The BHS commends the recognition within this application of the various RoW 

that will be affected. The Society is also pleased to note that there is no intention to use the St John's 

Lane restricted byway (RB) as vehicular access during construction. 

There however are several points of concern that we would like to highlight in respect of the safety of 

equestrians during the construction of this proposed development. 

 Access to the site is proposed at an existing, complex junction 

 If this development is approved, drivers of construction vehicles must be made aware that they 

are more likely to encounter equestrian users outside of suggested peak times in CTMP. 

 Omissions in CTMP relating to earlier diversion  

 Should this proposal be approved, we recommend that a temporary speed restriction be 

imposed on the B4022 for the duration of construction. 

  Any approval of this proposal should include a Condition that drivers of constructions vehicles 

(both cars and lorries) MUST give way to users of 

PRoWs. 

 The Society asks that the provision of Banksmen be made a Condition of any approval for this 

scheme 

 

Witney Flood Mitigation Group - Despite this being a retrospective planning application for the Solar 

Farm at Ramsden, alterations have already taken place that affect flood risk in the Windrush and 

therefore Witney and these must be reversed. 

 

 

Page 28



 

3 APPLICANT'S CASE 

3.1 The Planning Supporting Statement concludes as follows: 

 

16.1. The proposed Project is a 'renewable energy' solution, a critical component of the Government's 

commitment to become carbon neutral by 2050. 

16.2. West Oxfordshire D.C. pledged in 2019 to become carbon-neutral through their Climate 

Emergency Strategy by 2030. 

16.3. The Project can be regarded as beneficial in respect of these targets and is supported by Local Plan 

Policy EH6 and Paragraph 151 of the NPPF. 

16.4. Policy EH2 advises new development should conserve and, where possible, enhance the intrinsic 

character, quality and distinctive natural and man-made features of the local landscape. 

16.5. The visual sensitivity section of the LVIA explains the proposed Project will not be highly visible as 

the Site is well contained by the surrounding vegetation pattern typified by dense vegetated 

boundaries with mature trees and wide hedgerows. 

16.6. Views into the Site are limited to those experienced from PRoWs which pass the western edge of 

the site, the Akeman Street (Wychwood Way) close to the northern extents of the site and from 

the network of lanes which pass by the Site to the south. Some glimpsed views are experienced 

from the PRoWs and roads east of the Site. 

16.7. The proposed Project will result in some adverse effects in terms of visibility; however, these will 

be localised to the PRoWs and accompanying landscape on its immediate boundaries. 

16.8. The proposed Project includes several landscape enhancements to make a positive contribution to 

local landscape character, support the Site's ecology and the local Green Infrastructure networks. 

16.9. The application is accompanied by a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan including a 

Softworks Plan, Green Infrastructure Strategy Plan and sets out the design, future management 

measures and monitoring provisions in relation to the enhancement of the landscape and 

biodiversity of the Site. 

16.10.Based on a review of the evidence set out within the LVIA report, and subject to the application 

of mitigation measures, it is contended that the proposed Project is acceptable in landscape and 

visual terms and accords with local and national planning policy. 

16.11.The proposed Project has been assessed in terms of sites, monuments and features within a 1km 

study area centred on the Site's boundary, designated heritage assets within a wider 2km study 

Land South of Ramsden, Akeman Street, Ramsden BSR Energy Limited area, potential for 

unidentified archaeological sites, features or finds and potential for impact on the setting and 

significance of designated heritage assets within the study area. 

16.12.The Heritage Desk Based Assessment concludes that the Listed Building(s) surrounding the Site 

will be subject to less than substantial harm resulting from the proposed Project close to a 

heritage asset. 

16.13.The archaeological potential of the Site has been assessed as generally low to moderate, with a 

raised level assessed for the later prehistoric period due to the nearby presence of Grim's Ditch, 

a significant Iron Age linear feature. A higher potential for buried remains of the Romano-British 

period has also been assessed, given the presence along the Site's northwest boundary of an 

important Roman road, Akeman Street. 

16.14.The HLC recorded for the Site has been assessed as of low to moderate archaeological and 

historical value, representing an HLC type common throughout the county. 

16.15.It is concluded that the proposed Project will result in a superficial change in the nature of the 

HLC,largely through a visible change in land use. The fundamental nature of the HLC, defined 

through the pattern and date range of the extant field boundaries, will remain unaffected. 

Page 29



16.16.On this basis, the proposed Project accords with Section 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed 

Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Chapter 16 of the NPPF and policies EH9, EH10 

and EH13 of the Local Plan. 

16.17.An Ecological Assessment has been completed in accordance with recognised industry guidance. 

16.18.Whilst some habitat loss is inevitable, the layout of the proposed Project has been informed by 

ecological considerations to ensure the retention and protection of the most important ecological 

features on the Site. 

16.19.The proposed Project will deliver biodiversity net gain in line with relevant national and local 

planning policy. Retained and newly created habitats will be managed and monitored over the 

lifespan of the development to ensure management objectives are realised as set out within the 

accompanying Landscape and Ecological Management Plan. 

16.20.With the implementation of the mitigation and enhancements strategy described within the 

Landscape and Ecological Management Plan, the proposed Project would accord with relevant 

planning policy and legislation. 

16.21.Although the Site is within Flood Zone 1, its area exceeds 0.5ha and therefore a Flood Risk and 

Drainage Strategy accompanies the submission. 

16.22.The Flood Risk and Drainage Strategy concludes the ground once developed will drain as per the 

current scenario. As such there will be no impact on sites downstream of the proposed Project 

and therefore it accords with local and national planning policy. 

16.23.A Construction Traffic Management Plan accompanies the application. Access to the Site will 

remain as existing. The first 10m of the access will be surfaced to avoid transfer of material from 

the Site onto the highway. 

16.24.To meet applicable visibility standards, it is proposed part of the existing hedgerow aligning the 

Site's north western boundary (Akeman Street) is relocated / removed. This section of hedge has 

been assessed as having low ecological potential, therefore it is proposed to remove the hedge in 

this location and a new hedge planted in its place. 

16.25.A new carriageway will be constructed around the Site's bell-mouth at the point of the existing 

junction. 

16.26.A construction compound will be formed to the west of the Site. The compound will be of a 

sufficient size to accommodate vehicles so that they can enter, deliver their goods and turn to 

leave the Site in a forward gear. 

16.27.The level of vehicle movements during the construction phase of the proposed Project is not 

considered to be material and it is considered that this will not have an impact on the safety or 

operation of the local highway network. 

16.28.It is concluded that there are no reasons why the proposed Project should not be consented on 

traffic or highways grounds. 

16.29.A Glint and Glare Study has been undertaken in terms of surrounding roads and dwellings. The 

Study concludes mitigation is not judged to be required for road users or dwelling receptors, 

because the level of effect is not significant. 

16.30.This statement has demonstrated that the proposed Project is fully in accordance with the 

relevant policies of the development plan and the thrust of national planning policy and should be 

approval.  

 

 

4 PLANNING POLICIES 

 

OS1NEW Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

OS2NEW Locating development in the right places 

OS3NEW Prudent use of natural resources 

EH1 Cotswolds AONB 

Page 30



EH2 Landscape character 

EH3 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

EH6 Decentralised and renewable or low carbo 

EH9 Historic environment 

EH10 Conservation Areas 

EH11 Listed Buildings 

EH13 Historic landscape character 

BC1NEW Burford-Charlbury sub-area 

NPPF 2021 

T2NEW Highway improvement schemes 

EH7 Flood risk 

EH16 Non designated heritage assets 

The National Planning Policy framework (NPPF) is also a material planning consideration.  

 

5 PLANNING ASSESSMENT 

 

5.1 The application seeks planning permission for the Installation of a ground mounted solar PV and 

energy storage system together with associated infrastructure; security fencing, CCTV, access 

track, cable route and landscaping on land South of Ramsden, Akeman Street, Ramsden.  The site 

measures 45ha and the overall area of site to be covered by the solar photovoltaic panels is 

approximately 11ha.  The application has been amended to include a small area of additional land at 

the access point to enable adequate visibility splays to be provided.   

 

5.2 The site comprises open agricultural land located to the south west of the village of Ramsden. The 

site is bounded to the south by St John's Lane, a restricted byway, to the west by the crossroads 

with the B4022 and to the north the Wychwood Way. The Cotswolds AONB lies on the opposite 

side of the B4022. St John's Wood is ancient woodland and the sites lies within the Wychwood and 

Lower Evenlode Conservation Target Area (CTA). 

 

5.3 The application has been submitted following pre-application advice and a screening opinion 

undertaken has concluded that an Environmental Impact Assessment is not required. 

 

5.4 Taking into account planning policy, other material considerations and the representations of 

interested parties your officers are of the opinion that the key considerations of the application are: 

 

 Principle  

 Use of agricultural land 

 Impact on the Landscape Character/Visual Amenities of the area 

 Impact on Heritage Assets 

 Highway Issues 

 Biodiversity  

  

Principle 

 

5.5 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires applications for planning 

permission be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations 

indicate otherwise.  Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the 

local planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the development plan, so far as material 

to the application, and to any other material considerations.  In the case of West Oxfordshire, the 

Development Plan is the Local Plan 2031 adopted in September 2018.  

Page 31



 

5.6 Policy EH6 'Decentralised and renewable or low carbon energy development (Excepting wind 

turbines', supports the principle of renewable energy developments. It goes on to state that such 

development should be located and designed to minimise any adverse impacts, with particular regard 

to conserving the District's high valued landscape and historic environment. It also states that in 

assessing proposals, local issues such as environmental impacts, opportunities for environmental 

enhancement and potential benefits to host communities need to be considered and satisfactorily 

addressed. The policy also refers to detailed guidance published in the 'West Oxfordshire Renewable 

and Low Carbon Energy Guidance and Landscape Capacity Study' (2016).  This latter document will 

be referred to in more detail below. 

 

5.7 The NPPF supports proposals for renewable and low carbon energy.  Paragraph 158 states that 

when determining planning applications for renewable development local planning authorities should 

not require applicants to demonstrate need for renewable energy and should approve an application 

if impacts are (or can be made) acceptable. There is also 'Planning Practice Guidance' relating to 

'Renewable and Low Carbon Energy'; this sets out the particular planning considerations that relate 

to large scale ground-mounted solar PV farms, including referencing to landscape and visual impact, 

heritage assets and greenfield land.  Where a proposal involves greenfield land, an LPA will need to 

consider, whether (i) the proposed use of any agricultural land has been shown to be necessary and 

poorer quality land has been used in preference to higher quality land; and (ii) the proposal allows for 

continued agricultural use and/or encourages biodiversity improvements around arrays.  

 

5.8 The Planning Statement advises that the proposed development will produce enough clean energy to 

power over 6,000 homes per year, a saving of 8,600 tonnes of CO_"².   These benefits would accord 

with the NPPF's renewable energy provisions, which indicate that the delivery of renewable, low 

carbon energy is central to the economic, social and environmental dimensions of sustainable 

development and that local communities have a responsibility to contribute to the generation of such 

energy amongst other things.  These benefits need to be weighed against the impacts of the 

development, as considered in more detail below. 

 

Use of Agricultural Land  

 

5.9 The NPPF advises that account should be taken of the benefits of the best and most versatile (BMV) 

agricultural land, and where it is necessary to use agricultural land that poorer quality land should be 

used in preference to that of a higher quality. As noted above, this principle is espoused in PPG 

relating to solar farms. Best and most versatile is land within grades 1, 2 and 3a of the agricultural 

land classification.  The submitted Agricultural Land Classification Report states that the site is 

classified as Grade 3b.  A review of this report has been undertaken by the Solar Park Action Group 

(SPAG) which concludes that although the conclusions classifying the land as Subgrade 3b are 

consistent with other nearby detailed surveys, there can be no confidence that the survey data is an 

accurate reflection of the soil profiles found within the site.  In response, the applicant has 

undertaken a further technical review which concludes that 'The ultimate agreement seems to be in 

place that the ALC Grade of 3b is consistent with nearby detailed surveys mapped on the same soils. The 

principal concerns of soil uniformity and soil droughtiness calculations have been clarified above and it should 

be evident that the ALC survey is accurate.' No evidence to refute the data submitted has been 

submitted.   

 

 

 

 

Page 32



 

Impact on Landscape Character/Visual Amenities of the area  

 

5.10 The site lies close to the Cotswolds AONB, a nationally important designation, where great weight 

should be given to conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty. This duty is reflected in 

policy EH1 of the local plan and the NPPF which require great weight to be given to conserving and 

enhancing landscape beauty in Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty. This duty is also embodied in 

the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000.  

 

5.11 Policy EH2 of the Local Plan also seeks to protect landscape character and ensure that new 

development conserves and, where possible, enhances the intrinsic character, quality and distinctive 

natural and man-made features of the local landscape. This site lies within the Wychwood Project 

area where special attention and protection will be given to the landscape and biodiversity. 

 

5.12 The West Oxfordshire Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Guidance and Landscape Capacity 

Study' (2016) states that, "in general terms, there is significant potential for further solar farm 

development in the district subject to careful consideration of individual development proposals". 

The report states that very few constraints exist in West Oxfordshire and those that do, such as 

public rights of way, woodland and rivers, cover a small portion of the district, although sites on 

best and most versatile agricultural land are likely to be heavily constrained by that fact.  

 

5.13 The Oxfordshire Landscape and Wildlife Study (OWLS) shows the development to be located in 

the Landscape Type 'Wooded Farmland' and the Local Character Area 'Wychwood Forest' 

(CW/13). The West Oxfordshire Landscape Character Assessment shows the site to be located in 

the Landscape Character Area (LCA) 7 'Wychwood Uplands' and the landscape type 'Semi-

enclosed Limestone Wolds (small scale)'. 

 

5.14 A Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) is submitted with the application.  In respect of 

landscape effects it concludes the proposed development is unlikely to greatly impact upon the 

character of LCA 7 Wychwood Uplands, Landscape Type Semi-Enclosed limestone wolds. Though 

the site extends across a relatively large area, the solar PV panels and associated development are 

of a low scale and the proposed development will be medium term duration and reversible. Due to 

the high level of enclosure provided by the existing vegetation and the topography there will be 

limited localised changes and the landscape effects are assessed as Minor adverse for all periods.  

The proposed development will alter the character of the fields within the boundary of the site and 

those immediately adjacent through the introduction of a solar PV panels into a rural and lightly 

settled landscape. The landscape effects are Moderate adverse on the application site and its 

immediate environs. 

 

5.15 In terms of visual effects it concludes the application site is visually well contained by vegetation 

across the local landscape, therefore the majority of visual effects throughout construction and 

operation are limited to these experienced close to the site and are assessed as Major adverse to 

Negligible depending on the proximity to site and the extent of the site which is visible. Proposed 

mitigation will help to reduce the effects from local PRoWs. The greatest effects will be 

experienced by local receptors, users of the PRoW 236 25/10 St John's Lane and the northern 

extent of the Wychwood Way/Akeman Street (adjacent Ramsden fields) which pass adjacent to the 

application site, where the proposed development will be most visible. The visual effects are 

assessed as Moderate adverse and Major adverse respectively.  As proposed and existing vegetation 

matures, the visual effects on views from PRoW 236 25/10 St John's Lane to the south-west will 

reduce to Minor adverse/Negligible. Mitigation measures will not greatly reduce the effects on 

Page 33



views from the Wychwood Way/Akeman Street as it passes the northern extents of the site and 

the effects along this route will remain Moderate adverse, but will only affect a relatively small 

portion of the overall length of this route. During the summer when vegetation is in leaf the visually 

effects are likely to be reduced due to the screening associated with dense leaf cover. For the 

majority of private residences within the study area, the visual effects following completion are 

assessed as No change due to the layering of intervening mature vegetation and landform which will 

restrict views of the proposed development. It is anticipated there may be some short-term 

adverse visual effects during construction on views from Gigley Farm (Grade II Listed Building) and 

Pay Lane due to the proximity of the enabling and access routes associated with the construction 

stage and these properties. However, proposed hedgerow replacement and tree planting along the 

boundaries of the site will heavily filter any internal views of the site from these residences in the 

long-term and the visual effects are not deemed unacceptable. 

 

5.16 The overall conclusion of the LVIA is that the proposed development will result in some adverse 

effects, however, these will be localised to the PRoWs and accompanying landscape on its 

immediate boundaries. The scheme proposes a number of landscape enhancements to make a 

positive contributions to local landscape character, support the sites' ecology and the local Green 

Infrastructure networks. Based on a review of the evidence set out within this report, and subject 

to the application of the mitigation measures recommended this assessment concludes that the 

proposed development is acceptable in landscape and visual terms. 

 

5.17 A review of the submitted LVIA has been undertaken on behalf of the SPAG.  The review 

concludes that the proposed landscape strategy of new planting which seeks to disguise the solar 

park infrastructure would screen and contain the landscape and block the very views that are one 

of its key characteristics and which are enjoyed by the local residents and visitors alike; This 

Landscape and Visual Review has found that the proposed development would have residual 

adverse effects on both landscape character and views of up to Major-Moderate Adverse 

significance, and thus critical considerations in the determination process;  The proposed 

development would result in residual harm to the landscape character and visual amenity of the 

AONB and its setting and would not conserve or enhance the landscape and natural scenic beauty 

of the area. As such, the development would not accord with Policy EH1: Cotswolds Area of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty and the proposed development would not conserve the "intrinsic 

character, quality and distinctive natural and man-made features of the local landscape, including 

individual or groups of features and their settings", e.g. agricultural fields, long-distance views, and 

the setting of Singe Wood Ancient Woodland. Further, there would be a residual adverse effect on 

the character of the Wychwood Forest Trust area, where "special attention and protection will be 

given to the landscape". As such, the development would fail to satisfy the policy tests within Policy 

EH2: Landscape Character.  

 

5.18 The County's Landscape Specialist has commented that whilst they have not reviewed the LVIA in 

any detail the proposed development is large and will by its nature change the landscape character 

within the site and the surrounding area. The site comprises a number of fields, which are bounded 

by boundary hedgerows and/or trees in many places. Hedgerows appear to be low in places 

allowing views across the site from nearby roads and footpaths. The proximity of the development 

to the Cotswolds AONB is of concern and it is important that adverse effects on this nationally 

important landscape and its setting are avoided.  Existing boundary vegetation should be conserved 

and enhanced to increase screening of the proposed development. In addition, substantial new 

planting in line with local landscape character guidelines should be introduced along the boundaries 

(where applicable) to mitigate the impact of the development. Such an approach is outlined on the 

Landscape Softworks plan and the Green Infrastructure Strategy Plan, however, the proposed 

Page 34



planting looks narrow in many places (including many site boundaries) raising concerns about the 

effectiveness of the planting in screening the development in views.  

 

5.19 The Cotswold Conservation Board recommends that, if planning permission is granted, the solar 

farm should not extend into the most westerly field shown on the site location plan as this field is 

in very close proximity to the boundary of the Cotswolds National Landscape and the landform in 

this field slopes towards the National Landscape. Avoiding development in this field would 

therefore help to reduce any potential adverse visual effects for receptors within (or on the 

boundary of) the National Landscape.  The application remains unchanged in this respect. 

 

5.20 West Oxfordshire CPRE also object to the application on landscape grounds and consider that 

given its close proximity to the Cotswolds AONB the industrial scale of the proposed development 

would be a significant incursion into open countryside in this distinctive and unspoilt part of the 

County. CPRE consider that the plans to develop this area for solar energy would not outweigh the 

significant harm on the landscape and the tranquillity of the wider AONB setting and of the small 

village of Ramsden with its strong Cotswold village vernacular. The visual impact of the planned 

fences, CCTV and prefabricated buildings for welfare and storage would spoil the experience for 

walkers, riders and cyclists along Akeman Street and the fine far-reaching views characteristic of the 

region. The Cotswold Conservation Board, states that renewable energy developments should be 

located where…they are appropriate to the landscape character and they would not be a dominant 

feature in the landscape. Its size and its location on high open ground means that neither of these 

guidelines have been followed.  

 

5.21 The Council's Landscape Officer (LO) considers that the scale of the proposed solar farm would 

have a detrimental impact on this sensitive, historic, rural landscape.  The scheme proposes the 

introduction of a wide range of industrial characteristics into a highly valued landscape from 

landscape character and ecological perspectives and due to the depth of its cultural, heritage and 

recreational qualities.  The LO further comments that 'If the principle of a solar farm is to be 

supported in this area, inconsistent technical information within the application documentation would need 

to be addressed and mitigation and on-going management details clarified.  In order to meet the wide-

ranging, and often conflicting, mitigation objectives, and to ensure compliance with planning policy, there 

would need to be a significant reduction in the extent of panels across the site, together with meaningful 

environmental enhancements proportionate to the scale of negative effects brought to the local landscape.  

In accordance with EH6, environmental enhancements need to be in addition to those required to directly 

mitigate and compensate any adverse impacts of a proposal, especially at sites within Conservation Target 

Areas.' 

 

5.22 In summary the proposed development would have a significantly harmful impact on the character 

and visual amenities of this sensitive rural landscape and setting of the Cotswolds AONB. 

 

Impact of heritage assets 

 

5.23 The Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990 Section 66(1) requires special 

regard to the desirability of preserving a listed building or its setting or any features of special 

architectural or historic interest it possesses while section 72(1) requires special attention to be 

paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of conservation 

areas.  Policies EH9, EH10, EH11 and EH13 of the Local Plan reflect these duties.   

 

5.24 Paragraph 193 of the NPPF provides when considering the impact of a proposal on a designated 

heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset's conservation. It continues that 

Page 35



significance can be harmed or lost through alteration. It draws a distinction between substantial 

harm and less than substantial harm to such an asset.  For the latter, which applies here, the test is 

that the harm should be weighed against public benefits of the proposal including, where 

appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 

 

5.25 In terms of non-designated heritage assets the NPPF advices that in weighing applications that 

directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required 

having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset. These 

duties are reflected in policies EH9, EH11 and EH16 of the Local plan. 

 

5.26 The site is not subject to any heritage designations, and the nearest are Ramsden Conservation 

Area located to the north east of the site and a group of Grade II listed buildings at Gigley Farm.   

A submitted Heritage Environment Desk Based Assessment concludes that given the intervening 

woodland and shelter belt which will screen views and unchanged field layout there will be no harm 

to the setting of the Conservation Area.  It concludes that the listed buildings at Gigley Farm will be 

subject to less than substantial harm resulting from the solar PV array closest to the heritage asset.  

It is recommended that further consideration is given to the siting of solar panels in this area and 

that screening should be enhanced along the boundary.   The application remains unchanged and in 

this case is it considered that the limited less than substantial harm to the setting of Gigley Farm 

would be outweighed by the public benefits of the scheme. 

 

5.27 The Conservation & Design Officer (CO) has raised two particular areas of concern, viz: 

1. Impact on the setting of Akeman Street:  This was an important Roman road, as acknowledged 

in the Historic Environment Desk-Based Assessment. It was a major east-west route, linking 

Watling Street to the Fosse Way, and is a fascinating survival of part of an impressive network. 

We note that the section of Akeman Street to the north side of the site currently runs through 

peaceful rolling agricultural land, which would be transformed by this development. It is puzzling 

that their Historic Environment Desk-Based Assessment regards the change as 'superficial' 

which, in terms of the visual impact, it certainly would not be - because green fields would give 

way to a sizeable expanse of PVs and related technical equipment - all uncharacteristic and 

distracting. 

 

2. Impact on the setting of the Ramsden Conservation Area (CA):  Because the site is screened 

from views within the CA by vegetation, the Historic Environment Desk-Based Assessment 

considers that the setting of the CA would not be affected. I would argue that the setting 

includes the land around the CA, in particular the approaches, and I would argue that views 

from the setting are important. And in this case the approach along Akeman Street would be 

impacted, as discussed above, with perhaps the greatest impact being where the northern tip of 

the PV arrays comes close to Akeman Street - here only around 250 metres from the western 

edge of the CA. 

 

5.28 As such, the CO considers that the historic environment would be significantly impacted.   Whilst 

the public benefits of the scheme are recognised, as detailed below, it is not considered that the 

significant harm identified to the historic landscape and setting of the CA would be outweighted by 

the public benefits of the proposal. 

 

5.29 The site is located in an area of archaeological interest immediately south of the line of Akeman 

Street, the Roman road from (Margary Road 16b). A second probable Roman road is located along 

the southern edge of the application site which joins Akeman Street to the west of the application 

site. The line of Grimm's Ditch, a linear boundary surviving as a bank and ditch, passes from north 

Page 36



to south immediately west of the application site and the line of the proposed DNO Access track 

crosses this earthwork boundary. This linear boundary is undated but known to be pre medieval in 

date and has been argued to be either of late prehistoric/Roman or Saxon in date. Sections of 

Grimm's Ditch are scheduled, and well-preserved stretches of this earthwork linear feature are also 

considered to be of national importance in line with footnote 68 of the National Planning Policy 

Framework (2021).  

 

5.30 A Roman Villa has been recorded 1km to the north of the site and the foundations of a stone 

building, dated to the Roman period, has been recorded 1.2km to the west of the application site. 

Roadside Roman settlement has been frequently recorded along the line of Akeman Street, such as 

at Wilcote 1.1km to the north west of the application site and this location, close to the junction of 

two Roman roads, has a high potential for further Roman settlement evidence to survive.  

 

5.31 The proposed site is also located to the east of a probable barrow cemetery and several Bronze 

Age barrows have been recorded 1km to the west of the site including a scheduled example of a 

pair of bowl barrows at Blindwell Wood (SM21843). The extent of this area of prehistoric funerary 

activity is unknown and there is the potential for further Bronze Age burial features to extend into 

this proposed site.  

 

5.32 Whilst a desk-based assessment was submitted, this was considered to be inadequate and a 

programme of archaeological evaluation is being undertaken.  SPAG has not questioned the 

competence of the resulting evaluation report, but points out that about six hectares of land which 

should have been surveyed has not been. 

 

5.33 The County Archaeological Officer has raised concerns relating to the adequacy of the submitted 

Gradiometer Survey Report which whilst it has identified some areas of archaeological interest 

within the site such techniques cannot be relied up to identify all archaeological deposits on a site 

as there are many factors that can affect the reliability of the results. As such it is a standard 

requirement to test the results of such survey with archaeological trenching.  These concerns were 

raised in November 2021 and whilst the agent advised that trail trenching was taking place in April, 

no archaeological field evaluation report has yet been submitted.  

 

Highway Issues 

 

5.34 Vehicle access to the site is to be through Akeman Street at the Akeman St/Witney Rd junction. 

The site access is existing, and likely used by agricultural vehicles to support the existing land use. 

The construction period of the site will result in a significant intensification of use. Because of this, 

adequate visibility into Akeman St is essential. There is currently a hedgerow severely diminishing 

the right hand visibility splay on exit. This is to be relocated to provide an acceptable splay.  

Amended Plans have been submitted to ensure provision of the required visibility splays. 

 

5.35 SPAG have submitted a critique of the access proposals and a review of the CEMP and general 

highway matters which raises a number of concerns and makes a number of recommendations.  Full 

details of these documents are available to be viewed on the website.    

 

5.36 The trips generated by the site are expected to be negligible once operational. The majority of the 

trips associated with the site will occur during the first 5 weeks of the 16 week construction 

period. The CTMP now states that deliveries to the site will not occur during the network peak 

hours of 08:00-09:00 and 1700-1800.  OCC Transport has advised that the proposed construction 

vehicle routes are considered acceptable and has advised that the applicant has now resolved all of 

Page 37



their initial highways issues and OCC Transport no longer object to the granting of planning 

permission. 

 

Biodiversity 

 

5.37 Policy EH3 of the local plan seeks to protect and enhance biodiversity in the district to achieve an 

overall net gain in biodiversity and minimise impacts on geodiversity. This includes protecting and 

mitigating for impacts on priority habitats, protected species and priority species, both for their 

importance individually and as part of a wider network, and that all developments retaining features 

of biodiversity value on site and incorporating biodiversity enhancement features.  

 

5.38 The application is accompanied by an Ecological Assessment which concludes that with the 

implementation of the mitigation and enhancement measures described in the report, the Project 

would be in conformity with relevant planning policy and legislation.   

 

5.39 A review of the submitted ecological information has been undertaken on behalf of the Solar Park 

Action Group.  It concludes that the report does not appear to accurately represent the ecological 

interest present on the application site and it is advised that extreme caution is applied in using it to 

inform decision making. The safeguards and mitigation proposals offered in the report are founded 

on an incomplete understanding and/or conveyance of the baseline position and cannot therefore 

be relied upon by decision makers as a means to avoid significant net loss of biodiversity. This 

contradicts national and local planning policy. The applicant should be instructed to carry out 

further surveys to address the shortfalls identified and to enable a more accurate impact 

assessment. Such surveys should cover the identified shortfalls in respect of habitats (including 

ancient semi-natural woodland), breeding and wintering birds, bats, dormice, badgers, reptiles and 

invertebrates. 

 

5.40 Following the request for further information, the Council's Biodiversity Officer has commented 

that additional information is still required including updated survey information; habitat, hedgerow 

and woodland assessments and further Biodiversity Net Gain information.  Other concerns have 

been raised in respect of potential impacts on habitats including badgers, bats, ancient woodland 

and the loss of hedgerow.  Detailed comments can be viewed in the consultation section above.   

 

Flooding and Drainage 

 

5.41 The Site lies within Flood Zone 1 with a very low risk of flooding.  The application is supported by 

a Flood Risk and Drainage Assessment which advises that the impermeable area created by the 

development is very small, relative to the site area and as such will have negligible impact on the 

runoff rates from the site and a robust and ample surface water capture and storage system has 

been included within the designs for this development.  

 

5.42 The County Council, as the Local Lead Flood Authority, has raised an objection to the application, 

on the grounds that the Flood Risk Assessment and drainage strategy is inadequate.  Local concerns 

have also been raised in respect to the risk of flooding along the B4022 as a result of the works.  

 

Other Matters - Glint and glare 

 

5.43 A Glint and Glare Study has been undertaken which concludes that effects towards road users on 

the B4022 will be restricted to a short stretch of road immediately west of the panel area. Visibility 

of the reflecting area would be partial and occur from a bearing perpendicular to the direction of 

Page 38



travel.  No mitigation is judged to be required. In respect of Dwelling Receptors, it concludes that 

the effects towards three dwelling locations9 are possible under some conditions. Effects would 

occur early in the morning with a worst-case duration of approximately 20 minutes on any one day. 

Effects are unlikely for observers on the ground floor and would coincide with direct sunlight from 

a similar bearing.  No mitigation is judged to be required. 

 

Conclusion 

 

5.44 In conclusion, whilst it is recognised that the proposed development would make a contribution to 

meeting targets for renewable energy and would contribute to the reduction of greenhouse gases, 

it would have a significant harmful impact on the historic landscape and would be harmful to the 

setting of the Cotswolds AONB and Ramsden Conservation Area and no archaeological field 

evaluation report has been submitted.   

 

5.45 In addition, inadequate ecological and drainage information has been submitted to ensure that 

protected and priority species and habitats would be protected and flood risk managed and 

avoided.  As such the development conflicts with adopted Local Plan policies and the NPPF and is 

thus recommended for refusal.  

 

 

6 REASONS FOR REFUSAL 

 

 

1. The proposed development would have a significantly harmful impact on the appearance and 

character of the landscape and would harm the setting of the Cotswolds AONB in conflict with 

Policies EH1 and EH2 of the adopted West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 and advice in the 

NPPF. 

 

2. The proposed development would have a significantly harmful impact on the historic landscape 

and setting of Ramsden Conservation Area and the results of an archaeological evaluation have 

not been submitted in conflict with Policies EH9, EH10, EH13 and EH16 of the adopted West 

Oxfordshire Local  Plan 2031 and the NPPF. 

 

3. Inadequate ecological information has been submitted to assess the potential impact on 

protected and priority species and elements of the scheme including the proposed access track 

may be harmful to protected habitats including a nearby badger sett and ancient woodland.  As 

such, the proposed development is considered to be contrary to the provisions of Policy EH3 of 

the adopted West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 as well as advice in the NPPF 2021. 

 

 

4. The Flood Risk Assessment and drainage strategy submitted is inadequate to demonstrate that 

flood risk will be managed and avoided in conflict with Policy EH7 of the adopted West 

Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 and advice in the NPPF 2021. 

 

 

Contact Officer: Joan Desmond 

Telephone Number: 01993 861655 

Date: 3rd August 2022 

  

Page 39



Application Number 22/00744/OUT 

Site Address Land South Of 

Main Road 

Curbridge 

Witney 

Oxfordshire 

 

 

Date 3rd August 2022 

Officer David Ditchett 

Officer Recommendations Refuse 

Parish Curbridge Parish Council 

Grid Reference 433332 E       208519 N 

Committee Date 15th August 2022 

 

Location Map 

 

 
 

 
© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 100024316  

 

 

Application Details: 

Outline application for the provision of up to 25 dwellings (including affordable housing and self-build 

housing) and associated works with all matters reserved except the access. 

 

Page 40



Applicant Details: 

J, G, S And E Forde 

C/o Agent 

 

1 CONSULTATIONS 

 

Parish Council Curbridge Parish Council  

A 12 page document which includes tables and a map is available 

online to view. However, below is a copy of their submitted 

'Summary' page 

 

1. SUMMARY  

 

1.1. The proposed development conflicts with the guiding principles 

within the Curbridge Village Design Statement adopted by the 

Curbridge and Lew Parish Council in July 2021 and currently waiting 

adoption by West Oxfordshire District Council (WODC) (Refer to 

Appendix 1 for details). It should be noted that the Curbridge Village 

Design Statement was mentioned in the Appeal documentation for 

the Curbridge Triangle (18/01724/OUT) thereby underlining its 

validity when considering development proposals. 

 

1.2. This planning application conflicts with many of the policies held 

within the West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 (WOLP 2031), in 

particular OS2. 

 

1.3. West Oxfordshire District Council (WODC) is able to provide a 

five year housing supply as evidenced by their Housing Land Supply 

Position Statement of April 2021:- 

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/media/5vcltaww/housing-land-supply-

position-statement-2021-2026.pdf 

 

1.4. The proposal is for the development of designated agricultural 

land which has been used recently for commercial purposes and, as 

such, is potentially contaminated. Therefore, an inspection is 

recommended, and, if appropriate, remedial action taken before any 

development can take place. 

 

1.5. Access into the proposed development could be on land owned 

by Oxfordshire County Council - this will need to be clarified. The 

proposed vehicular access width to the new houses is 7.5 metres 

quickly going down to 5.5 metres. This is against government 

legislation of a minimum width of 6.1 metres. 

 

1.6. Curbridge village is already suffering from severe sewage 

problems, so until a favourable response has been received from 

Thames Water on the capacity of their proposed expansion of 

Witney Sewage Treatment Works any speculative development 

either here in Curbridge, or, elsewhere should be declined. 

 

Page 41



1.7. It is difficult to ascertain whether the proposal is located within 5 

metres of a strategic water main. Thames Water do not permit 

building over or construction within 5 metres of a strategic water 

mains. The Drainage report does make reference at Appendix D that 

measures should be taken as to the location of existing services and 

connection points are. 

 

1.8. There is no piling methodology found within the development 

proposal. 

 

1.9. Curbridge only had a weighted score of 18 in the WODC Local 

Development Framework Settlement Sustainability with only 8 

villages out of 41 villages listed lower sologically Curbridge is not 

considered to be a sustainable location 

 

1.10.There is no clear and convincing justification within this proposal 

that would outweigh the harm to Thatch Cottage (a Heritage Asset). 

 

1.11.The Ecological Report submitted as part of this proposal is 

recorded as "Preliminary" but even in it's current state appears to be 

at odds with the Ecological report submitted as part of the Curbridge 

Triangle Development Proposal (18/01724/OUT). 

 

1.12.To conclude the adverse impacts (as highlighted in the points 

above and provided in detail in the following pages) of granting 

permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits, when assessed against the policies in the National Planning 

Policy Framework taken as a whole, as well as the policies contained 

in the WOLP 2031. 

 

 

Major Planning Applications 

Team 

 08/06/2022 

 

Transport: 

No objection subject to S106 Contributions, an obligation to enter 

into a S278 agreement, planning conditions and informatives  

 

Lead Local Flood Authority: 

No objection subject to conditions 

 

 

Major Planning Applications 

Team 

14/04/2022 

 

Transport: 

Objection 

 

Lead Local Flood Authority: 

Objection 

 

 

Page 42



Education: 

No objection subject to S106 contributions 

 

Archaeology: 

No objection subject to conditions 

 

Waste: 

No objection subject to S106 contributions 

 

 

WODC Planning Policy 

Manager 

 No Comment Received. 

 

 

Conservation Officer  No Comment Received. 

 

 

WODC Env Health - Lowlands  Thank you for the opportunity to consult. 

 

I have no objection in principle to the application. When the 

application for full consent is applied for, we will require the 

following information: 

 

1. A Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) 

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. In respect to the protection of 

residential amenity and the local environment, the CEMP 

shall identify the steps and procedures that will be 

implemented to minimise the creation and impact of noise, 

vibration, dust and waste disposal resulting from the site 

preparation, groundwork and construction phases of the 

development and manage Heavy/Large Goods Vehicle 

access to the site. It shall include measures to be employed 

to prevent the egress of mud, water and other detritus onto 

the public and any non-adopted highways.  

 

2. Details of the Design and Build of the new dwellings which 

should incorporate measures to ensure that as a minimum, 

they achieve the internal and external ambient noise levels 

contained in British Standard 8233:2014 Guidance for Sound 

Insulation and Noise Reduction for Buildings (or later 

versions).  

 

 

ERS Env. Consultation Sites Thank you for consulting our team, I have looked at the application 

in relation to contaminated land and potential risk to human health. 

Given the former agricultural use of the site and the proposed 

residential use please consider adding the following condition to any 

grant of permission.  

 

Page 43



1. No development shall take place until a desk study has been 

produced to assess the nature and extent of any 

contamination, whether or not it originated on site, the 

report must include a risk assessment of potential source-

pathway-receptor linkages. If potential pollutant linkages are 

identified, a site investigation of the nature and extent of 

contamination must be carried out in accordance with a 

methodology which has previously been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 

results of the site investigation shall be made available to the 

local planning authority before any development begins. If 

any significant contamination is found during the site 

investigation, a Remediation Scheme specifying the measures 

to be taken to remediate the site to render it suitable for 

the development hereby permitted shall be submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 

before any development begins.  

 

1. 2 The Remediation Scheme, as agreed in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority, shall be fully implemented in 

accordance with the approved timetable of works and 

before the development hereby permitted is first occupied. 

Any variation to the scheme shall be agreed in writing with 

the Local Planning Authority in advance of works being 

undertaken. On completion of the works the developer 

shall submit to the Local Planning Authority a Verification 

Report confirming that all works were completed in 

accordance with the agreed details. 

 

If, during the course of development, any contamination is found 

which has not been identified in the site investigation, additional 

measures for the remediation of this contamination shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 

The remediation of the site shall incorporate the approved 

additional measures. 

Reason: To prevent pollution of the environment in the interests of 

the amenity. 

Relevant Policies: West Oxfordshire Local Planning Policy EH8 and 

Section 15 of the NPPF. 

 

 

District Ecologist No objection subject to biodiversity net gain being secured and 

conditions 

 

 

Natural England No Comment Received. 

 

 

Thames Water  Waste Comments 

Page 44



Thames Water recognises this catchment is subject to high 

infiltration flows during certain groundwater conditions. The scale of 

the proposed development doesn't materially affect the sewer 

network and as such we have no objection, however care needs to 

be taken when designing new networks to ensure they don't 

surcharge and cause flooding. In the longer term Thames Water, 

along with other partners, are working on a strategy to reduce 

groundwater entering the sewer networks. 

 

Thames Water recognises this catchment is subject to high 

infiltration flows during certain groundwater conditions. The 

developer should liaise with the LLFA to agree an appropriate 

sustainable surface water strategy following the sequential approach 

before considering connection to the public sewer network. The 

scale of the proposed development doesn't materially affect the 

sewer network and as such we have no objection, however care 

needs to be taken when designing new networks to ensure they 

don't surcharge and cause flooding. In the longer term Thames 

Water, along with other partners, are working on a strategy to 

reduce groundwater entering the sewer network. 

 

There are public sewers crossing or close to your development. If 

you're planning significant work near our sewers, it's important that 

you minimize the risk of damage. We'll need to check that your 

development doesn't limit repair or maintenance activities, or inhibit 

the services we provide in any other way. The applicant is advised to 

read our guide working near or diverting our pipes. 

https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-a-large-

site/Planning-your-development/Working-near-or-diverting-our-

pipes. 

 

Thames Water would advise that with regard to FOUL WATER 

sewerage network infrastructure capacity, we would not have any 

objection to the above planning application, based on the information 

provided. 

 

 

Water Comments. 

On the basis of information provided, Thames Water would advise 

that with regard to water network infrastructure capacity, we would 

not have any objection to the above planning application. Thames 

Water recommend the following informative be attached to this 

planning permission. Thames Water will aim to provide customers 

with a minimum pressure of 10m head (approx 1 bar) and a flow rate 

of 9 litres/minute at the point where it leaves Thames Waters pipes.  

The developer should take account of this minimum pressure in the 

design of the proposed development. 

 

The proposed development is located within 5m of a strategic water 

main. Thames Water do NOT permit the building over or 

Page 45



construction within 5m, of strategic water mains. Thames Water 

request that the following condition be added to any planning 

permission. No construction shall take place within 5m of the water 

main. Information detailing how the developer intends to divert the 

asset / align the development, so as to prevent the potential for 

damage to subsurface potable water infrastructure, must be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority 

in consultation with Thames Water. Any construction must be 

undertaken in accordance with the terms of the approved 

information. Unrestricted access must be available at all times for the 

maintenance and repair of the asset during and after the construction 

works. Reason: The proposed works will be in close proximity to 

underground strategic water main, utility infrastructure. The works 

has the potential to impact on local underground water utility 

infrastructure. Please read our guide 'working near our assets' to 

ensure your workings will be in line with the necessary processes 

you need to follow if you're considering working above or near our 

pipes or other structures. 

https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-a-large-

site/Planning-your-development/Working-near-or-diverting-our-pipes 

Should you require further information please contact Thames 

Water. Email: developer.services@thameswater.co.uk. 

 

 

Supplementary Comments 

 

Response is based on discharge via gravity and MH connection point 

at: SP33083602. If this is not correct then Thames Water need to be 

informed. 

 

 

WODC - Arts  No Comment Received. 

 

 

WODC - Sports  No objection. Financial contribution required. 

 

 

Climate  No Comment Received. 

 

 

WODC Landscape And 

Forestry Officer 

 No Comment Received. 

 

 

2 REPRESENTATIONS 

 

2.1 A summary of the representations received are detailed below. Full details can be found on the 

Council's website. 

 

1 support comment received  

 

Page 46



1 general comment received relating to:  

 

1. The provision of the bus stop; 

2. Road crossing; and 

3. Need for the bus stop 

 

 

51 third party objections received relating to:  

 

1. Lack of infrastructure and services; 

2. Highway Safety; 

3. Lack of need for the homes; 

4. Harm to landscape; 

5. Harm to village setting; 

6. Unsustainable location; 

7. Not sustainable development; 

8. Loss of green space; 

9. 25 homes is too many; 

10. Flooding; 

11. The last two years current owners have decided to make it into a builders yard saying it has 

always been a builders yard this is not the case; 

12. Poor access; 

13. Impact to wildlife; 

14. Pressure on water supply and sewers; 

15. Contrary to policy; 

16. Overdevelopment; 

17. At odds with the Curbridge Village Design Statement; 

18. Impact to existing cycle and pedestrian routes; 

19. Not limited development; 

20. Harm to village character; 

21. Drainage; 

22. The village is essentially low density and this proposal is not; 

23. Should be smaller and limited to linear shape; 

24. No mains gas supply to the village and the electricity supply is often interrupted; 

25. Light pollution; 

26. Garden flooded with raw sewage; 

27. Loss of PRoW; 

28. There has never been any planning application for a builders yard; 

29. Location of site notice; 

30. Enough homes built nearby already; 

31. Site is a peaceful buffer against the traffic and fumes from Bampton Road; 

32. Previously used as occasional grazing it is only over the past few years that it has become the 

eyesore that it is currently; 

33. Impact to protected species; 

34. Noise pollution; 

35. Loss of linear pattern of development; 

36. Loss of green space; 

37. The original barn has a tin roof which has been reported to the police due to the danger of it's 

condition; 

38. Loss of views; 

Page 47



39. Loss of daylight; 

40. Not previously developed land; 

41. Too dense; 

42. Poor design; 

43. Impact to listed building; 

44. Land is agricultural; 

45. Doubts accuracy of submission documents;  

46. Speculative development; and  

47. Noise, disturbance and inconvenience arising from the construction 

 

3 APPLICANT'S CASE 

 

3.1 Having regard to relevant Development Plan policies and advice in the National Planning Policy 

Framework, the Statement has demonstrated:  

 

3.2 That the principle of the proposed development is acceptable - representing a 

proportionate/limited form of development in Curbridge that respects, and complements, the 

established settlement pattern and does not result in the loss an important area of open space;  

 

3.3 That the proposals would deliver an appropriate mix and range of housing, including affordable 

housing and self-build housing;  

 

3.4 That the proposals would appropriately respect the wider character and appearance of the area;  

 

3.5 That the extent of proposed development is such that an appropriate scheme could come 

forward at Reserved Matters State that (a) does not impact adversely on the amenities of 

neighbouring residential properties, (b) does not detract from the enjoyment/amenities of users 

of the public right of way, and (c) provides a highquality living environment for future occupiers;  

 

3.6 That there would be no adverse impact on existing trees and vegetation, with the proposed 

landscape framework - which would come forward at Reserved Matters stage - ensuring that 

the development is appropriately integrated in to the area;  

 

3.7 That there are no highways, access or parking constraints for the development, with the scheme 

representing a sustainable form of development in transportation terms;  

 

3.8 That the proposals are compliant with flood risk policy;  

 

3.9 That there are no ecological constraints to the proposed development;  

 

3.10 That the relationship with surrounding designated heritage assets is such that any scheme 

coming forward at Reserved Matters stage would not result in a loss of significance to the 

setting of the designated heritage asset(s); and  

 

3.11 That the scheme would deliver a range of benefits that weigh positively in the overall planning 

balance. 

 

3.12 Accordingly, it is considered that the proposals would fully comply with relevant Development 

Plan policy and advice in the Framework and that planning permission should be granted 

accordingly. 

Page 48



 

3.13 Furthermore, and notwithstanding the above, the Council acknowledge that they are on the 

'cusp' of being unable to demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites and, indeed, 

there are a number of assumptions in the latest Housing Supply Position Statement and 

unevidenced assertions that suggest the deliverable position is already subfive years. In that 

event, the 'tilted' planning balance is engaged and for the reasons set out, such position lends 

significant weigh/support in favour of the proposed development. 

 

 

4 PLANNING POLICIES 

 

OS1NEW Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

OS2NEW Locating development in the right places 

OS3NEW Prudent use of natural resources 

OS4NEW High quality design 

OS5NEW Supporting infrastructure 

H1NEW Amount and distribution of housing 

H2NEW Delivery of new homes 

H3NEW Affordable Housing 

H4NEW Type and mix of new homes 

H5NEW Custom and self build housing 

EH2 Landscape character 

EH3 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

EH7 Flood risk 

EH8 Environmental protection 

EH9 Historic environment 

EH11 Listed Buildings 

EH12 Traditional Buildings 

EH13 Historic landscape character 

EH14 Registered historic parks and gardens 

EH15 Scheduled ancient monuments 

EH16 Non designated heritage assets 

T1NEW Sustainable transport 

T2NEW Highway improvement schemes 

T3NEW Public transport, walking and cycling 

T4NEW Parking provision 

DESGUI West Oxfordshire Design Guide 

NPPF 2021 

The National Planning Policy framework (NPPF) is also a material planning consideration.  

 

PLANNING ASSESSMENT 

 

5.1 The proposal is an outline application for the provision of up to 25 dwellings (including 

affordable housing and self-build housing) and associated works with all matters reserved except 

access.  

 

5.2 The site is located on the south-western side of Main Road, at its junction with Bampton Road, 

and comprises an irregularly shaped parcel of land extending to an area of approximately 1.5 

hectares.  

 

Page 49



5.3 A previous pre application response (21/01921/PREAPP) noted that the site 'has a predominant 

use for agriculture/equine purposes, albeit the north eastern section contains a range of 

buildings and areas of hardstanding connected with a builders' yard use of this part of the site'. 

On a site visit in April 2022, this officer noted that the field was open and did not see a stable, a 

menege, paraphernalia such jumps, horseboxes, manure clamps, troughs etc. or hardstanding 

that would indicate that the site was in an equestrian use. Furthermore, no planning permission 

exists to reflect an equestrian use. The open section (the majority of the site) is therefore in 

agricultural use.  

 

5.4 With regard to the builders yard reference. The LPA has served an enforcement notice (ref 

21/00034/PENF) for the unauthorised change of use and siting of storage containers, skips, 

plumbing equipment, builders materials, timber, fencing, hardcore, topsoil, gypsy caravan and 

non- agricultural vehicles. The applicant is appealing that enforcement notice with the Planning 

Inspectorate (ref APP/D3125/C/22/3295096). As this use appears to be unlawful, with an 

enforcement notice served, and as this is being appealed, the LPA takes the view that the area 

referred to as a 'builder’s yard' is also in agricultural use.  

 

5.5 The site is bounded on most sides by hedgerow, trees and vegetation. Sporadic fencing is also 

present around the site. No trees are present within the site itself.  

 

5.6 Public Right of Way (PROW) (ref 185/7/10) runs in a north easterly direction along the 

northern boundary (within) the site.  

 

5.7 Curbridge does not have a conservation area. However, the Grade II Listed Building 'Thatched 

Cottage' abuts the northern boundary of the site. In addition, a single storey stone barn is 

present in the northern section of the site, backing on to 'Longs Cottage'. Historic OS maps 

from 1899-1905 show a linear building in the location of the barn, so the building may be of 

some age. However, on a site visit, officers noted that the roof was metal sheeting (not historic) 

and the general condition of the building is quite poor. As such, while the building may retain 

some historic interest, it is not considered to be a non-designated heritage asset in its own right.  

 

5.8 The site is within flood zone 1.  

 

5.9 A Village Design Statement is being prepared locally to guide development in Curbridge but has 

not been adopted by the District Council as a Supplementary Planning Document 

 

5.10 There is no relevant planning history associated with the site itself. However, the adjoining site 

to the north/west does have planning history (application ref 18/01724/OUT). The description 

of development for 18/01724/OUT read 'Outline application for the erection of up to 85 

dwellings  including 40% affordable and 3 x self-build plots with associated landscaping, public 

open space and enhancements to the children's play area, 2 x footpaths and 1 x footbridge and 

the provision of land for D1 use, vehicular access from Bampton Road, pedestrian and cycle 

access from Well Lane and car parking and limited residential vehicular access from Main Road 

(all matters reserved other than access)'.   

 

5.11 That application was refused by the Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee in December 2018 

for the following reasons:  

 

1. The proposal is for significant, and more than limited, housing development on a greenfield site beyond 

the existing settlement boundary of Curbridge. The site is therefore in the countryside. The development 

Page 50



is not required to meet Local Plan housing requirements and would not constitute an acceptable windfall 

opportunity in the context of the location, site characteristics, and a very low 5 year windfall allowance. 

The proposal would not form a logical complement to the existing scale and pattern of development in 

this location, it would fail to protect or enhance the local landscape and the setting of the village, it 

would involve the loss of an area of open space that makes a positive contribution to the character of 

the area, and would fail to conserve the natural environment. There would therefore be an unacceptably 

harmful impact on the character and appearance of the area. This would be compounded by loss of 

hedgerow on the site frontage to Bampton Road and the urbanising effects of the site access. The 

development is inconsistent with the linear pattern of development in Curbridge and would not 

contribute to local distinctiveness. There are no material considerations that indicate that the 

development plan should not be followed. The proposal is thus contrary to West Oxfordshire Local Plan 

2031 Policies H2, EH2, OS2 and OS4, paragraphs 12, 127, and 170 of the NPPF, and the West 

Oxfordshire Design Guide.  and 

 

2. The applicant has not entered into a legal agreement or agreements to secure the provision of: 

affordable housing; self-build housing plots; sport and leisure; public transport; education; community 

benefits; public art; primary healthcare; and ecological and landscape management. The local planning 

authority cannot therefore be satisfied that the impacts of the development can be made acceptable. 

Consequently, the proposal conflicts with West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 Policy H3, EH3, EH5, T3 

and OS5 and paragraphs 54 and 56 of the NPPF.  

 

5.12 The Planning Inspectorate dismissed the appeal for 18/01724/OUT on 03/01/2020 concluding 

that  

 

40. Whilst the effect on the wider landscape would be minimal, the proposal would cause significant 

harm to the character and appearance of the area, in particular on the form and character of Curbridge 

village. Notwithstanding the design quality of the scheme, the scale and form of the proposal in relation 

to its village context would conflict with the housing strategy of the WOLP and the development plan 

when considered as a whole.  

 

41. The proposal would provide up to 85 dwellings (40% affordable) including three self-build plots. 

These would have important economic and social benefits and make a useful contribution to market and 

affordable housing needs in the area. These benefits should therefore be afforded considerable weight, 

together with the other more local benefits for the village of Curbridge set out in paragraph 39. 

However, whilst significant, these material considerations are not sufficient to outweigh the conflict with 

the development plan and the harm that has been identified under the first main issue.  

 

42. Having regard to the above the appeal should be dismissed. 

 

5.13 Taking into account planning policy, other material considerations and the representations of 

interested parties, officers are of the opinion that the key considerations of the application are: 

 

 Principle of Development; 

 Siting, Design, Form and Landscape Impact; 

 Heritage Impacts; 

 Archaeology; 

 Highway Safety; 

 Drainage and Flood Risk; 

 Trees and Ecology; 

 Residential Amenities; 

Page 51



 Public Rights of Way (PROW);  

 Sustainability; 

 S106 matters; and 

 Conclusion and Planning Balance 

 

Principle of Development 

 

5.14 Policy OS2 sets out the overall strategy on the location of development for the District. It 

adopts a hierarchal approach, with the majority of new development focused on the main 

service centres of Witney, Carterton and Chipping Norton, followed by the rural service 

centres of Bampton, Burford, Charlbury, Eynsham, Long Hanborough, Woodstock and the new 

Oxfordshire Cotswolds Garden Village (now referred to as Salt Cross).  

 

5.15 Curbridge is identified as a 'village' in the settlement hierarchy of the Local Plan and policy OS2 

states 'The villages are suitable for limited development which respects the village character and 

local distinctiveness and would help to maintain the vitality of these communities'. 

 

5.16 The NPPF defines previously developed land as 'Land which is or was occupied by a permanent 

structure, including the curtilage of the developed land…...and any associated fixed surface 

infrastructure. This excludes: land that is or was last occupied by agricultural or forestry 

buildings'. As explained, officers consider the entire site to be in agricultural use. As the land 

adjoins the built up area of Curbridge and is agricultural (not previously developed land), the site 

is considered to be 'undeveloped land adjoining the built up area' for the purposes of Policy H2. 

 

5.17 Local Plan Policy H2 states 'new dwellings will be permitted at the main service centres, rural 

service centres and villages in the following circumstances……. 

 

On undeveloped land adjoining the built up area where convincing evidence is presented to 

demonstrate that it is necessary to meet identified housing needs, it is in accordance with the 

distribution of housing set out in Policy H1 and is in accordance with other policies in the plan in 

particular the general principles in Policy OS2'. 

 

5.18 Policy H2 would permit new homes on undeveloped land adjoining the built up area where 

there is convincing evidence to demonstrate it is necessary to meet identified housing needs, it 

is in accordance with the distribution of housing (in Policy H1) and it is in accordance with the 

other local plan policies, particularly Policy OS2. 

 

5.19 The Council has recently undertaken a review of the current situation (December 2021) and 

concludes it has a 5.3 year supply. Footnote 8 and Paragraph 11 of the NPPF therefore is not 

triggered; the local plan policies which are most important for determining the application are 

not out-of-date and can be afforded full weight.  Furthermore, the Housing Delivery Test 

(updated 14 January 2022) found from 2018-2021 West Oxfordshire required 1420 homes and 

delivered 2767. A Housing Delivery Test 2021 measurement of 195%.  

 

5.20 The proposal also includes the conversion of a barn building to form 1 dwelling. Local Plan 

Policy E3 supports the re-use of traditional buildings for employment, tourism and community 

uses to support the rural economy but does not support the conversion to a dwelling. As the 

site is undeveloped land adjoining the built up area, policies OS2 and H2 do not contain any 

mechanisms to convert this building to a dwelling either. Point 6.46 of the Local Plan explains 'In 

accordance with the overall strategy, conversion of existing buildings to residential use is more 

Page 52



appropriate within our service centres and villages with services and facilities (see Policy H2). 

Elsewhere, re-use for employment, tourism or community uses is generally more suitable than 

residential use'. As such, there is an in principle objection to its conversion to a dwelling.  

 

5.21 As explained, housing is supported on this site where there is convincing evidence to 

demonstrate it is necessary to meet identified housing needs. The addition of 25 homes, in the 

context of a 5.3 year housing land supply is not required to meet housing needs. Officers note 

that the applicant also proposes up to 10 affordable homes and 3 of the private/market housing 

would be available for self-build purposes. While this provision may meet some identified 

housing needs, H2 requires that development proposals be in accordance with the other local 

plan policies, particularly Policy OS2. As such, the proposal shall be assessed against the general 

principles of Policy OS2 in more detail below.  

 

Siting, Design, Form and Landscape Impact 

 

5.22 Paragraph 130 of the NPPF is clear that development proposals should function well and add to 

the overall quality of the area; are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and 

appropriate and effective landscaping; are sympathetic to local character and history including 

the surrounding built environment and landscape setting and create places that are safe, inclusive 

and accessible and have a high standard of amenity for existing and future users.   

 

5.23 Policies OS4 (High quality design) and EH2 (Landscape character) each require the character of 

the area to be respected and enhanced. The importance of achieving high quality design is 

reinforced in the NPPF.  

 

5.24 Policy OS2 sets out general principles for all development. Of particular relevance to this 

proposal is that it should:  

 

Be of a proportionate and appropriate scale to its context having regard to the potential 

cumulative impact of development in the locality; 

Form a logical complement to the existing scale and pattern of development and/or the 

character of the area; 

Avoid the coalescence and loss of identity of separate settlements; 

As far as reasonably possible protect or enhance the local landscape and its setting of the 

settlement; 

Not involve the loss of an area of open space or any other feature that makes an important 

contribution to the character or appearance of the area; 

Conserve and enhance the natural, historic and built environment; and 

Be supported by all the necessary infrastructure. 

 

5.25 As noted under Policy OS2, Curbridge is suitable for suitable for limited development which 

respects the village character and local distinctiveness. It is relevant to note that these three 

criteria were a key consideration for the Inspector in determining a planning appeal for 85 new 

homes on the adjacent land to the west. In respect of the first criteria regarding scale, the 

Inspector concluded that 85 homes (a nearly 40% increase in the current number of dwellings in 

the village) would 'be disproportionate and inappropriate in terms of scale to its context' and 

that constructed over a relatively short period, 'the proposal would result in an excessive 

increase in the size of the village and would appear out of scale in relation to it'.  

 

Page 53



5.26 This application proposes up to 25 dwellings, which would represent an 11% increase in the 

existing number of homes at Curbridge. Whilst the term 'limited' is not defined in the Plan, it is 

the view of officers that the addition up to 25 dwellings would not be more than limited when 

considering numbers alone. However, the scheme must also form 'a logical complement to the 

village and respect the existing pattern of development'.  

 

5.27 The proposal would fundamentally change the existing form and thus character of the village 

which comprises linear development along Main Road, turning the corner into Well Lane and 

then along Bampton Road. This latter section consists of a looser knit stretch of development 

but like the other two comprises mainly frontage buildings with some at right angles or along 

short tracks to the side. By contrast, the proposed development would comprise a large and 

deep housing estate, forming a cul-de-sac, which reaches into the landscape, well beyond the 

existing built form.  

 

5.28 The application site contributes to the rural ambience on the approach to Curbridge from the 

Bampton Road and this would be adversely affected. The proposal would essentially turn a linear 

village into a more nucleated one. Officers consider that the scheme would not therefore form 

a logical complement to the existing pattern of development contrary to the second general 

principle in Policy OS2. 

 

5.29 In addition to not forming a logical complement to the existing pattern of development, previous 

decisions have identified the land between Well Lane and Main Road to be 'open space that 

makes an important contribution to the character of the village' (para 23 of the appeal). It stands 

to reason that the application site, being between Well Lane and Main Road, also contributes to 

the rural character of the village.  

 

5.30 The development site forms part of a wedge of open land, which separates the development 

along Well Lane from that along Main Road. The two fields are fairly featureless in themselves 

and overlooked by existing built development but their gentle slopes, boundary hedgerows and 

the riparian vegetation along Elm Bank Ditch combine to form a pleasant rural area within the 

heart of the village.  

 

5.31 While the development site is not designated as 'public open space' it does have a Public Right of 

Way running through the entire site and the views from this PRoW would be fundamentally 

changed by introducing built form adjacent to a 100m stretch of the route. Thereby urbanising 

this rural area and significantly altering the experience of those who walk along the PRoW. 

 

5.32 Whilst a large amount of the 'wedge' would be retained, as this scheme would infill a corner 

portion of this open area and in a deep fashion. It would obscure views beyond the development 

into the wedge that remains, arguably increasing the appearance of the urbanisation of the site.  

 

5.33 The proposal would involve the loss of an area of open space that makes an important 

contribution to the character of the village, conflicting with another general principle of OS2.  

 

5.34 The proposal does not respect the village character and local distinctiveness; it would not form 

a logical complement to the existing scale and pattern of development or the character of the 

area; would not protect the local landscape or setting of Curbridge; and would involve the loss 

of an area of green space that makes an important contribution to the character and appearance 

of the area.  

 

Page 54



5.35 The proposal does not accord with the provisions of Policy OS2 of the Local Plan with regards 

to matters of character and appearance. Furthermore, the scheme would conflict with Policies 

OS4 and EH2 of the Local Plan, which, amongst other things, requires that development be of 

high quality design which contributes to local distinctiveness and conserves natural features.  

 

Heritage Impacts 

 

5.36 The grade II listed Building 'Thatched Cottage' abuts the northern boundary of the site and the 

development may affect its setting. The Local Planning Authority is therefore statutorily required 

to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building, its setting, and any features 

of special architectural or historic interest it may possess, in accordance with Section 66(1) of 

the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

 

5.37 Local Plan Policies EH9 (Historic environment) and EH11 (Listed Buildings) are applicable to the 

scheme.  

 

5.38 Section 16, in particular paragraphs 197, 199, 200, 202 and 203 of the National Planning Policy 

Framework (NPPF) are also applicable. Paragraph 202 is particularly relevant as this states 

'where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a 

designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the 

proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use'. 

 

5.39 With regard to the impact to Thatched Cottage. The applicants planning statement (7.44) notes 

that 'the principal special interest of the building derives from its age, materials and architectural 

composition' and officers agree with this statement. However planning statement goes on to 

state 'the wider location of the site (and its setting) contributing little to its special interest'. 

Officers strongly disagree with this conclusion.  

 

5.40 Historic OS maps from 1875-1887 show Thatched Cottage to be part of a semi-detached pair 

with open land stretching in depth to the south. This open area (the development site) has 

remained open through the OS maps iterations between 1875 and today. While Curbridge site 

has urbanised to the north and north west, the land to south and south west of the listed 

building has remained open and formed part of the landscape surrounding the listed building for 

at least 147 years. As such, officers consider that the rural setting of Thatched Cottage 

contributes to its significance as a listed building and this setting would be significantly altered by 

the urbanisation of the land, causing harm to its setting. This harm is considered to be less than 

substantial.  

 

5.41 For clarity, three Grade II listed buildings are also present to the north of Thatched Cottage 

(Charity Farm, Charity Barn, and Manor Farm). The rural nature of the development site also 

contributes to their settings. However, when considering that they sit on the northern side of 

Main Road separated from the site by the highway (and have been separated since at least 1875), 

are a minimum of 77m from the development site and that sporadic built form exists between 

those listed buildings and the development site. Officers consider that the immediate rural 

setting of those listed buildings is predominately to the north, east and west and to a lesser 

degree, the south. Therefore, while the proposed scheme will affect their settings too, it is not 

considered to be harmful.   

 

5.42 Officers have identified harm to the setting of Thatched Cottage by virtue of the loss of its 

agricultural setting. This harm is considered to be 'less than substantial'. Paragraph 202 of the 

Page 55



NPPF states 'where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the 

significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public 

benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.'  

 

5.43 In terms of public benefits. The proposed development would add up to 25 dwellings to West 

Oxfordshire Council housing stock. While WODC can demonstrate a five year supply of 

deliverable housing land, this is not a supply ceiling and officers are mindful of the Government's 

objective of significantly boosting the supply of homes (paragraph 60 of the NPPF).  

 

5.44 Of the up to 25 dwellings, 40% (up to 10 homes) would be affordable homes. In addition, the 

planning statement notes that 3 self-build dwellings are proposed. The provision of self-build and 

affordable dwellings will help to meet the Councils need for these units.   

 

5.45 Economic benefits will arise from the construction of the development and economic benefits 

for Witney and the wider area are likely from the increase in population. However, these are 

commensurate with the scale of development.  

 

5.46 In light of the less than substantial harm found to the setting of the Thatched Cottage. Officers 

are satisfied, on balance, that the public benefits of the new homes (including the addition of self-

build and affordable homes) and the economic public benefits found, outweigh the less 

substantial harm found to the conservation area.   

 

5.47 The proposal therefore accords with Local Plan Policies EH9 and EH11, and the NPPF insofar as 

they apply to the impact of the proposed development on listed buildings; and Section 66(1) of 

the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

 

Archaeology 

 

5.48 Local Plan Policies EH9 (Historic environment), EH15 (Scheduled monuments and other 

nationally important archaeological remains), EH16 (Non-designated heritage assets) and OS4 

(High quality design) all seek to conserve archaeology. Policy EH9 is clear in that 'archaeological 

remains…….are also irreplaceable, the presumption will be in favour of the avoidance of harm 

or loss'. 

 

5.49 The County Council Archaeologist commented that the site is located in an area of 

archaeological interest to the south of a Roman settlement and cemetery excavated in the 

1970s and 1980s. The excavation recorded 30 inhumations dating between c110AD and 310AD 

along with evidence of Roman occupation. A recent geophysical survey undertaken 500m south 

of the proposed development site has recorded a series of enclosures and linear features, which 

are thought to date to the later prehistoric period.  

 

5.50 It is therefore likely that further archaeological features related to the later prehistoric and 

Roman settlement of the area could survive on the site and would be impacted by this 

development. A programme of archaeological evaluation and mitigation will therefore need to 

be undertaken ahead of any development of the site. The County Council Archaeologist is 

satisfied that this could be conditioned and officers have no reason to disagree. Should 

permission be granted, these could be applied as set out in the consultee comments.  

 

 

 

Page 56



 

Highway Safety 

 

5.51 This application is in outline with all matters reserved except access and the access will involve 

the formalisation of the existing entrance.  

 

5.52 OCC Highways initially objected to the scheme as the pedestrian route connecting to Main 

Road is inadequate. This was subsequently amended and OCC removed their objection. 

Further, they are satisfied with the development as a whole. However, they have noted the 

following points. 

 

 Visibility around the junction is adequate, although the 60m visibility splay to the west is 

disputed as it is obstructed by numerous trees and a stone wall; 

 S106 Contributions required for public transport services, public transport 

infrastructure (if not dealt with under s278/s38 agreement), and Public Rights of Way; 

 There is an off-road cycletrack near to the development, running along the west side of 

Bampton Road which connects into the wider cycle network; 

 A financial contribution is requested for provision of a bus shelter at the eastbound 

Manor Farm stop and two new Premium Route standard poles, flags and timetable 

cases; 

 Pedestrian facilities link the site to the Bampton Road footway; 

 The walking route along the western edge of the site, along PRoW 185/7/10, is 

extremely narrow where it passes between houses and has two high stone stiles, 

meaning that it is not a feasible path for many people; 

 The PRoW network outside of the site will be placed under greater pressure as a result 

of the development, so a S106 contribution will be requested to plan and deliver 

improvements with third party landowners in a reasonable time period and under the 

Rights of Way Management Plan aims; 

 The PRoW needs to be connected at the north-west corner of the site to ensure 

connectivity and permeability; 

 Two allocated parking spaces per unit (or one per one-bedroom) will be acceptable; 

 The level of cycle parking proposed in the TS for visitors is just about in accordance 

with the Oxfordshire Cycling Design Standards and is correct for residents; 

 There will be a modest level of trip generation associated with the current site use, 

which has been estimated in Table 2.1. Future trips resulting from the proposed 

development will be small in relation to the current flows on surrounding roads, 

meaning that there will be no demonstrable highway safety or congestion impacts; and 

 Conditions and informatives are suggested.  

 

5.53 The application is in outline and seeks to approve an access to the site and OCC Highways are 

satisfied with the access, as proposed and the likely highway safety impacts. The remaining 

points raised could be controlled at reserved matters stage and condition discharge submissions, 

through an appropriately worded clause in the planning obligation, and to enter into a S278 

agreement and a S38 agreement to mitigate the impact of the development. As such the 

development is safe in highway safety terms and there are no highway grounds for refusal. 

However, the applicant has not entered into a S106 agreement and this is addressed further in 

this report.  

 

 

 

Page 57



 

Drainage and Flood Risk 

 

5.54 The site is within flood zone 1. The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) at OCC have raised no 

objections to the scheme and a surface water drainage scheme condition is recommended.  

 

5.55 Thames Water (TWA) have also raised no objection however they explain that 'the proposed 

development is located within 5m of a strategic water main. Thames Water do NOT permit the 

building over or construction within 5m, of strategic water mains'. A restrictive condition is 

required ensuring that no construction shall take place within 5m of the water main and this will 

be applied, should the application be approved.  

 

5.56 Neighbour comments demonstrate that parts of the site is subject to localised surface water 

flooding. However, the relevant specialists at TWA and OCC have not raised any objections to 

the scheme. In the absence of evidence to the contrary, officers are satisfied that while the site 

does flood in places occasionally, it would be possible to introduce measures to alleviate this by 

way of an engineering solution and this does not constitute a reason for refusal in this instance. 

 

5.57 Officers note the number of comments received relating to foul drainage (sewerage) issues in 

the area. TWA have commented on this aspect of the scheme and are satisfied that there is 

capacity in the foul water sewerage network to accommodate the needs of the development. 

Officers are aware that this issue is an inconvenience; however, it does not form a refusal 

reason in this instance and there are no objections in regards to foul drainage.   

 

5.58 As the proposed dwellings will be in flood zone 1 and in light of the views of the relevant 

specialists. Officers are satisfied that the proposed development will not increase risk of flooding 

at the site or elsewhere.  

 

Trees and Ecology 

 

5.59 Local Plan Policy EH3 (Biodiversity and geodiversity) states 'the biodiversity of West 

Oxfordshire shall be protected and enhanced to achieve an overall net gain in biodiversity and 

minimise impacts on geodiversity'. 

 

5.60 Paragraph 180 of the NPPF sets out a clear hierarchy for proposals affecting biodiversity. The 

hierarchy is to firstly, avoid harm; secondly, where this is not possible, to mitigate any harm on-

site; thirdly, as a last resort, to compensate for any residual harm. 

 

5.61 The submitted ecological survey found that the site is predominantly semi-improved grassland 

which was relatively botanically diverse, but no rare or notable vascular plants were recorded, 

and all species were common and widespread. There were no invasive or notifiable species. 

 

5.62 A total of eight species of bird were observed during the visit by the applicants ecologist, of 

which two were Species of High Conservation Concern (RSPB Red list) with these being Swift 

and Swallow and one was a Species of Medium Conservation Concern (RSPB Amber list); 

Dunnock. The rest were all Species of Low Conservation Concern (RSPB Green list). Two in-

use birds' nests were found inside the building; Robin and Swallow. The hedgerow also provided 

suitable habitat for nesting. 

 

Page 58



5.63 None of the trees around the boundaries of the site supported features such as decay cavities, 

woodpecker holes, fissures and exfoliating bark, that would be considered suitable for bat 

roosting and/or hibernation. The building was also assessed for bats, and was found to not have 

any signs of bat use or suitability for roosting bats. The site was thought to be of low value to 

foraging or commuting bats, as it was mostly mown grassland. 

 

5.64 There were no signs of Badger activity within the site, nor signs of any other mammals. 

 

5.65 The site was considered unsuitable for Great Crested Newts, as there was no permanent still 

water, the only wetland feature being a shallow wet ditch with flowing water that had recently 

been cleared out. There were no permanent refuge as building materials which were being 

moved frequently. Reptiles are also unlikely to be encountered, as the grassland was mown and 

there were limited basking areas. 

 

5.66 The impact to birds can be mitigated and controlled by conditions and no other protected 

species are present. While some open space is retained and planting and SuDs proposed, the 

development of this open area will result in biodiversity loss.  

 

5.67 Natural England were consulted and they did not comment.  

 

5.68 Impact to trees is acceptable with the application of suitable tree protection/replacement 

measures.   

 

5.69 The development would lead to a reduction in biodiversity value at the site and it is unlikely that 

full on-site mitigation is achievable. Compensation for residual harm is therefore required. In this 

regard, although The Environment Act 2021 has now passed, secondary legislation is required 

for it to be implemented. Therefore, the 10% biodiversity net gain requirement set out in the 

Act is not yet law. Furthermore, Local Plan Policy EH3 and Paragraph 174 of the Framework, 

both seek a net gain in biodiversity without identifying a specific percentage. The applicant has 

stated that they are willing to agree off site biodiversity net gain through S106 financial 

contributions, but they have not specified an amount of net gain at this stage. Nonetheless, the 

impacts can be controlled by conditions and net gain can be achieved.  

 

5.70 Overall, the proposals would meet the biodiversity hierarchy as set out in Paragraph 180 of the 

NPPF. This is subject to further details that could be controlled at reserved matters and 

condition discharge submissions, and through an appropriately worded clause in the planning 

obligation. As such, the proposals would not have an unacceptable effect on biodiversity and the 

proposal accords with Policy EH3 in that regard. Indeed, arguably, while off site, the scheme is 

likely to improve biodiversity value when taken holistically.  

 

Residential Amenities 

 

5.71 As this application is outline, the size, position, orientation of dwellings are not being assessed. 

However, noise and disturbance can be considered. Objectors have referred to noise, 

disturbance and inconvenience arising from the construction of the proposed development. 

Such impacts are relatively short lived and can be mitigated by adherence to an agreed 

construction management plan. 

 

Page 59



5.72 With regard to contaminated land and potential risk to human health. The WODC Technical 

Officer (Contamination) recommends that a desk study and if required, a remediation scheme 

be secured by condition and this can be applied.  

 

5.73 At this stage, officers do not have any concerns with regard to the impact to residential 

amenities from the development. Further assessment would be undertaken at the reserved 

matters stage.  

 

Public Rights of Way 

 

5.74 A Public Right of Way runs through and adjacent to the site. The indicative plan that is 

submitted to support the application shows that the PRoW would be retained within the 

development. As such, this connectivity would not be lost.  

 

5.75 Officers note that the PRoW would likely be inaccessible during the construction phase. 

However, this would be a short term impact. Officers are satisfied therefore that the proposed 

scheme would not result in the loss of the Public Right of Way and the connectivity to the wider 

PROW network would be retained.  

 

Sustainability 

 

5.76 A sustainability assessment has been provided to the applicant; however, no response has been 

received and the proposed scheme has not been revised as a result. The application is for 

outline consent; however, further commitments are sought from the applicant to consider and 

achieve higher sustainability standards at the detailed design stage, than are currently being 

proposed.  

 

S106 matters 

 

5.77 Policy OS5 of the Local Plan seeks to ensure that new development delivers or contributes 

towards the provision of essential supporting infrastructure and Policy T3 states that new 

development will be expected to contribute towards the provision of new and/or enhanced 

public transport, walking and cycling infrastructure to help encourage modal shift and promote 

healthier lifestyles.   

 

5.78 Policy H3 requires that 40% of the homes are provided as affordable housing. The applicant 

proposes 40% Affordable Delivery on Site. 

 

5.79 The Leisure Team in respect of Sport and Recreation provision requires £ 44,750 off-site 

contribution towards sports facilities within the catchment.  

 

5.80 OCC Education has requested contributions of £ 155,952 for secondary education.  

 

5.81 OCC seeks Household Waste Recycling Centre Contribution of £2,349.  

 

5.82 OCC seeks £ 28,325 towards public transport services (The provision of public transport 

services in Curbridge).  

 

5.83 OCC seeks £ 15,000 towards Public Rights of Way (Improvements to the Public Rights of Way 

in the vicinity of the development)  

Page 60



 

5.84 OCC seeks £ 17,842 towards public transport infrastructure (if not dealt with under S278/S38 

agreement) (Provision of a bus shelter and two poles, flags and timetable cases).  

 

5.85 OCC require the Applicant to enter into a S278 agreement and a S38 agreement to mitigate the 

impact of the development.  

 

5.86 Biodiversity net gain target to be met via a financial contribution to meet the requirements of 

EH3 and the NPPF.  

 

5.87 The applicant has not entered into a legal agreement or agreements to secure the provision of 

affordable housing; or contributions to sport and leisure; public transport services and 

infrastructure; Public Rights of Way; education; waste; or biodiversity net gain. The proposal 

conflicts with West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 Policies H3, EH3, EH5, T1, T3 and OS5. 

 

Conclusion and Planning Balance 

 

5.88 The proposed development would harm the setting of Thatched Cottage by virtue of the loss of 

the agricultural setting. However, officers are satisfied, on balance, that the public benefits of the 

new homes (including the addition of self-build and affordable homes) and the economic public 

benefits found, outweigh the less substantial harm found to the setting of Thatched Cottage.  

 

5.89 The proposed development would result in economic benefits to the local area during the 

construction phase and when the development is occupied by future residents by increasing the 

spending power in the area. Financial contributions to local services/infrastructure through a 

Section 106 agreement is also a positive impact. Overall, these attract significant weight.   

 

5.90 There would be a loss of on-site biodiversity. However, subject to control through reserved 

matters and condition discharge submissions, and through an appropriately worded clause in the 

planning obligation, biodiversity net gain could be achieved. This attracts modest weight 

commensurate with the scale of development.  

 

5.91 The applicant has not entered into a legal agreement or agreements to secure the provision of 

affordable housing; or contributions to sport and leisure; public transport services and 

infrastructure; Public Rights of Way; education; waste; or biodiversity net gain.  

 

5.92 The Council has recently undertaken a review (December 2021) and concludes it has a 5.3 year 

supply. Footnote 8 and Paragraph 11 of the NPPF are not therefore engaged; and the local plan 

policies which are most important for determining the application are not out-of-date and can 

be afforded full weight.  

 

5.93 Policy H2 permits new dwellings on undeveloped land adjoining the built up area where 

'convincing evidence is presented to demonstrate that it is necessary to meet identified housing 

needs, it is in accordance with the distribution of housing set out in Policy H1 and is in 

accordance with other policies in the plan in particular the general principles in Policy OS2'.  

 

5.94 The proposed development would add up to 25 dwellings to West Oxfordshire Council housing 

stock. While WODC can demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing land, this is not a 

supply ceiling and officers are mindful of the Government's objective of significantly boosting the 

supply of homes (paragraph 60 of the NPPF). Furthermore, of the up to 25 dwellings, 40% (up to 

Page 61



10 homes) would be affordable homes. In addition, the planning Statement notes that 3 self-build 

dwellings could be secured. The contribution to self-build only carries modest weight 

commensurate with the scale of development. However, the provision of up to 10 affordable 

homes carries significant weight. 

 

5.95 With regard to the general principles in Policy OS2. The proposal does not respect the village 

character and local distinctiveness; would not form a logical complement to the existing scale 

and pattern of development or the character of the area; would not protect the local landscape 

or setting of Curbridge; and would involve the loss of an area of green space that makes an 

important contribution to the character and appearance of the area. This clear conflict with the 

major strategic housing policies H2 and OS2 carries substantial weight.  In addition, there is an 

in principle objection to the conversion of the barn building to residential use, contrary to Policy 

E3.  

 

5.96 Turning to the planning balance. Up to 25 homes would be added to West Oxfordshire Council 

stock. In addition, the development would result in economic benefits to the local area both 

during construction and beyond; and biodiversity net gain could be achieved off site (but lost on 

site). Harm to the setting of the Thatched Cottage is found, on balance to be outweighed by the 

public benefits of the scheme.  

 

5.97 However, there is conflict with Policy OS2 of the Local Plan with regards to matters of 

character and appearance. By virtue of the conflict with OS2, the proposal also conflicts with H2 

and as these are the strategic policies that govern the acceptability of housing developments, this 

conflict is substantial. Furthermore, the scheme would conflict with Policies E3, OS4 and EH2, 

which, amongst other things, requires that development be of high quality design, which 

contributes to local distinctiveness and conserves natural features and that traditional buildings 

be converted to business use. In addition, the applicant has not entered into a legal agreement. 

 

5.98 The benefits of the scheme outlined do not overcome the clear and convincing conflict when 

assessed against the Local Plan as a whole. The application is therefore recommended for 

refusal.  

 

6 REASONS FOR REFUSAL 

 

 

1 The proposed development does not respect the village character and local 

distinctiveness. It would not form a logical complement to the existing scale and pattern 

of development or the character of the area; would not protect the local landscape or 

setting of Curbridge; and would involve the loss of an area of green space that makes an 

important contribution to the character and appearance of the area. While the 

development would provide some economic benefits, would add up to 25 homes to 

West Oxfordshire Housing stock, would meet some of the affordable housing need in 

West Oxfordshire, and could create biodiversity net gain, these benefits are insufficient 

to outweigh the clear conflict with the Development Plan as a whole. As such, the 

proposed development is contrary to policies H2, E3, OS2, OS4 and EH2 of the 

adopted West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031, the West Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016, 

and the relevant paragraphs of the National Planning Policy Framework 2021. 

 

2 The applicant has not entered into a legal agreement or agreements to secure the 

provision of affordable housing; or contributions to sport and leisure; public transport 

Page 62



services and infrastructure; Public Rights of Way; education; waste; or biodiversity net 

gain. The proposal conflicts with West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 Policies H3, EH3, 

T1, T3 and OS5. 

 

 

INFORMATIVES :- 

 

 If this site were to come forward as part of a comprehensive development of the wider 

Curbridge Triangle that addressed the inspector’s reasons for dismissal of the previous appeal, 

then this may overcome the above refusal reasons. 

 

 

 

Contact Officer: David Ditchett 

Telephone Number: 01993 861649 

Date: 3rd August 2022 

  

Page 63



Application Number 22/00793/S73 

Site Address Land To The Rear Of 65 

High Street 

Standlake 

Oxfordshire 

 

 

Date 3rd August 2022 

Officer David Ditchett 

Officer Recommendations Approve 

Parish Standlake Parish Council 

Grid Reference 439612 E       202898 N 

Committee Date 15th August 2022 

 

Location Map 

 

 
 

 
© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 100024316  

 

 

Application Details: 

Variation of condition 2 of planning permission 17/00629/FUL to allow revisions to the design, layout 

and appearance of plots 9 and 10. 

 

 

Page 64



 

Applicant Details: 

Standlake Ltd 

C/o Agent 

 

1 CONSULTATIONS 

 

Parish Council Standlake Parish Council 

In the light of the council's objections to the original application, the 

council therefore objects to any further changes to the approved 

plan on the same basis especially if the height of the new houses is 

to be increased. 

 

 

Major Planning Applications 

Team 

Highways 

Recommendation: 

No Objection 

 

Detail Comments: 

The variation to the proposal is unlikely to have materially impact 

on the operation of the highway network in the area.  

 

Lead Local Flood Authority 

No comments required from the LLFA on the variation of condition 

2. 

 

Archaeology 

No objection subject to conditions 

 

 

 2 REPRESENTATIONS  

 

No third party representations have been received to date. 

 

3 APPLICANT'S CASE 

 

3.1 The designs are only minor deviations from what has been approved previously. The scale of the 

houses remains in keeping with the other permitted dwellings on the site, having two storeys 

(with space in the roof) which is marginally taller than those permitted for these plots however 

they are proposed to have reduced footprint sizes. 

 

3.2 The houses both sit in their respective plots within the site in the same position as permitted. 

The layout has changed but not in a manner which draws the buildings further into the plots or 

closer to adjoining plots. 

 

3.3 There is no proposed alteration to the access arrangements either and all issues relating to the 

access, such as turning heads, parking areas etc therefore remain as permitted. In fact the 

garages for both proposed plots remain unaltered from the existing permission. 

 

Page 65



3.4 The space around the dwellings and general density of the site is considered to be reflective of 

densities on neighbouring sites and that referred to in the original indicative layout. The house 

design changes do not compromise what has already been agreed. 

 

3.5 The orientation and alignment of the dwellings will ensure that there is neither mutual 

overlooking of the proposed dwellings or those of neighbours. Existing trees and shrubbery on 

the boundaries provide natural screening and this is supplemented by close boarded fencing 

along shared boundaries to enclose private amenity space. 

 

3.6 All properties benefit from large rear gardens which are more than adequate for the scale of 

houses proposed and are, again, not compromised by the house design changes to plots 9 and 

10. 

 

3.7 It is therefore concluded that the amendments to the development will provide an appropriate 

living environment for future occupants and neighbouring residents. 

 

4 PLANNING POLICIES 

 

OS1NEW Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

OS2NEW Locating development in the right places 

OS3NEW Prudent use of natural resources 

OS4NEW High quality design 

H1NEW Amount and distribution of housing 

H2NEW Delivery of new homes 

H4NEW Type and mix of new homes 

H5NEW Custom and self build housing 

T1NEW Sustainable transport 

T2NEW Highway improvement schemes 

T3NEW Public transport, walking and cycling 

T4NEW Parking provision 

EH2 Landscape character 

EH3 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

EH7 Flood risk 

EH8 Environmental protection 

EH9 Historic environment 

EH11 Listed Buildings 

EH15 Scheduled ancient monuments 

EH16 Non designated heritage assets 

DESGUI West Oxfordshire Design Guide 

NPPF 2021 

The National Planning Policy framework (NPPF) is also a material planning consideration.  

 

 3 5. PLANNING ASSESSMENT 

 

5.1 This application seeks permission to vary condition 2 (approved plans) relating to planning 

permission 17/00629/FUL to allow revisions to the design, layout and appearance of plots 9 and 

10.  

 

5.2 This application relates to a backland site located between the High Street frontage and Lincoln 

Park caravan site to the rear.  

Page 66



 

5.3 A hybrid planning approval was granted by the LPA on the 25th January 2019 (ref. 

17/00629/FUL). The description of development read: 

"A hybrid application for the proposed development of ten 'self-build' dwellings, with full details 

provided for 4 dwellings and 6 outline dwellings with all matters apart from access reserved." 

 

5.4 Permission was granted in full in relation to four of the plots (5, 6, 9 and 10) the remainder of 

the 10 (being plots 1,2,3,4,7 and 8) were granted in outline except in relation to matters of 

access. 

 

5.5 Being a hybrid application, the conditions on the decision notice related to both the full planning 

permission and outline permission. Conditions 18-20 explicitly related to the outline permission.  

 

5.6 On 01/11/2021 conditions 12 (landscaping scheme), 14 (land contamination assessment) and 16 

(construction traffic management plan) of planning permission 17/00629/FUL were discharged by 

application ref. 21/02511/CND.  

 

5.7 On 02/11/2021 permission was granted for the removal of condition 15 of permission 

17/00629/FUL to commence road works (application ref. 21/02708/S73). 

 

5.8 On 05/07/2022 condition 13 (assessment of the hydrological and hydro-geological) of planning 

permission 21/02708/S73 was discharged.  

 

5.9 On 29/07/2022 permission was granted to vary condition 2 (approved plans) of planning 

permission 17/00629/FUL to allow minor design changes to Plot 5.  

 

5.10 Officers visited the site on 18/01/2022, 12/04/2022 and again on 04/05/2022 and noted that the 

works to the access had begun and a gravelled track had been constructed part way into the 

site. Officers are satisfied that, for the purposes of plots 5, 6, 9 and 10, development has 

commenced.  

 

5.11 The application is before the Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee as the officer 

recommendation is contrary to the views of the Parish Council.  

 

5.12 Taking into account planning policy, other material considerations and the representations of 

interested parties, officers are of the opinion that the key considerations of the application are: 

 

 Principle of Development; 

 Siting, Design and Form; 

 Impact on Residential Amenity;  

 Other Matters; and  

 Conditions  

 

Principle of Development   

 

5.13 The application seeks planning permission to vary condition 2 (approved plans) of the previously 

approved permission 17/00629/FUL. Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act allows 

for applications for the variation of conditions attached to previously granted permissions. The 

regulations set out that when determining such applications it is only the question of the 

Page 67



conditions attached to the approved consent which may be considered. As such, the principle of 

the original scheme cannot be re-considered under this application.  

 

5.14 The regulations set out that the Local Planning Authority can grant permission with conditions 

differing from the original permission, or it can refuse the application if it considers that the 

original conditions should apply. Therefore, when assessing this application, Officers will 

consider the impact of the proposed changes on design, and residential amenity.  

 

5.15 Following this it will also need to be considered what conditions attached to application ref. 

17/00629/FUL need to be carried forward, and if any further conditions need to be attached to 

any new consent. 

 

Siting, Design and Form  

 

5.16 The proposed changes to plots 9 and 10 are as follows:  

 

Plot 9 

The footprint reduced from 216.3sqm to 190.1sqm; 

Ridgeline and eaves raised to create a loft conversion; 

Bedrooms increased from 3 to 5 (possibly 6 if the playroom/store in the loft is used as a 

bedroom; 

Front dormers added; 

Rooflights omitted from front and side roof slopes and now only proposed on rear elevation 

roof slope; 

Front gable omitted; 

Front porch amended; 

Chimney size and style amended; 

Rear gable increased in size and cladded; and 

Door and fenestration changes throughout; 

 

Plot 10 

The footprint reduced from 217.5sqm to 191.2sqm; 

Ridgeline and eaves raised to create a loft conversion; 

Bedrooms increased from 3 to 4 (possibly 5 if the attic room is used as a bedroom); 

Front, rear and side dormers omitted; 

Rooflights added to the front and rear roofslopes; 

Front gable omitted; 

Front porch amended; 

Front bay windows added; 

Single storey flat roof side/rear element added; 

Chimney sizes, locations and styles amended; 

Rear gable omitted; and 

Door and fenestration changes throughout; 

 

5.17 The cover letter submitted along with the application states 'The two permitted dwellings, being 

designed due to specific requirements from the previous applicant, display a much more urban 

feel than the other permitted dwellings on the site. The sprawling chalet style elevations give 

rise to a larger footprint, but with the lower ridge heights proposed have a much less 

appropriate quality of first floor accommodation. The proposed dwellings are both smaller in 

footprint but due to the marginal increase in ridge height, allow much better first floor layouts. 

Page 68



The design of the houses, whilst now with less articulation in respect of Plot 10, are both still 

restrained in their architectural language and appropriate simple vernacular designs which pay 

due regard to the WODC Design Guide. The houses will have a high quality construction using 

similar high spec vernacular materials, including natural coursed Cotswold stone and suitable 

slate tiles. The forms and materials are typical of the area'.   

 

5.18 In regard to the changes to plot 9. While these are numerous, they bring the design and scale of 

the dwelling in line with those for plots 7 and 8 approved through the reserved matters 

application. In particular as plot 9 and plots 7 and 8 are now broadly the same design, being two 

storey with loft conversions and cladded rear gable elements. Arguably, the previously approved 

chalet bungalow would have appeared somewhat at odds with the rest of the scheme. As such, 

while the changes to plot 9 are numerous, officers are of the opinion that the changes are an 

improvement in the context of the adjacent plots and wider development as a whole. Officers 

are satisfied that neither individually, or cumulatively that they have an unacceptable impact on 

the character an appearance of the proposed dwelling, the wider development or existing built 

form in the area.   

 

5.19 In regard to the changes to plot 10. Again, these are numerous, however they somewhat 

simplify the appearance of the dwelling with clean front and rear elevations and a symmetrical 

principal elevation. When combined with the reduction in footprint (although somewhat 

mitigated by the increased height), the dwelling now appears more suitable to this large plot. 

Indeed, when read next to the approved dwellings in plots 1 and 2, the new design will act as a 

transition between the smaller, simpler dwellings in plots 1 and 2, into the larger more 

contemporary dwellings in plots 7, 8 and 9.  As such, while the changes to plot 10 are 

numerous, officers are of the opinion that the changes are an improvement in the context of the 

adjacent plots and wider development as a whole. Officers are satisfied that neither individually, 

or cumulatively that they have an unacceptable impact on the character an appearance of the 

proposed dwelling, the wider development or existing built form in the area.   

 

Impact on Residential Amenity  

 

5.20 While the buildings are increasing in height, their footprints are reduced and they remain in 

broadly the same locations in their plots. As such, overbearing, loss of light and overbearing 

impacts are unlikely.   

 

5.21 With regard to the fenestration changes. For plot 10, the removal of the side facing dormers 

decrease overlooking in the area and the changes to front and rear elevations are where 

fenestration was already approved. The changes to plot 10 therefore will not result in loss of 

privacy or overlooking impacts.  

 

5.22 For plot 9, broadly the same principles apply as the changes to front and rear elevations are 

where fenestration was already approved. However, plot 9 does propose a Juliet balcony that 

would face towards the rear garden of plot 10. Officers note the balconies were approved for 

plots 7 and 8 in the same location as is proposed for plot 9. As such, the same situation is 

already present throughout the development. Nonetheless, plot 9 would have some views into 

the garden of plot 10. Officers are mindful of this; however, views would be into gardens and 

not into the dwellings themselves. As such, views, and thus impacts, would be restricted to 

months of the year when the gardens are in use. Furthermore, these are new open market 

dwellings and buyers would be aware of the situation prior to purchasing and therefore have the 

Page 69



choice whether they accept this overlooking. In addition, some overlooking is commonplace in 

built up areas such as this.     

 

5.23 Officers are satisfied therefore that the changes proposed will not detrimentally impinge on the 

residential amenities of the area in regards loss of privacy, overlooking, or loss of light, 

overbearing or overshadowing impacts, noise, pollution (including light), odours or vibration.  In 

addition, sufficient external amenity space is retained at both dwellings.  

 

Other Matters  

 

5.24 Officers note that the Archaeology Officer at OCC requested an 'Archaeological Written 

Scheme of Investigation' and that 'a staged programme of archaeological evaluation and 

mitigation shall be carried out by the commissioned archaeological organisation in accordance 

with the approved Written Scheme of Investigation' both be completed prior to the 

commencement of development. The officer at OCC elaborated that 'the application site is 

within an area of considerable archaeological potential' and thus the conditions are required.  

 

5.25 It is important to note that this application is seeking a variation to a previously approved 

scheme (17/00629/FUL). That application granted permission, in full, for plots 5, 6, 9 and 10 and 

outline permission for the remaining plots (reserved matters for the outline have since been 

permitted) with no conditions relating to archaeology. Furthermore, there are no pre-

commencement conditions left to be discharged for the site and while some details are reserved 

by condition, these relate to technical matters only and do not prevent the development 

commencing. This development can include foundations, below ground services, and floor slabs. 

It is a significant material consideration therefore that the previously approved scheme can be 

completed (subject to final conditions being agreed).   

 

5.26 Paragraph 56 of the NPPF states 'planning conditions should be kept to a minimum and only 

imposed where they are necessary, relevant to planning and to the development to be 

permitted, enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other respects'. As explained, the previous 

scheme can be built and there were no restrictions placed on that approval with regard to 

archaeology. As such, to introduce the conditions advised by the officer at OCC for the 

application that is before the Council now, is not considered to be reasonable. This is because a 

significant material fallback position exists that would result in the same impact to archaeology 

as the scheme that would be subject to restrictive archaeology conditions. Furthermore, the 

trigger point for the conditions (prior to commencement) is not applicable as the development 

has commenced.    

 

5.27 In light of the explanation above, while the comments from the officer at OCC are noted, the 

suggested conditions will not be applied as they cannot be enforced and are not considered to 

be reasonable.  

 

Conditions  

 

5.28 Decision ref. 17/00629/FUL was subject to a total of 20 conditions. The effect of an application 

under Section 73 of the Act is to grant a wholly new planning permission. Therefore, the 

conditions attached to the original consent should be replicated on the new permission, 

reviewed or removed. This section will assess the conditions attached to 17/00629/FUL for 

relevance on this decision and shall address any further conditions to be applied.   

 

Page 70



5.29 Conditions 18, 19 and 20 relate to the outline element of the hybrid application. The reserved 

matters (21/04126/RES) relating to that outline application was approved on 03/03/2022 as such 

these will not be applied.  

 

5.30 Condition 1  

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the 

date of this permission. 

 

The previous permission has been implemented. Therefore, this condition is not applicable and will not be 

applied.  

 

5.31 Condition 2 

That the development be carried out in accordance with the approved plans listed below. 

PP0010 F Site plans 

PE5010 C Elevations - Proposed 

PS5010 B Cross Section 

PP5030 C Floor Plans - Proposed 

PE0010 D Elevations - Proposed 

PE10010 A Elevations - Proposed 

PP0031 Elevations - Proposed 

PS10010 Cross Section 

L01 Location Plan 

PP10030 A Floor Plans - Proposed 

PP0032 Elevations - Proposed 

PE5011 Elevations - Proposed 

PP5031 Floor Plans - Proposed 

PE6010 A Elevations - Proposed 

PE5010 B Elevations - Proposed 

PE9010 A Elevations - Proposed 

PP9030 A Floor Plans - Proposed 

PP6030 A Floor Plans - Proposed 

PS6010 Cross Section  

 

Condition 2 is the subject of this application and the changes included within the revised plans are found 

to be acceptable. This condition will be revised to reflect the submitted plans.  

 

5.32 Condition 3 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order with 

or without modification) no additional windows/rooflights shall be constructed in the side 

elevation(s) of the building(s).  

 

This condition is still applicable in order to maintain control over the site and will be reapplied.  

 

5.33 Condition 4 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order with 

or without modification), no development permitted under Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A, B, C, 

D, E, G and H shall be carried out other than that expressly authorised by this permission. 

 

Page 71



This condition is still applicable in order to maintain control over the site and will be reapplied but will be 

updated to include the new Class AA.  

 

5.34 Condition 5 

Before above ground building work commences, a schedule of materials (including samples) to 

be used in the elevations of the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be constructed in the approved materials. 

 

This condition is still applicable in order to maintain control over the site and will be reapplied.  

 

5.35 Condition 6 

Those part of the walls of the proposed building to be natural stone shall be laid and pointed 

with 'bagged' joints unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 

accordance with a sample panel that shall be erected on site before above ground works 

commence and be retained in place as a reference whilst development is ongoing .  

 

This condition is still applicable in order to maintain control over the site and will be reapplied.  

 

5.36 Condition 7 

Notwithstanding details contained in the application, detailed specifications and drawings of all 

external windows and doors to include elevations of each complete assembly at a minimum 1:20 

scale and sections of each component at a minimum 1:5 scale and including details of all 

materials, finishes and colours shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority before that architectural feature is commissioned/erected on site. The 

development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 

This condition is still applicable in order to maintain control over the site and will be reapplied.  

 

5.37 Condition 8 

The window and door frames shall be recessed a minimum distance of 75mm from the face of 

the building unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

This condition is still applicable in order to maintain control over the site and will be reapplied.  

 

5.38 Condition 9 

All new external joinery shall be wood painted white, cream or Burford Green and shall 

thereafter be retained in that colour. 

 

This condition is still applicable in order to maintain control over the site and will be reapplied.  

 

Condition 10 

5.39 Prior to the above ground works commencing, details of the provision of integrated bat roosting 

features (e.g. bat boxes/tubes/bricks on south or southeast-facing elevations) and integrated 

nesting opportunities for birds (e.g. house sparrow terrace, starling box, swift brick or house 

martin nest cup on the north or east-facing elevations) within the walls of the new buildings shall 

be submitted to the local planning authority for approval. The details shall include a drawing/s 

showing the types of features, their locations within the site and their positions on the 

elevations of the buildings, and a timetable for their provision. The approved details shall be 

implemented before the dwelling/s hereby approved is/are first occupied and thereafter 

permanently retained. 

Page 72



 

This condition is still applicable in order secure biodiversity net gain and will be updated and applied.  

 

5.40 Condition 11 

Prior to the commencement of development above ground level, the developer must submit 

details for agreement in writing by the Local Planning Authority of evidence that every premise 

in the development will be able to connect to and receive a superfast broadband service 

(>24Mbs). The connection will be to either an existing service in the vicinity (in which case 

evidence must be provided from the supplier that the network has sufficient capacity to serve 

the new premises as well as the means of connection being provided) or a new service (in which 

case full specification of the network, means of connection, and supplier details must be 

provided). The development shall only be undertaken in accordance with the said agreed details 

which shall be in place prior to first use of the development premises and retained in place 

thereafter. 

 

This condition is still applicable and will be reapplied.  

 

5.41 Condition 12 

That a scheme for the landscaping of the site, including the retention of any existing trees and 

shrubs and planting of additional trees and shrubs, shall be submitted to and approved in writing 

by the Local Planning Authority before development commences. The scheme shall be 

implemented as approved within 12 months of the commencement of the approved 

development or as otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority and thereafter 

be maintained in accordance with the approved scheme. In the event of any of the trees or 

shrubs so planted dying or being seriously damaged or destroyed within 5 years of the 

completion of the development, a new tree or shrub of equivalent number and species, shall be 

planted as a replacement and thereafter properly maintained. 

 

This condition is discharged so will not be applied  

 

5.42 Condition 13 

Details of the design and specification of all means of enclosure shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved means of enclosure shall be 

constructed before the use hereby permitted is commenced. 

 

This condition is still applicable and will be reapplied.  

 

5.43 Condition 14 

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted a land contamination 

assessment and associated remedial strategy, together with a timetable of works, shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: (a) The land 

contamination assessment shall include a desk study and site reconnaissance and shall be 

submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The desk study shall detail the history of 

the site uses, identify risks to human health and the environment, and propose a site 

investigation strategy based on the relevant information discovered by the desk study. The 

strategy shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to 

investigations commencing on site. (b) The site investigation shall be carried out by a suitably 

qualified and accredited consultant/contractor in accordance with a Quality Assured sampling 

and analysis methodology. (c) A site investigation report detailing all investigative works and 

sampling on site, together with the results of analysis, risk assessment to any receptors and a 

Page 73



proposed remediation strategy shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. The Local Planning Authority shall approve such remedial works as required 

prior to any remediation commencing on site. The works shall be of such a nature as to render 

harmless the identified contamination given the proposed end-use of the site and surrounding 

environment including any controlled waters and prior to occupation of the development 

hereby permitted: (a) Approved remediation works shall be carried out in full on site under a 

Quality Assurance scheme to demonstrate compliance with the proposed methodology and best 

practice guidance. If during the works contamination is encountered which has not previously 

been identified then the additional contamination shall be fully assessed and an appropriate 

remediation scheme agreed with the Local Planning Authority in writing. (b) A completion 

report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 

completion report shall include details of the proposed remediation works and Quality 

Assurance certificates to show that the works have been carried out in full in accordance with 

the approved methodology. Details of any post-remedial sampling and analysis to show the site 

has reached the required clean-up criteria shall be included in the completion report together 

with the necessary waste transfer documentation detailing what waste materials have been 

removed from the site. (c) A certificate signed by the developer shall be submitted to the Local 

Planning Authority confirming that the appropriate works have been undertaken as detailed in 

the completion report. 

 

This condition is discharged so this will change to an adherence condition  

 

5.44 Condition 15 

No road works shall begin until details of the Private Street Agreement that allows dwellers to 

access the site, between the proposed access road and the public highway, have been submitted 

to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and no building shall be occupied 

until the access junction to the development has been constructed in accordance with the 

approved details. 

 

This condition is removed so will not be reapplied.  

 

5.45 Condition 16 

A Construction Traffic Management Plan should be submitted to the Local Planning Authority 

and agreed prior to commencement of works. This should identify; The routing of construction 

vehicles and management of their movement into and out of the site by a qualified and 

certificated banksman, Access arrangements and times of movement of construction vehicles (to 

minimise the impact on the surrounding highway network), Details of wheel cleaning / wash 

facilities to prevent mud, etc. from migrating on to the adjacent highway, Contact details for the 

Site Supervisor responsible for on-site works, Travel initiatives for site related worker vehicles, 

Details of times for construction traffic and delivery vehicles, which must be outside network 

peak and school peak hours, Engagement with local residents and neighbours. 

 

This condition is discharged so this will change to an adherence condition  

 

5.46 Condition 17 

No drainage works shall begin until a surface water drainage scheme for the site, based on 

sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological and hydro-geological 

context of the development, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 

authority. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the approved 

details before the development is completed. The scheme shall also include: Discharge Rates 

Page 74



Discharge Volumes Maintenance and management of SUDS features Sizing of features - 

attenuation volume Infiltration in accordance with BRE365 Detailed drainage layout with pipe 

numbers SUDS - Permeable Paving, Rainwater Harvesting, Green Roof Network drainage 

calculations Phasing The plans must show that there will be no private drainage into the public 

highway drainage system. 

 

This condition is discharged so this will change to an adherence condition  

 

Conclusion: 

 

5.47 It is considered that the variation of condition 2 is acceptable, and in accordance with the 

policies in the Development Plan and the NPPF, which are not outweighed by other material 

planning considerations. 

 

5.48 It is therefore recommended that the variation of condition 2 of permission ref. 17/00629/FUL 

be granted. 

 

6 CONDITIONS  

 

1 That the development be carried out in accordance with the approved plans listed below. 

 

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt as to what is permitted. 

 

2 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 

without modification) no additional windows/rooflights shall be constructed in the side elevation(s) 

of the building(s) hereby approved. 

 

REASON: To safeguard privacy in the adjacent properties. 

 

3 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 

without modification), no development permitted under Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A, AA, B, C, D, 

E, G and H shall be carried out other than that expressly authorised by this permission. 

 

REASON: Control is needed to protect the adjoining trees and neighbour amenity. 

 

4 Before above ground building work commences, a schedule of materials (including samples) to be 

used in the elevations of the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority. The development shall be constructed in the approved materials and shall 

be retained as such thereafter.  

 

REASON: To safeguard the character and appearance of the area. 

 

5 Those parts of the walls of the proposed building to be natural stone shall be laid and pointed with 

'bagged' joints unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority in accordance 

with a sample panel that shall be erected on site before the first trench is dug and be retained in 

place as a reference whilst development is ongoing. 

 

Page 75



REASON: To ensure that a traditional practice of the area is carried out in the interests of the finished 

appearance of the building. 

 

6 Notwithstanding details contained in the application, detailed specifications and drawings of all 

external windows and doors to include elevations of each complete assembly at a minimum 1:20 

scale and sections of each component at a minimum 1:5 scale and including details of all materials, 

finishes and colours shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 

before that architectural feature is commissioned/erected on site. The development shall be carried 

out in accordance with the approved details.  

 

REASON: To ensure the architectural detailing of the buildings reflects the established character of the 

area. 

 

7 The window and door frames shall be recessed a minimum distance of 75mm from the face of the 

building unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

REASON: To ensure the architectural detailing of the building reflects the established character of the 

locality. 

 

8 All new external joinery shall be wood painted white, cream or Burford Green and shall thereafter 

be retained in that colour. 

 

REASON: To safeguard the character and appearance of the area. 

 

9 Before the erection of any external walls, details of the provision of integrated bat roosting features 

(e.g. bat boxes/tubes/bricks on south or southeast-facing elevations) and integrated nesting 

opportunities for birds (e.g. house sparrow terrace, starling box, swift brick or house martin nest 

cup on the north or east-facing elevations) within the walls of the new buildings, and hedgehog 

gaps/holes under/through walls and/or fences, shall be submitted to the local planning authority for 

approval.  

 

The details shall include a drawing/s showing the types of features, their locations within the site 

and their positions on the elevations of the buildings, and a timetable for their provision. The 

approved details shall be implemented before the dwellings hereby approved are first occupied and 

thereafter permanently retained. 

 

REASON: To ensure that bats, birds, and reptiles are safeguarded in accordance with The Conservation 

of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 as 

amended, Policy EH3 of the West Oxfordshire Local Plan, Circular 06/2005, paragraphs 174 and 179 of 

the National Planning Policy Framework and in order for the Council to comply with Part 3 of the 

Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. 

 

10 Prior to the commencement of development above ground level, the developer must submit details 

for agreement in writing by the Local Planning Authority of evidence that every premise in the 

development will be able to connect to and receive a superfast broadband service (>24Mbs). The 

connection will be to either an existing service in the vicinity (in which case evidence must be 

provided from the supplier that the network has sufficient capacity to serve the new premises as 

well as the means of connection being provided) or a new service (in which case full specification of 

the network, means of connection, and supplier details must be provided). The development shall 

Page 76



only be undertaken in accordance with the said agreed details which shall be in place prior to first 

use of the development premises and retained in place thereafter. 

 

REASON: In the interest of improving connectivity in the District. 

 

NB Council will be able to advise developers of known network operators in the area. 

 

11 Details of the design and specification of all means of enclosure shall be submitted to and approved 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority before development above ground level. The approved 

means of enclosure shall be constructed before the first occupation of the dwelling and shall be 

retained as such thereafter.  

 

REASON: To safeguard the character and appearance of the area and because details were not 

contained in the application. 

 

12 The development hereby approved shall be completed in accordance with the land contamination 

assessment approved by application 21/02511/CND on 01.11.2021.  

 

REASON: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring 

land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 

ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 

neighbours and other off-site receptors in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

13 The development hereby approved shall be completed in accordance with the construction traffic 

management plan approved by application 21/02511/CND on 01.11.2021.  

 

REASON: In the interests of highway safety and to mitigate the impact of construction vehicles on the 

surrounding network, road infrastructure and local residents, particularly at peak traffic times. 

 

14 The surface water drainage scheme shall be completed in line with the details approved under 

application ref 22/00353/CND prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved 

and shall be retained as such thereafter.  

 

REASON: To ensure the site is adequately drained. 

 

 

INFORMATIVES :- 

 

 Applicants are strongly encouraged to minimise energy demand, and take climate action, 

through fitting: 

 Wall, roof and floor insulation, and ventilation  

 High performing triple glazed windows and airtight frames 

 Energy efficient appliances and water recycling measures 

 Sustainably and locally sourced materials  

 

For further guidance please visit:  

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/planning-and-building/planning-permission/make-a-planning-

application/sustainability-standards-checklist/  

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/environment/climate-action/how-to-achieve-net-zero-carbon-homes/ 

 

Page 77



 Please note that this consent does not override the statutory protection afforded to species 

protected under the terms of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), or any other relevant 

legislation such as the Wild Mammals Act 1996 and Protection of Badgers Act 1992. 

 

All British bat species are protected under The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 

(as amended), which implements the EC Directive 92/43/EEC in the United Kingdom, and the Wildlife 

and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). This protection extends to individuals of the species and their 

roost features, whether occupied or not. A derogation licence from Natural England would be required 

before any works affecting bats or their roosts are carried out.  

 

All British birds (while nesting, building nests, sitting on eggs and feeding chicks), their nests and eggs 

(with certain limited exceptions) are protected by law under Section 1 of the Wildlife and Countryside 

Act 1981 (as amended) and the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000. Works that will impact upon 

active birds' nests should be undertaken outside the breeding season to ensure their protection, i.e. 

works should only be undertaken between August and February, or only after the chicks have fledged 

from the nest.  

 

In the event that your proposals could potentially affect a protected species, or if evidence of protected 

species is found during works, then you should seek the advice of a suitably qualified and experienced 

ecologist and consider the need for a licence from Natural England prior to commencing works (with 

regard to bats). 

 

Contact Officer: David Ditchett 

Telephone Number: 01993 861649 

Date: 3rd August 2022 

  

Page 78



Application Number 22/01069/FUL 

Site Address 29 Mercury Close 

Bampton 

Oxfordshire 

OX18 2AH 

Date 3rd August 2022 

Officer Esther Hill 

Officer Recommendations Approve 

Parish Bampton Parish Council 

Grid Reference 432038 E       203308 N 

Committee Date 15th August 2022 

 

Location Map 

 

 
 

 
© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 100024316  

 

 

Application Details: 

Erection of an attached dwelling with off street parking and associated ancillary works. Alterations to 

the existing dwelling including two storey and single storey extensions. 

 

 

 

 

Page 79



 

Applicant Details: 

Mr Nick Shepherd 

29 Mercury Close 

Bampton 

Oxfordshire 

OX18 2AH 

 

1 CONSULTATIONS 

 

Parish Council 13.06.2022- OBJECTION (vote with zero in favour) 

We don't believe there is sufficient parking for the 2 properties and 

this will 

adversely affect residents. 

 

 

Parish Council 15.07.2022- OBJECTION 

We are aware of the covenants on this property and in addition 

the parking is already problematic. Even with the additional two 

parking spaces there are still concerns for the Parish Council. In 

light of the considerable number of newbuilds in Bampton, the 

Parish Council cannot see any appreciable benefit to the village. 

 

 

OCC Highways  No Comment Received. 

 

 

OCC Highways 25.07.2022- The proposal, if permitted, will not have a significant 

detrimental impact ( in terms of 

highway safety and convenience ) on the adjacent highway network 

Recommendation: 

Oxfordshire County Council, as the Local Highways Authority, 

hereby notify the District 

Planning Authority that they do not object to the amended plans 

 

 

WODC Drainage Engineers If full planning permission is granted, could you please request the 

following condition:- 

 

That, prior to the commencement of development, a full surface 

water drainage scheme shall be submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include 

details of the size, position and construction of the drainage scheme 

and results of soakage tests carried out at the site, to demonstrate 

the infiltration rate. Three test results should be submitted for each 

soakage pit as per BRE 365, with the lowest infiltration rate 

(expressed in m/s) used for design. The development shall be 

carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to the 

first occupation of the development hereby approved. Development 

shall not take place until an exceedance flow routing plan for flows 

Page 80



above the 1 in 100 year + 40% CC event has been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

REASON: To ensure the proper provision for surface water 

drainage and/ or to ensure flooding is not exacerbated in the locality 

(The West Oxfordshire Strategic Flood Risk Assessment, National 

Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance). If the 

surface water design is not agreed before works commence, it could 

result in abortive works being carried out on site or alterations to 

the approved site layout being required to ensure flooding does not 

occur. 

 

In these cases the following notes should also be added to the 

decision notice: 

 

NOTE TO APPLICANT:  

 

The Surface Water Drainage scheme should, where possible, 

incorporate Sustainable Drainage Techniques in order to ensure 

compliance with; 

 

 Flood and Water Management Act 2010 (Part 1 - Clause 27 

(1))  

  Code for sustainable homes - A step-change in  sustainable 

home building practice 

 Oxfordshire County Council's Local standards and guidance 

for surface water drainage on major development in 

Oxfordshire (V1.2 December 2021)  

 The local flood risk management strategy published by 

Oxfordshire County Council 2015 - 2020  as per the Flood 

and Water Management Act 2010 (Part 1 - Clause 9 (1)) 

 CIRIA C753 SuDS Manual 2015 

 The National Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management 

Strategy for England, produced by the Environment Agency 

in July 2020, pursuant to paragraph 9 of Section 7 of the 

Flood and Water Management Act 2010. 

 Non-statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage 

systems (March 2015) 

 

 

OCC Highways 13.06.2022-The proposal, if permitted, will not have a significant 

detrimental impact ( in terms of highway safety and convenience ) 

on the adjacent highway network 

 

Recommendation: 

Oxfordshire County Council, as the Local Highways Authority, 

hereby notify the District Planning Authority that they do not object 

to the granting of planning permission 

15.06.2022 

 

Page 81



My recommendation refers to option 1. 

 

Option 2 shows a proposed parking space marked ' 29 MC parking 

1 ' on the highway and a footway realignment. The proposal would 

require a 'stopping up' order. The ' no objection ' recommendation 

does not refer to option 2 

 

Conservation Officer  No Comment Received. 

 

WODC Env Health - Lowlands Mr ERS Pollution Consultation No objection in principle. 

 

Newt Officer  No Comment Received. 

 

 

 3 2 REPRESENTATIONS 

 

2.1 9 Objection comments have been received against the proposal. The concerns that have been 

raised relate to the following: 

 

 Detrimental to the aesthetic and historic appearance of the area and connection with the nearby 

airbase.  

 Design will not be in keeping with neighbouring dwellings 

 Highway related issues, given existing traffic, access and parking problems. 

 Existing covenants on the land preventing building works on land and above water, drainage and 

electric cables. 

 Land Ownership inaccuracies 

 Noise, disturbance and highway congestion caused during construction and potential damage to 

parked vehicles in close proximity. 

 Boundary line inaccuracies regarding parking spaces 

 Loss of the trees and its impact on global warming. Details of replacement trees should be 

provided.  

 

 

3 APPLICANT'S CASE 

 

3.1 A design and access statement has been submitted as part of this application and can viewed in full 

on our website. The statement has been summarised below: 

 

The applicant seeks planning permission for an attached dwelling, next to 29 Mercury Close, 

Bampton. The proposed scheme takes into account the form, scale, mass and overall design of other 

dwellings nearby, and is designed to be sympathetic to the established pattern. The proposed 

dwelling is intended to blend with and to complement the established housing character in this part 

of Bampton. Local planning policies see proposals for new dwellings in Bampton as highly sustainable, 

any issues relate not therefore to the principle, but to the details of this scheme. 

 

4 PLANNING POLICIES 

 

OS2NEW Locating development in the right places 

OS4NEW High quality design 

H2NEW Delivery of new homes 

Page 82



H6NEW Existing housing 

EH7 Flood risk 

EH3 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

T4NEW Parking provision 

DESGUI West Oxfordshire Design Guide 

NPPF 2021 

The National Planning Policy framework (NPPF) is also a material planning consideration.  

 

 4 5 PLANNING ASSESSMENT 

 

Background Information and Proposed Development 

 

5.1  This application seeks planning permission for the erection of an attached dwelling with off street 

parking, associated ancillary works and alterations to the existing dwelling including two storey and 

single storey extensions at 29 Mercury Close, Bampton.  

 

5.2  The application site relates to an end of terrace property, which forms part of the horseshoe 

shaped Mercury Close, situated within a residential area of Bampton. The site does not fall within 

any areas of special designated control and therefore the main considerations of this application are 

its principle and the impact of the proposed development on the visual amenity and the impact on 

the proposed development on the residential amenity.  

 

5.3 Relevant Planning History 

15/03504/HHD- Erection of single storey and two storey extensions.- Approved.  

The above approval included two storey and single storey extensions, including a new porch, all are 

of which are comparable in design to that of the proposed dwelling and extensions. Some form of 

residential development in this location has therefore already been considered to be acceptable.  

 

5.4  The application has been brought before Members of the Lowlands Sub Planning Committee as your 

officers recommendation is contrary to the Parish Council. 

 

5.5  Amended drawings have been received as part of this application following your officers concerns 

with design. The description of development has also been amended. Following the description and 

design changes, the application was re advertised and consultees were re consulted.  

 

Proposed Development 

 

5.6 The scheme proposes a new attached two bedroom dwelling, associated ancillary works and 

alterations and a two storey, single storey and porch extension to 29 Mercury Close, Bampton.  

 

5.7 Taking into account planning policy, other material considerations and the representations of 

interested parties, your officers are of the opinion that the key considerations of the application 

are: 

 

 -Principle 

 -Scale Siting and Design  

 -Residential Amenity 

 -Highways 

 -Drainage 

 -Ecology  

Page 83



 

Officers Assessment 

 

Principle 

5.8  The application site sits within Bampton which is identified under West Oxfordshire Local Plan 

Policy OS2 as a Rural Service Centre where new dwellings can be permitted where they are of a 

proportionate and appropriate scale to its context, having regard to the potential cumulative 

impact of development in the locality and form a logical complement to the existing scale and 

pattern of development and/or the character of the area. 

 

5.9  Policy H2 of the WODC Local Plan 2031 states that new dwellings will be permitted within the 

rural service centres on undeveloped and previously developed land within the built up area, 

provided the loss of any existing use would not conflict with other plan policies and that the 

proposal is in accordance with the other policies in the plan, in particular the general principles 

in Policy OS2. 

 

5.10  The proposed development is for an extension and subdivision to create an additional dwelling 

and as such Local Plan Policy H6 is also relevant. Policy H6 states that alterations, extensions or 

sub-division of existing dwellings should respect the character of the surrounding area and will 

not unacceptably affect the environment of people living in or visiting that area.  

 

5.11  On this basis, the proposal is supported by Local Plan Policies OS2, H2 and H6 provided the 

proposal complies with the general principles set out in Policy OS2. The details of the proposal 

are assessed against the general principles of Policy OS2, and in detail against the other relevant 

policies, guidance and legislation in the relevant sections below: 

 

Scale, Siting and Design 

5.12  The proposed two bedroom dwelling is to be attached to the western elevation of no.29, it is of 

a dual pitched roof design with a cross gable element that extends out to the rear. The 

proposed dwelling has an open plan ground floor layout with an entrance hall and WC, the first 

floor has a double bedroom, a single bedroom and a bathroom. In terms of proposed openings, 

the proposed dwelling has a front door, two ground floor windows and two first floor windows 

on its northern elevation, sliding patio doors, a ground floor window and two first floor 

windows on its southern elevation and two ground floor windows and a first floor window on 

its western elevation. The proposed materials are to match that of the existing dwelling no. 29 

Mercury Close and they are therefore considered to be acceptable. The proposed dwelling is to 

be set back from the front elevation of no. 29 Mercury close, to allow for an additional parking 

space serving no.29 and a pedestrian access serving the proposed dwelling.   

 

5.13  Your officers consider that the design and scale of the proposed dwelling would be appropriate 

and in keeping with the character of the area and is therefore acceptable in terms of design and 

scale.   

 

5.14  A number of alterations are proposed to the existing dwelling no. 29 Mercury Close, including 

the demolition of an existing rear extension, the subdivision of its residential curtilage, a two 

storey and single storey rear extension and a new entrance porch. The proposed two storey 

extension is to be sited on the western side of the host dwellings rear elevation, it is of a cross 

gable roof design extending out to the rear and has a first floor window and sliding doors at 

ground floor level on its southern elevation. The proposed single storey extension is to be sited 

on the eastern side of the rear elevation and is of a mono pitched roof design with two roof 

Page 84



lights and sliding doors on its southern elevation. A new entrance porch is also proposed on the 

northern elevation of the host dwelling, it is of a mono pitched roof design, with two windows 

on its northern elevation and the front door on its western elevation. The proposed materials 

are to match that of the host dwelling.  

 

5.15  Given the scale of the proposed single storey extension and porch and that the proposed two 

storey extension is set down below the ridge height of the host dwelling, your officers consider 

that they will appear as secondary and subservient additions to the dwelling. Therefore, your 

officers consider that the proposed extensions and alterations to no. 29 Mercury Close are 

acceptable in terms of scale and design.  

 

5.16  Laylandi trees which boarder the front of the property are to be removed and replaced with a 

box hedge. Given that the existing trees forward of the footpath are to be retained and that 

new hedging is proposed, your officers consider that the removal of the Laylandi trees would be 

acceptable in terms of impact on visual amenity.   

 

5.17  The proposed dwelling and porch would be visible on the street scene. However, your officers 

consider that given the proposed materials, the size of the proposed porch and design of the 

proposed dwelling, that the development would be in keeping with the character of the locality 

and therefore would not give rise to any adverse impacts in regards to visual amenity. 

 

Residential Amenity 

5.18  Given the siting of the proposed rear extensions to no. 29 Mercury Close, that the rear 

extension closest to the adjoining neighbour is single storey, the distance it extends beyond the 

rear elevation, existing boundary treatments, the separation distance between the proposed two 

storey extension and neighbouring properties to the south and that the existing dwelling already 

has first floor windows on its southern elevation, so there is already a degree of mutual 

overlooking, your officers do not consider that the proposed extensions would give rise to 

levels of harm in term of neighbouring amenity issues, such as, overlooking, loss of privacy, loss 

of light or overbearing, that would warrant the refusal of this application. Given the scale and 

siting of the proposed porch, it is not considered to give rise to neighbouring amenity issues.  

 

5.19  Given the siting of the proposed dwelling and the separation distance to the neighbouring 

properties, your officers do not consider that the proposal would give rise to loss of light, or 

overbearing issues. Given that the adjoining and adjacent properties all have first floor rear 

windows, there is already a degree of mutual overlooking which is not uncommon within built 

up residential areas. The distance between the proposed dwelling and those down Aston Road 

is considered acceptable so not to increase the level of overlooking or loss of privacy to an 

unacceptable level. The proposed dwelling is not considered to give rise to neighbouring 

amenity issues for 29 Mercury Close and it is still considered to have sufficient outdoor amenity 

space. Your officers have suggested that a condition removing certain permitted development 

rights is applied to the consent to ensure that any further extensions can be assessed, in order 

to safeguard neighbouring amenity. 

 

5.20  It is noted that the proposed parking arrangements would result in the adjoining neighbour 

parking in front of the window serving the kitchen of the proposed dwelling. Your officers 

consider that this would result in some harm in terms of noise and disturbance and poor 

outlook. However, the entrance to the proposed dwelling and a hedge, are proposed between 

to the neighbours parking space and the kitchen window on the front elevation of the proposed 

dwelling, which will mitigate some of the harm in terms of outlook and disturbance. Your 

Page 85



officers therefore consider that the proximity of the proposed parking space to the kitchen 

window would give rise to a modest level of harm in terms of residential amenity, to the future 

occupants of the proposed dwelling.  

 

5.21  It is also noted that the proposed two bedroom dwelling is below the minimum space standards 

as set out in the 'technical housing standards - nationally described space standard'. The 

technical housing standards state that the area of a two bedroom, 3 person, two storey dwelling 

should be at least 70m2, the proposed dwelling is approximately 58m2. In addition, the single 

bedroom has an area of approximately 6m2, the national space standard is 7.5m.  

 

5.22  The national space standard is a material consideration when assessing the proposal but the 

standard has not been adopted within our Local Plan. However, policy OS2 states that 

development be compatible with adjoining uses and not have a harmful impact on the amenity of 

existing occupants and policy OS4 states that development should not harm the use or 

enjoyment of buildings including living conditions in residential properties.  

 

5.23  Your officers note that the scale of the proposed dwelling would provide living spaces below the 

standards set out within the 'technical housing standards' and consider that this would result in 

some harm to the living conditions of the future occupier. However, the proposed dwelling is 

located within a sustainable location and as such will have access to the many services and 

facilities that are on offer in the area, including a park just 60m away. The proposed 

development also includes the provision for outdoor amenity space which is considered to be 

sufficient for the size of the proposed development. Your officers consider that the scale of the 

proposed dwelling would give rise to modest harm to the amenity of the future occupiers and 

would not amount to a significant and demonstrable harm that outweighs the benefits of this 

proposal. 

 

Highways 

 

5.24  Third party representatives have raised concerns regarding parking issues within the area. The 

proposed development will result in three car parking spaces being provided, two for no.29 

Mercury Close and one for the new dwelling. OCC Highways have been consulted on the 

application and have raised no objections in regards to highways safety and convenience. Your 

officers have carefully considered the concerns raised by local residents and the Parish Council 

however, the proposed dwelling is to be situated within a sustainable location with transport 

links, OCC have not objected to the proposal and that there are no on street parking 

restrictions within the vicinity. Therefore, your officers consider that the proposed dwelling and 

parking arrangements are acceptable and would comply with policy T4 of the adopted West 

Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031.   

 

Drainage 

 

5.25  Your WODC Drainage Officer has been consulted on this application and has raised no 

objection subject to the full drainage details being submitted as part of a prior to 

commencement condition. The applicants have agreed to this condition being applied to the 

consent, therefore the development is considered to comply with policy EH7 of the adopted 

West Oxfordshire Local Plan.   

 

 

 

Page 86



 

Ecology  

 

5.26  The site as it stands is a mix of hardstanding, lawn, trees and hedging. The proposed 

development includes the removal of Laylandi trees, which are to be replaced with hedging. 

Your officers have including a condition stating that a bat box, three swift bricks and hedgehog 

gaps in boundary fencing/hedging need to be provided. The applicant has also proposed planting 

native shrubs and trees to boundaries, and a wildflower section at the rear of the garden.  Given 

the proposed measures, your officers consider that the proposed development would comply 

with policy EH3 of the adopted West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031.  

 

Other Matters 

 

5.27  Bampton Parish Council have objected to this proposal raising concerns with the proposed 

development given existing parking issues within the locality and the covenants restricting 

development on the land.   

 

5.28 9  Objection comments have been received against the proposal. The concerns that have been 

raised relate to the following: 

 

 Detrimental to the aesthetic and historic appearance of the area and connection with the nearby 

airbase.  

 Design will not be in keeping with neighbouring dwellings 

 Highway related issues, given existing traffic, access and parking problems. 

 Existing covenants on the land preventing building works on land and above water, drainage and 

electric cables.  

 Land Ownership inaccuracies 

  Noise, disturbance and highway congestion caused during construction and potential damage to 

parked vehicles in close proximity.  

 Boundary line inaccuracies regarding parking spaces. 

 Loss of the trees and its impact on global warming. Details of replacement trees should be 

provided. 

 

5.29  The concerns raised by Bampton Parish Council and the third party representatives have been 

carefully considered when assessing this application. Following the submission of revised 

drawings, given the scale of the proposed dwelling and proposed alterations to no. 29 and that 

the proposed materials are to be in keeping with those used within the immediate locality, your 

officers do not consider that the proposed development would harm the visual amenity or visual 

character of the area. Your officers’ note that there are not any enclosed porches within the 

close however, there are within the immediate locality and given its sale and design your officers 

do not consider that it would harm the character of the area. Whilst your officers have 

concluded in the assessment above that the development would not give rise to highway safety 

and convenience issues, given the nature of the site immediately adjacent to the residential 

parking area, your officers have suggested a Construction Management Plan be submitted to 

safeguard the living conditions of the neighbouring residents. In terms of the issues raised 

regarding the restrictive covenants on the land and land ownership issues, these are classed as 

civil issues and cannot be considered when assessing a planning application. However, your 

officers have included an informative stating that planning permission does not override any civil 

or legal issues. Your officers note that trees play an important role when combatting the climate 

emergency. However, given the number of trees which are to be removed and that replacement 

Page 87



hedges and additional planting are proposed as part of the scheme, the removal of trees are 

considered to be acceptable. An informative encouraging sustainable development and a 

condition requesting details of proposed boundary treatments have been applied.   

  

Planning Balance 

 

5.30  Your officers have found that the proposed development would result in modest harm to the 

residential amenity of the future occupiers of the proposed dwelling, because the size of the 

living spaces fall below standard and because of the proximity of the adjoining neighbours car 

parking space, to the proposed kitchen window.  

 

5.31  However, the proposed dwelling is within a sustainable location with services, facilities including 

a park just 60m away and transport links on offer, this attracts moderate weight in its favour. 

The design proposed would be reasonably in keeping with the surrounding properties, and 

would be unlikely to cause harm to existing living conditions to nearby residents. There is a 

need nationally for smaller dwellings which may appeal to single occupiers and first time buyers. 

Moderate weight should also be applied to the fact that the proposed dwelling would contribute 

to our housing supply. Having carefully considered this proposal your officers are of the opinion 

that, on balance, the benefits of the development outweigh the modest harm found.  

 

Conclusion  

 

5.32  In light of the above assessment, the application is recommended for approval as your officers, 

on balance, consider it complies with the provisions of Policies OS4, OS2, H2, EH2, T4, EH7 and 

H6 of the adopted West Oxfordshire Local Plan; WODC Design Guide 2016 and the relevant 

paragraphs of the NPPF. 

 

 

 

6 CONDITIONS 

 

 

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the 

date of this permission. 

 

REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 as 

amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act, 2004. 

 

2 That the development be carried out in accordance with the approved plans listed below. 

 

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt as to what is permitted. 

 

3 The development shall be constructed with the materials specified in the application. 

 

REASON: To ensure that the development is in keeping with the locality and for the avoidance of doubt 

as to what is permitted.  

 

4 That, prior to the commencement of development, a full surface water drainage scheme shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include 

details of the size, position and construction of the drainage scheme and results of soakage tests 

Page 88



carried out at the site, to demonstrate the infiltration rate. Three test results should be submitted 

for each soakage pit as per BRE 365, with the lowest infiltration rate (expressed in m/s) used for 

design. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to the 

first occupation of the development hereby approved. Development shall not take place until an 

exceedance flow routing plan for flows above the 1 in 100 year + 40% CC event has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

REASON: To ensure the proper provision for surface water drainage and/ or to ensure flooding is not 

exacerbated in the locality (The West Oxfordshire Strategic Flood Risk Assessment, National Planning 

Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance). If the surface water design is not agreed before 

works commence, it could result in abortive works being carried out on site or alterations to the 

approved site layout being required to ensure flooding does not occur. This condition has been agreed 

by the applicant. 

 

5 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following biodiversity mitigation 

measures and enhancement features. All the measures and features listed below shall be 

implemented in full, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority, and all the 

features shall thereafter be permanently retained. 

 

 Site clearance and construction shall be carried out in accordance with Forest of Dean District 

Council's Precautionary method of working for common reptiles (16th May 2012) available at: 

https://www.fdean.gov.uk/media/wjth1ruj/precautionary-method-of-working-for-reptiles.pdf and 

all construction materials and machinery shall be stored on the existing hardstanding; 

 At least 1 no. integrated / built-in bat box (e.g. tube, brick or access panel) to be installed into 

the western elevation wall of the new building; 

 At least 3 no. swift bricks to be integrated / built-in to the western elevation wall of the new 

building at 1 metre intervals and in accordance with Swift Conservation advice 

https://www.swift-conservation.org/Nestboxes&Attraction.htm#Built%20in ; and 

 hedgehog gaps/holes to be created through any new boundary fencing or walls 

 

Reason: To enhance biodiversity in accordance with Local Plan Policy EH3, paragraphs 174, 179 and 180 

of the National Planning Policy Framework and in order for the Council to comply with Part 3 of the 

Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. 

 

6 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 

without modification), no development permitted under Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A, B, C, D, E, G 

and H shall be carried out to the dwelling herby approved other than that expressly authorised by 

this permission. 

 

REASON: Control is needed to avoid any future harm to the living condition of the future and 

neighbouring residents. 

 

7 No dwelling shall be occupied until a plan indicating the positions, design, materials, type and timing 

of provision of boundary treatment to be erected has been agreed in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. The boundary treatment shall include provision for hedgehog highways, and shall be 

completed in accordance with the approved details and retained thereafter. 

   

REASON: To safeguard the character and appearance of the area, and improve opportunities for 

biodiversity. 

Page 89



 

8 No development, including any works of demolition, shall take place until a Construction Method 

Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 

approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period and shall provide for:  

I. The parking of vehicles for site operatives and visitors 

II. The loading and unloading of plant and materials 

III. The storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development 

IV. The erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays 

V. Wheel washing facilities 

VI. Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction 

VII. A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction works. 

 

REASON: To safeguard the means to ensure that the character and appearance of the area, living 

conditions and road safety are in place before work starts. This condition has been agreed with the 

applicant. 

 

 

INFORMATIVES :- 

 

 NOTE TO APPLICANT:  

 

The Surface Water Drainage scheme should, where possible, incorporate Sustainable Drainage 

Techniques in order to ensure compliance with; 

 

 Flood and Water Management Act 2010 (Part 1 - Clause 27 (1))  

 Code for sustainable homes - A step-change in  sustainable home building practice 

 Oxfordshire County Council's Local standards and guidance for surface water drainage on 

major development in   

 

     Oxfordshire (V1.2 December 2021)  

 

 The local flood risk management strategy published by Oxfordshire County Council 2015 - 2020  

as per the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 (Part 1 - Clause 9 (1)) 

 CIRIA C753 SuDS Manual 2015 

 The National Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy for England, produced by 

the Environment Agency in July 2020, pursuant to paragraph 9 of Section 7 of the Flood and 

Water Management Act 2010. 

 Non-statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage systems (March 2015) 

 

 Please note that the granting of planning permission does not override any covenants on the 

land or civil rights of the adjoining/adjacent properties. 

 

 Please note that this consent does not override the statutory protection afforded to species 

protected under the terms of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), or any other relevant 

legislation such as the Wild Mammals Act 1996 and Protection of Badgers Act 1992. 

 

All British bat species are protected under The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 

2017 (as amended), which implements the EC Directive 92/43/EEC in the United Kingdom, and the 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). This protection extends to individuals of the 

Page 90



species and their roost features, whether occupied or not. A derogation licence from Natural 

England would be required before any works affecting bats or their roosts are carried out.  

 

All British birds (while nesting, building nests, sitting on eggs and feeding chicks), their nests and eggs 

(with certain limited exceptions) are protected by law under Section 1 of the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000. Works that 

will impact upon active birds' nests should be undertaken outside the breeding season to ensure 

their protection, i.e. works should only be undertaken between August and February, or only after 

the chicks have fledged from the nest.  

 

In the event that your proposals could potentially affect a protected species, or if evidence of 

protected species is found during works, then you should seek the advice of a suitably qualified and 

experienced ecologist and consider the need for a licence from Natural England prior to 

commencing works (with regard to bats). 

 

 Applicants are strongly encouraged to minimise energy demand, and take climate action, 

through fitting: 

 Electricity-fed heating systems and renewable energy, for example solar panels and heat pumps; 

thus avoiding fossil fuel based systems, for example gas boilers 

 Wall, ceiling, roof, and floor insulation, and ventilation  

 High performing triple glazed windows and airtight frames 

 Energy and water efficient appliances and fittings 

 Water recycling measures 

 Sustainably and locally sourced materials  

 

For further guidance, please visit:  

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/planning-and-building/planning-permission/make-a-planning-

application/sustainability-standards-checklist/  

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/environment/climate-action/how-to-achieve-net-zero-carbon-homes/ 

 

Contact Officer: Esther Hill 

Telephone Number: 01993 861690 

Date: 3rd August 2022 

  

Page 91



Application Number 22/01644/HHD 

Site Address 2 Windmill Heights 

North Leigh 

Witney 

Oxfordshire 

OX29 6ZD 

 

Date 3rd August 2022 

Officer Emile Baldauf-Clark 

Officer Recommendations Approve 

Parish North Leigh Parish Council 

Grid Reference 438663 E       212829 N 

Committee Date 15th August 2022 

 

Location Map 

 

 
 

 
© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 100024316  

 

 

Application Details: 

Rear single storey extension, remove existing conservatory 

 

 

 

Page 92



 

Applicant Details: 

Mr Matthew Parry 

2 Windmill Heights 

North Leigh 

Witney 

Oxfordshire 

OX29 6ZD 

 

1 CONSULTATIONS 

 

Parish Council North Leigh Parish Council has no comments on this planning 

application. 

 

 

 2 REPRESENTATIONS 

 

2.1  No third party representation have been received to date 

 

3 APPLICANT'S CASE 

 

3.1  The proposal creates no additional parking issues and vehicle and pedestrian access will remain 

as existing. 

 

3.2  The main entrance door at the front of the property will remain. 

 

3.3  The design submitted is appropriate for the site and location, has due regard to the amenity of 

neighbouring properties and will not have an undue visual impact in relation to its surroundings. 

 

4 PLANNING POLICIES 

 

OS2NEW Locating development in the right places 

OS4NEW High quality design 

H6NEW Existing housing 

NPPF 2021 

DESGUI West Oxfordshire Design Guide 

NATDES National Design Guide 

The National Planning Policy framework (NPPF) is also a material planning consideration.  

  

5. PLANNING ASSESSMENT 

 

Background Information 

 

5.1 The application seeks planning permission for a rear single storey extension with the removal of 

an existing conservatory at 2 Windmill Heights, North Leigh, Witney, Oxfordshire, OX29 6ZD. 

The application site relates to a newer 1990's built detached property located in the village of 

North Leigh.   

 

Page 93



5.2  The site does not fall within any areas of special designated control and therefore the main 

considerations of this application are the impact of the proposed development on the visual 

amenity and the impact of the proposed development on the residential amenity. 

 

5.3 The application is before the Lowlands Area Planning Sub-Committee as the applicant works 

within the West Oxfordshire District Council Planning Department and therefore must come 

before the Sub-Committee.  

 

5.4 This application is for the 'Rear single storey extension, remove existing conservatory.' Taking 

into account planning policy, other material considerations and the representations of interested 

parties, officers are of the opinion that the key considerations of the application are: 

 

 Principle of Development; 

 Siting, Design and Form; 

 Residential Amenities 

 

Principle of Development 

 

5.5 The proposed rear extension is to be located within the residential curtilage of 2 Windmill 

Heights, North Leigh. Therefore, the principle of development is considered acceptable subject 

to design and amenity issues being carefully considered against the adopted West Oxfordshire 

Local Plan 2031. 

 

 

Siting, Design and Form 

 

5.6 The rear conservatory is to replace an existing rear conservatory at the property that was 

approved in 1996. The footprint of the rear extension is to be roughly the same as the existing 

conservatory. This rear extension is to extend out on rear southern elevation of the property 

by 4.1 meters and have a width of 3.5 meters with the gable roof design to have a maximum 

height of 3.4 meters to the top of the roof and an eaves height of 2.3 meters. The rear elevation 

of the extension is to include French doors looking into the rear garden with the eastern side 

elevation including 1 large window. Both roof slopes are to include roof lights with three in 

total, two located on the western roof and one located on the eastern roof. All materials 

proposed for the rear extension are to match the existing property with stone used for the 

walls and tiles on the roof and the fenestration and doors to use matching uPVC. 

 

5.7 The proposed rear extension would not be visible on the street scene and therefore would not 

give rise to any adverse impacts in regards to visual amenity. 

 

Residential Amenities 

 

5.8 Given the single storey nature of the proposed rear extension, officers are of the opinion that 

the proposed would not give rise to any adverse impacts in regards to neighbouring amenity. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 94



 

Conclusion 

 

5.9 Taking into account the above matters the proposal is considered acceptable on its merits and 

complies with Policies OS2, OS4 and H6 of the West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031, the relevant 

paragraphs of the NPPF and the West Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016. 

 

 

6 CONDITIONS 

 

 

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the 

date of this permission. 

 

REASON: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 as 

amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act, 2004. 

 

2 That the development be carried out in accordance with the approved plans listed below. 

 

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt as to what is permitted. 

 

3 The development shall be constructed with the materials specified in the application. 

 

REASON: To ensure that the development is in keeping with the locality and for the avoidance of doubt 

as to what is permitted.  

 

Contact Officer: Emile Baldauf-Clark 

Telephone Number:  

Date: 3rd August 2022 

 

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



DELGAT 
 

West Oxfordshire District Council – DELEGATED ITEMS  

 

Application Types Key 

 

Suffix 

 

 Suffix  

ADV Advertisement Consent LBC Listed Building Consent 

CC3REG County Council Regulation 3 LBD Listed Building Consent - Demolition 

CC4REG County Council Regulation 4 OUT Outline Application 

CM County Matters RES Reserved Matters Application 

FUL Full Application S73 Removal or Variation of Condition/s 

HHD Householder Application POB Discharge of Planning Obligation/s 

CLP 

CLASSM 

 

HAZ 

PN42 

 

PNT 

NMA 

WDN 

Certificate of Lawfulness Proposed 

Change of Use – Agriculture to 

Commercial 

Hazardous Substances Application 

Householder Application under Permitted 

Development legislation. 

Telecoms Prior Approval 

Non Material Amendment 

Withdrawn 

 

CLE 

CND 

PDET28 

PN56 

POROW 

TCA 

TPO 

 

FDO 

Certificate of Lawfulness Existing 

Discharge of Conditions 

Agricultural Prior Approval 

Change of Use Agriculture to Dwelling 

Creation or Diversion of Right of Way 

Works to Trees in a Conservation Area 

Works to Trees subject of a Tree 

Preservation Order 

Finally Disposed Of 

 

Decision 

Code 

 

 

Description 

 

Decision 

Code 

 

Description 

APP 

REF 

P1REQ 

P3APP 

P4APP 

Approve 

Refuse  

Prior Approval Required 

Prior Approval Approved 

Prior Approval Approved 

RNO 

ROB 

P2NRQ 

P3REF 

P4REF 

Raise no objection  

Raise Objection  

Prior Approval Not Required 

Prior Approval Refused 

Prior Approval Refused 

 

 

West Oxfordshire District Council – DELEGATED ITEMS 

Week Ending 7th July 2022 

 

  

Application Number.  

 

Ward. 

 

 Decision. 

 

 

1.  20/02289/FUL Standlake, Aston and Stanton 

Harcourt 

S106 

  

Erection of a self contained unit for ancillary use (retrospective) 

Cogges Chase Cogges Lane Stanton Harcourt 

Mr Robert Pidsley 

 

 

2.  21/01384/HHD Carterton South WDN 

  

First floor extension over existing ground floor dining room 

29 Ashfield Road Carterton Oxfordshire 

Mr Sean Kelliher 

 

 

Page 97

Agenda Item 5



DELGAT 
 

3.  21/02571/CND Standlake, Aston and Stanton 

Harcourt 

APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Discharge of conditions 8 (Construction Method Statement), 12 (assessment of the nature 

and extent of contamination) and 20 (details of bat roosting and nesting opportunities for 

birds) of planning permission 16/03627/OUT 

Land At Butts Piece Main Road Stanton Harcourt 

. 

 

 

4.  21/03186/CND Standlake, Aston and Stanton 

Harcourt 

APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Discharge of condition 5 (details of vehicular access, paths, driveways, turning areas, parking 

and cycle parking), condition 7 (surface water drainage scheme), condition 9 (written scheme 

of investigation) and condition 10 (staged programme of archaeological investigation) of 

planning permission 16/03627/OUT 

Land At Butts Piece Main Road Stanton Harcourt 

 

 

 

5.  21/03459/CND Alvescot and Filkins APP 

  

Discharge of conditions 5 (full surface water drainage scheme), 7 (details of integrated bat 

roosting and nesting opportunities for birds) and 8 (External Lighting Details) of planning 

permission 21/00127/HHD (Amended) 

Fieldside House Broadwell Lechlade 

Mr and Mrs S Pertwee 

 

 

6.  21/04097/S73 Witney South APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Variation of condition 2 of permission 19/01164/FUL to allow an increase to the ridge height 

of the former stable building and external alterations (plots 3 and 4) and to add six PV panels 

to the east facing roof of plots 1 and 2 (Amended). 

37 Corn Street Witney Oxfordshire 

Mr B Charalambous 

 

 

7.  22/00430/FUL Standlake, Aston and Stanton 

Harcourt 

APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Erection of four semi-detached dwellings with garages and associated landscaping 

Greensleeves Blackditch Stanton Harcourt 

Mrs A James 

 

 

Page 98



DELGAT 
 

8.  22/00572/CND Standlake, Aston and Stanton 

Harcourt 

APP 

  

Discharge of condition 5 (full surface water drainage scheme) of planning permission 

21/03607/FUL 

Touchdown 108 Abingdon Road Standlake 

Cruikshank 

 

 

9.  22/00655/FUL Curbridge & Lew APP 

  

Conversion of existing grain store to provide holiday, event and tourism accommodation 

Caswell House Hall And Events Venue  Caswell Lane Brize Norton 

Caswell 

 

 

10.  22/00659/CND Witney West APP 

  

Discharge of condition 12 (surface water drainage scheme) of planning permission 

21/02929/FUL 

Land At Windrush Park Windrush Park Road Windrush Industrial Park 

Mr Nicholas Howe 

 

 

11.  22/00660/CND Witney West APP 

  

Discharge of condition 8 (surface water drainage scheme) of planning permission 

20/02720/FUL 

Building 2 And 3 Windrush Park Road Windrush Industrial Park 

Mr Nicholas Howe 

 

 

12.  22/00753/CND North Leigh SPL 

  

APPROVED:-REFUSED:- 

26 Park Road North Leigh Witney 

Mr Robert Sutton 

 

 

13.  22/00788/FUL Curbridge & Lew APP 

  

Conversion of agricultural buildings to form 5 dwellings (Class C3) with associated 

demolition, alterations, landscaping and access works. 

Curbridge Downs Farm Burford Road Minster Lovell 

Mr Walker 

 

 

Page 99



DELGAT 
 

14.  22/00810/CND Alvescot and Filkins APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Discharge of condition 11 (comprehensive landscape scheme) of planning permission 

20/02502/S73 

Paddock View Station Road Alvescot 

Ms Lisa Liddle 

 

 

15.  22/00814/FUL Brize Norton and Shilton APP 

  

Conversion of redundant stable/store room into a two bedroom dwelling. 

Little Sturt  Oxford Road Burford 

Fitzsimmons 

 

 

16.  22/00826/CND Curbridge & Lew SPL 

  

APPROVED:-REFUSED:- 

Windward House Carrick Road Curbridge Business Park 

Mr Chris Hayter 

 

 

17.  22/00829/FUL Carterton North West APP 

  

Erection of a 3 bedroom bungalow with associated amenity space and car parking together 

with a detached garage for the use of 33 Rock Close. 

33 Rock Close Carterton Oxfordshire 

Mr Brian Richens 

 

 

18.  22/00918/CND Witney West WDN 

  

Discharge of condition 4 (full surface water drainage scheme) of planning permission 

19/02718/FUL 

Abbott Diabetes Care  Range Road Windrush Industrial Park 

Mr David Terry 

 

 

19.  22/00998/FUL Witney South APP 

  

Construction of attached 3 bed dwelling together with associated works and formation of 

new vehicular access. 

41 Curbridge Road Witney Oxfordshire 

Mr And Mr Smith And Allinson 

 

 

Page 100



DELGAT 
 

20.  22/01002/CND Witney West APP 

  

Discharge of conditions 4 (site investigation) and 8 (surface water drainage scheme) of 

planning permission 21/02248/FUL 

Gateway House Windrush Park Road Windrush Industrial Park 

Mr Nicholas Howe 

 

 

21.  22/01005/FUL Alvescot and Filkins REF 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Change of use from agricultural to domestic curtilage and erection of detached home office, 

play/games room and guest accommodation. 

5 Thorpes Field Alvescot Bampton 

Mr And Mrs Andy And Anna Guy 

 

 

22.  22/01023/S73 Standlake, Aston and Stanton 

Harcourt 

APP 

  

Variation of condition 2 (approved plans) relating to planning permission 17/00629/FUL to 

allow minor design changes to Plot 5 

Land To The Rear Of 65 High Street Standlake 

Mr N Hadfield 

 

 

23.  22/01024/FUL Bampton and Clanfield APP 

  

Construction of agricultural maintenance store. 

Land (E) 428631 (N) 204548 Burford Road Black Bourton 

Mr Steve Hopkins 

 

 

24.  22/01136/CND Brize Norton and Shilton APP 

  

Discharge of Condition 17 (Biodiversity Management Plan) of planning permission 

21/02664/RES 

Brize Meadow Lodge Care Home Miles Drive Brize Norton 

Mr James Flynn 

 

 

25.  22/01210/FUL Carterton North West APP 

  

Alterations to existing church and ancillary accommodation to provide thermal and sound 

insulation. New entrance lobby addition externally. Internal alterations to WC area and 

kitchen/community area. Proposed log cabin. Solar Panels to the roof slope to the south 

eastern elevation (amended description). 

Methodist Church Buildings Burford Road Carterton 

REv'd Ian Worrall 

 

 

Page 101



DELGAT 
 

26.  22/01198/FUL Alvescot and Filkins REF 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Alterations and refurbishment works, to include erection of first floor and two storey side 

extension to both properties (1 and 2 Lechlade Road) together with formation of new 

vehicular access. 

1 Lechlade Road Langford Lechlade 

Mr Giles Bendig 

 

 

27.  22/01236/S73 Witney West APP 

  

Variation of condition 2 of planning permission 18/03206/RES to allow substitution of 

approved house type for Plot 871, from house type SH238 (2 bed, 2 storey house) to a 

'Flanders' house type (2 bed, single storey bungalow). 

Land At West Witney Downs Road Curbridge 

Mrs Chloe Griffin 

 

 

28.  22/01251/S73 Witney East APP 

  

Variation of condition 3 of planning permission 20/00313/FUL to allow extension of time (on 

or before 30th April 2024) for the entire unit and associated materials to be removed and 

land restored to its former condition. 

Gibbetts Close Farm Oxford Hill Witney 

Mr William Szucs 

 

 

29.  22/01293/HHD Bampton and Clanfield APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Alterations to existing access to include widening and repositioning of vehicular access, 

provision of pedestrian access and installation of new gates (Part Retrospective) 

Shillbrook Barn Landells Bampton 

P Ferstendix Esq 

 

 

30.  22/01294/LBC Bampton and Clanfield APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Alterations to existing access to include widening and repositioning of vehicular access, 

provision of pedestrian access and installation of new gates (Part Retrospective). 

Shillbrook Barn Landells Bampton 

P Ferstendix Esq 

 

 

31.  22/01335/PN42 Witney East P2NRQ 

  

Erection of single storey lean-to extension with zinc roof (5.84m x 2.56m height to 

eaves/3.62m maximum height). 

45 Larch Lane Witney Oxfordshire 

Mr And Mrs Adkins 

 

 

Page 102



DELGAT 
 

32.  22/01258/HHD Brize Norton and Shilton APP 

  

Replace existing conservatory roof with lightweight Guardian warm roof. (Retrospective). 

2 Birch Drive Bradwell Village Burford 

Mrs Sarah Sanders 

 

 

33.  22/01278/HHD Witney Central APP 

  

Installation of french doors to side elevation of lounge. 

15 Hedgehog Lane Witney Oxfordshire 

Ms Sue Lewis 

 

 

34.  22/01296/S73 Brize Norton and Shilton APP 

  

Variation of condition 2 of planning permission 22/00207/FUL to allow the increase of 

floorspace of the approved garage to accommodate parking for three cars along with an 

attached garden/agricultural store with storage above. 

The Bungalow Worsham Witney 

Mr And Mrs Willott 

 

 

35.  22/01299/HHD Standlake, Aston and Stanton 

Harcourt 

APP 

  

Erection of 1.7m high natural stone wall to replace existing fence and hedge. 

54 Abingdon Road Standlake Witney 

Mr Jon Austin 

 

 

36.  22/01311/S73 Alvescot and Filkins APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Variation of condition 2 of planning permission 21/02609/HHD to allow changes to garage 

roof. 

Cleve House Kelmscott Lechlade 

Mr David Griffin 

 

 

37.  22/01340/HHD Standlake, Aston and Stanton 

Harcourt 

APP 

  

Erection of single storey rear extension to existing garage to form garden room. 

28 Marsh Furlong Aston Bampton 

Mr And Mrs Jackson 

 

 

Page 103



DELGAT 
 

38.  22/01348/CND Eynsham and Cassington REF 

  

Discharge of condition 16 (details of the siting and external appearance of the bin and cycle 

stores) of planning permission 19/01785/S73 and 15/00761/FUL 

Eynsham Nursery And Plant Centre Old Witney Road Eynsham 

Mr Chris Brotherton 

 

 

39.  22/01355/HHD Witney East APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Refurbishment works to include front porch extension, new roof over existing garage and 

conversion of existing boiler/storage room to create utility, new insulated render and cladding 

to building facades together with replacement windows throughout. 

8 Woodlands Road Witney Oxfordshire 

Mr And Mrs Bennett 

 

 

40.  22/01360/HHD Brize Norton and Shilton APP 

  

Erection of a two storey and single storey side extension. 

2 Masons Arms Cottages Burford Road Brize Norton 

Mr And Mrs Stuart And Pat Finlayson 

 

 

41.  22/01374/FUL Carterton South APP 

  

Extension and conversion of existing HMO to 4 self contained flats. 

40 Milestone Road Carterton Oxfordshire 

Mr Steve Hill 

 

 

42.  22/01375/HHD Witney North WDN 

  

Erection of single storey rear and front extensions, and  two storey side extension. 

4 Chestnut Close Witney Oxfordshire 

Mr And Mrs M Snowdon 

 

 

43.  22/01377/LBC Bampton and Clanfield APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Replacement of existing signage to reflect new business name. 

The Romany Inn  Bridge Street Bampton 

Mr Olivier Bonte-Vassaux 

 

 

44.  22/01385/HHD Witney East APP 

  

Erection of a single storey rear extension, boundary fence and rear decking 

94 Woodstock Road Witney Oxfordshire 

Mr Ben Lynch 

 

 

Page 104



DELGAT 
 

45.  22/01386/HHD Witney South APP 

  

Erection of a detached summerhouse and shed in rear garden. (Retrospective). 

13 Willowbank Witney Oxfordshire 

Mrs Frodsham 

 

 

46.  22/01393/S73 Alvescot and Filkins APP 

  

Variation of condition 8 of planning permission 04/1096/P/FP to allow the living 

accommodation to be occupied by members of the family, staff employed at the dwelling 

house know as Freelands or for purposes ancillary to residential use of the dwelling known as 

Freelands House. 

Alexanders Cottage Westwell Burford 

Freelands Group LLP 

 

 

47.  22/01400/HHD Witney South APP 

  

Alterations to include erection of single story rear extension and installation of additional rear 

rooflight. 

16 Buttercross Lane Witney Oxfordshire 

Mr Viallevieille 

 

 

48.  22/01402/HHD Standlake, Aston and Stanton 

Harcourt 

APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Construction of external stairs and installation of door with glass panels to access first floor 

home gym above existing garage. 

Wishing Well House  Bull Street Aston 

Mr Rob Mead 

 

 

49.  22/01403/CND North Leigh APP 

  

Discharge of condition 3 (details of render) of planning permission 21/02793/HHD 

Fermain East End North Leigh 

Mr Adrian Edwards 

 

 

50.  22/01417/HHD Carterton South APP 

  

Erection of single storey rear extension. 

21 Milestone Road Carterton Oxfordshire 

Mr John Mitchell 

 

 

Page 105



DELGAT 
 

51.  22/01439/FUL Carterton South APP 

  

Erection of single storey extension to existing B8 storage and distribution buildings together 

with improvements to parking area to accommodate additional staff cars, and ancillary works. 

Orchard Works  Carterton Industrial Estate Carterton 

Mr Scott Greening 

 

 

52.  22/01441/HHD Hailey, Minster Lovell and 

Leafield 

APP 

  

Proposed alterations to existing loft conversion to include removal of side dormer, raising of 

roof height, updating of facade of original dwelling, changes to fenestration and the addition of 

solar panels. 

34 Upper Crescent Minster Lovell Witney 

Mr B Walker 

 

 

53.  22/01456/FUL Standlake, Aston and Stanton 

Harcourt 

APP 

  

Change of use to allow existing residential swimming pool to be used to operate a swimming 

school business. 

Dormer House 26 Aston Road Brighthampton 

Mrs Theresa Harvey 

 

 

54.  22/01457/HHD Alvescot and Filkins WDN 

  

Loft conversion and refurbishment 

Lockyer Cottage Broadwell Lechlade 

Mr E. Craig 

 

 

55.  22/01458/CLP Witney West APP 

  

Certificate of Lawfulness (loft conversion including dormer windows to rear elevation). 

11 Donnington Close Witney Oxfordshire 

Mr And Mrs Jake Quail 

 

 

56.  22/01462/LBC Witney North APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Re-roof rear section of building, replacing existing stone slates with cardinal slates. 

(Retrospective). 

Weavers Cottage  26B West End Witney 

Mr Chris Jacques 

 

 

Page 106



DELGAT 
 

57.  22/01466/HHD Carterton North West APP 

  

Single Storey Extension (amendment to 21/02796/HHD) 

5 Garner Close Carterton Oxfordshire 

Mr N Appleton 

 

 

58.  22/01474/HHD Ducklington APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Erection of single storey rear extension. 

3 Back Lane Ducklington Witney 

Ms Anna White 

 

 

59.  22/01477/HHD Eynsham and Cassington APP 

  

Erection of single storey rear extension with terrace. 

55 Old Witney Road Eynsham Witney 

Ms Milly Chen 

 

 

60.  22/01480/HHD Bampton and Clanfield APP 

  

Replacement of conservatory with ground floor rear extension, first floor extension and 

garage link 

5 Beam Paddock Bampton Oxfordshire 

Mr And Mrs Sharp 

 

 

61.  22/01481/FUL North Leigh APP 

  

Formation of new vehicular access and hardstanding to Digestate Store. (Part Retrospective). 

Land (E) 438768 (N) 214291 Wilcote Road North Leigh 

Wilcote Farms 

 

 

62.  22/01482/HHD Eynsham and Cassington APP 

  

Erection of single storey and first floor rear extensions with new flank wall to enclose rear 

porch and replacement roof over existing front entrance porch together with changes to 

fenestration. Alterations to existing detached garage to include single storey side extension 

and installation of dormer to create additional first floor office space. (Part Retrospective). 

(Amended). 

April Cottage  South Leigh Road High Cogges 

Mr David Hindley 

 

 

Page 107



DELGAT 
 

63.  22/01498/LBC Witney Central APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Internal and external alterations to convert existing 2 flats into single family home. 

77 High Street Witney Oxfordshire 

Mr J Aimes 

 

 

64.  22/01502/CLP Eynsham and Cassington APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Certificate of Lawfulness (erection of single storey rear extension and the blocking up of one 

rear first floor window to existing dwelling house). 

26 Acre End Street Eynsham Witney 

Mr Peter Shrimpton 

 

 

65.  22/01512/HHD Bampton and Clanfield APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Proposed single storey side extension to facilitate a Utility Room and WC. First Floor loft 

conversion with dormer to rear to create an additional bedroom 

Dunlaoghaire  Primrose Lane Weald 

C/O Agent 

 

 

66.  22/01521/HHD Eynsham and Cassington APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Replacement of rear roof light with dormer window. 

26 Acre End Street Eynsham Witney 

Mr Peter Shrimpton 

 

 

67.  22/01522/HHD Bampton and Clanfield APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Erection of single storey rear extension 

2 Valence Court  Aston Road Bampton 

MR And MRS LAURENCE ROBERTS 

 

 

68.  22/01526/HHD Witney Central APP 

  

Erection of single storey front, single storey and two storey side and two storey rear 

extensions together with associated works. 

101 Mirfield Road Witney Oxfordshire 

Mr John Snooks 

 

 

Page 108



DELGAT 
 

69.  22/01537/FUL Bampton and Clanfield APP 

  

Construction of an agricultural building. 

Land (E) 427182 (N) 201668 Mill Lane Clanfield 

Mr J Theyer 

 

 

70.  22/01541/CLP Eynsham and Cassington APP 

  

Certificate of Lawfulness (construction of a single storey annexe to the dwellinghouse 

comprising office, gym, WC, plant room and store). 

78 Spareacre Lane Eynsham Witney 

Mr And Mrs Stach And Wroblewska 

 

 

71.  22/01580/HHD Carterton South WDN 

  

Erection of a detached Summer house in rear garden to be used as a beauty salon for sole 

trader. 

19 Arlington Close Carterton Oxfordshire 

Mrs Emma Frost 

 

 

72.  22/01577/S73 Alvescot and Filkins APP 

  

Variation of condition 2 of planning permission 21/02639/S73 to allow pitch roof in place of 

flat roof, changes to rooflights and glazing to east elevation and relocation of store room 

access door with changes to design (amended description) 

Ty Nant Kenns Farm Alvescot Road 

Mr And Mrs A And J Garbutt 

 

 

73.  22/01578/HHD Witney Central APP 

  

Alterations to enclose existing porch to incorporate into dwelling and create new side 

entrance and porch. 

1 Moorland Close Witney Oxfordshire 

Ms Julie Atkinson 

 

 

74.  22/01584/FUL Witney East APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

General maintenance and refurbishment works to residential block comprising of 4 

Maisonettes and 4 flats, to include replacement cladding, repair works and new, extended 

window cills. 

Staple Court  Bridge Street Witney 

Coleside Limited 

 

 

Page 109



DELGAT 
 

75.  22/01592/CND Witney South APP 

  

Discharge of condition 4 (details of access between the land and the highway) and condition 5 

(confirmation of 2 parking spaces) of planning permission 21/04031/HHD 

60 Burwell Drive Witney Oxfordshire 

Mr & Mrs Varghese 

 

 

76.  22/01594/CLP Eynsham and Cassington APP 

  

Certificate of Lawfulness (erection of single storey side and rear extensions together with 

new ground floor window to side. 

2 Bell Close Cassington Witney 

Mr And Mrs Ross Poulter 

 

 

77.  22/01616/CND Standlake, Aston and Stanton 

Harcourt 

APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Discharge of condition 4 (full surface water drainage scheme) of planing permission 

21/03899/HHD 

Chartwell Church Road Northmoor 

Mr And Mrs P Brain 

 

 

78.  22/01621/HHD North Leigh APP 

  

Alterations to vehicle access and relocation of existing garage 

The Old School Church Road North Leigh 

Mr & Mrs T & H Bush 

 

 

79.  22/01629/CND Witney West APP 

  

Discharge of conditions 5 (details of bat roosting and nesting opportunities for birds) and 6 

(details of external lighting) of planning permission 20/02720/FUL 

Land At Windrush Park Windrush Park Road Windrush Industrial Park 

Mr Nicholas Howe 

 

 

80.  22/01633/NMA Eynsham and Cassington REF 

  

Erection of a new office building, warehouse and starter units development in a mix of B1 

(E(g)) and B8 use class, plus associated car parking, cycle parking landscaping and re-

positioning of vehicular access into the site off Stanton Harcourt Road (non-material 

amendment to allow stairwell glazing to run vertically rather than horizontally, changes to 

materials to allow one panel type in place of two on elevations visible from car park, adjusted 

site boundary and provision of sub station location). 

Unit 3 Stanton Harcourt Road Eynsham 

SDC 

 

 

Page 110



DELGAT 
 

81.  22/01651/DEM Carterton North West P2NRQ 

  

Demolition of residential dwellinghouse and outbuildings known as 65 Shilton Road, 

Carterton. 

Brooklyn Nurseries  65 Shilton Road Carterton 

Christchurch Homes 

 

 

82.  22/01661/NMA Carterton North West APP 

  

Erection of new commercial premises (Use Class A1 and A4) with 6 flats above and 

construction of further 4 flats over two floors to rear of site together with associated works 

and parking. (amended plans) (non-material amendment to allow the use of the existing site 

entrance/exit). 

Site Of Former 19 Burford Road Carterton 

Mr J Timms 

 

 

83.  22/01670/CND Standlake, Aston and Stanton 

Harcourt 

APP 

  

Discharge of conditions 3 (schedule of materials) and 16 (details of external lighting) of 

planning permission 21/00622/FUL 

Croft Farmhouse 77 Abingdon Road Standlake 

David Moffat 

 

 

84.  22/01682/HHD Standlake, Aston and Stanton 

Harcourt 

REF 

  

Erection of side extension to form porch and single storey rear extension 

9 Church Mill Close Standlake Witney 

Mr Darren Bowler 

 

 

85.  22/01769/NMA Witney North APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Erection of single storey side and rear extension (non-material amendment to allow the 

addition of a roof lantern and rain canopy together with changes to windows and doors). 

11 Woodstock Road Witney Oxfordshire 

Mr G Woodroofe 

 

 

86.  22/01827/PDET28 Eynsham and Cassington P2NRQ 

  

Prior approval for the erection of an agricultural general purpose machinery storage. 

Acre Hill Farm Freeland Road Eynsham 

Mr M SUMMERFIELD 

 

 

Page 111



DELGAT 
 

87.  22/01838/CND Bampton and Clanfield APP 

  

Discharge of condition 3 (schedule of materials) of planning permission 22/01334/HHD 

Holly Tree House Clanfield Road Weald 

Mr Simon Edwards 

 

 

 

Page 112



Lowlands Appeal List (06/07/2022 - 02/08/2022) 

 

20/01915/OUT - Land to the rear of Brock Cottage, Burford Road, Brize Norton 

Self-Build and/or Custom Housebuilding plots for 2 detached dwellings, (Outline application with all 

matters reserved except for access)(Revised Plans) 

(Delegated decision) 

REFUSAL REASON:  

By reason of the location of the application site, the proposed development is not considered to be 

of a proportionate and appropriate scale to its context having regard to the potential cumulative 

impact of development in the locality and does not form a logical complement to the existing scale 

and pattern of development and the character of the area.  Furthermore the proposed residential 

use would form an inappropriate extension of development into the rural fringe of the village, which 

would detract from the mainly rural character of the location.  The proposal is therefore contrary to 

Policies OS2, H2 and H5 of the adopted West Oxfordshire Local Plan and the relevant paragraphs of 

the NPPF. 

DECISION 

ALLOWED – The Inspector agreed that the proposed development would not be a logical extension 

of the pattern of development along Burford Road and would not respect the intrinsic character 

(conflict with Policies OS2, H2 and H5 of the LP). However, found that the adverse impact would be 

small and localised. The Inspector also noted that the proposal would conflict the LP’s strategy of 

directing development to settlements with greater facilities and services. As such there would be 

conflict with the development plan taken as a whole.  

However, the Inspector identified that the Council has fallen well short of granting suitable planning 

permissions to meet the identified self build and custom housing (SBCH) demand. Although the 

contribution to SBCH supply would be small, the extent of the shortfall, the statutory SBCH duty, and 

the identified economic and social benefits would cumulatively amount to substantial weight in the 

balance. The harm to the character and appearance of the area would be small. As a result, material 

considerations would be of sufficient weight to indicate that the appeal should be determined 

otherwise than in accordance with the development plan and planning permission should be 

granted. 

 

21/02593/FUL – Windyridge Crawley Road Witney  

Demolition of existing bungalow and construction of new detached dwelling.  

(Committee decision) 

REFUSAL REASON:  

The proposed scheme by reason of its siting, design, massing and scale would fail to preserve or 

enhance the wider landscape character and would not be reasonable in scale compared to the 

original dwelling on site. The proposal is therefore considered contrary to Policies H6, OS2, OS4 and 

EH2 of the West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 and advice in the NPPF. 

Page 113

Agenda Item 6



DECISION 

DISMISSED – The Inspector agreed the proposed 5 bedroom two-storey dwelling would be 

considerably greater in height, scale and footprint than the building as originally constructed. Finding 

that it would be excessive when compared to the original dwelling and as such would not be of a 

reasonable scale.  

The Inspector also found that the dwelling would be visible above surrounding planting, it would 

appear as a visually prominent feature in the otherwise rural surroundings, eroding and thus 

unacceptably diminishing the quality of its open character. The proposal would be harmful to the 

character and appearance of the area conflicting with the aims of LP Policies H6, OS2, OS4 and EH2. 

Concluding that the appeal scheme would conflict with the development plan and there are no 

material considerations worthy of sufficient weight that would indicate a decision other than in 

accordance with the LP.  

 

Page 114


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	4 Applications for Development
	5 Applications Determined under Delegated Powers and Appeal Decisions
	6 Appeals List

